# MENTAL FATIGUE AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DECISION-MAKING

# MENTAL FATIGUE, MOTIVATION, AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DECISION-MAKING

# By SHEEREEN HARRIS B.Sc. Specialized Honours Kinesiology & Health Science, M.Sc Kinesiology

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the

Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Sheereen Harris, August 2022

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2022)

McMaster University

(Kinesiology)

Hamilton, Ontario

- TITLE: Mental fatigue, motivation, and physical activity decision-making
- AUTHOR: Sheereen Harris B. Sc. Specialized Honours (York University), M. Sc. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Steven R. Bray, Ph.D.

NUMBER OF PAGES: xvi, 175

#### LAY ABSTRACT

Mental fatigue has been shown to impair subsequent physical performance, however, the effect of mental fatigue on the decision to engage or not engage in physical activity has received limited attention. This thesis addresses several gaps in the literature by examining potential mediators of the mental fatigue – physical activity decisionmaking relation, using qualitative methods to understand factors affecting people's choices, and applying methods with strong ecological validity. Findings show perceived effort and benefit vs. cost valuations associated with engaging in physical activity predict the choice to engage in PA. Further, mental fatigue increases perceptions of effort and decreases benefit vs. cost valuations. Collectively, results from this dissertation align with and extend theoretical frameworks of behavioral economics, motivation, and effort-based decision-making.

#### ABSTRACT

Previous research has demonstrated mental fatigue impairs subsequent physical performance, however, current understanding of the role of mental fatigue on physical activity and exercise decision-making is limited for several reasons. For example, research examining the relation between mental fatigue and physical activity behaviors has relied on experimental methods and physical tasks performed in controlled laboratory settings with limited applicability to everyday experiences. In addition, direct measures of motivation commonly used within the literature are subject to biases, highlighting the importance of alternate methods for assessing motivation using indirect measures. To address these limitations, methods with stronger ecological validity are needed to extend research from controlled, experimental settings to measure mental fatigue in naturalistic settings and provide a diverse range of physical activity and exercise task options. The purpose of this dissertation is to investigate the associations between mental fatigue, motivation, and physical activity behavior to further our understanding of the decision-processes behind choosing to engage or not engage in physical activity.

Study 1 examined the effects of mental fatigue on the decision to engage in an acute bout of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity or a competing sedentary alternative using a mixed-methods study design. Results showed a sequential mediation effect of mental fatigue on choice through subjective perceptions of effort, benefits, and costs. Results of qualitative analyses highlight individual-level consequences of completing cognitively demanding and non-demanding tasks on physical activity decision-making. Findings are consistent with previous research and demonstrate subjective perceptions of engaging in physical activity account for acute choice.

Study 2 investigated the effects of intensity and duration on people's subjective valuations of physical activity tasks using an effort discounting paradigm and the potential moderating effect of mental fatigue on subjective valuations of physical activity. Results showed a reduced willingness to engage in physical activities of higher intensities and longer durations. Further, there was partial evidence suggesting a reduced willingness to engage in vigorous-intensity physical activity with higher levels of mental fatigue. Findings provide novel insight towards factors influencing people's motivation for engaging in physical activity with some evidence that mental fatigue affects people's motivation to exert physical effort.

Study 3 examined the association between mental fatigue, subjective evaluations of perceived benefits and costs, and moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity using ecological momentary assessment and accelerometry. Results demonstrate significant associations between all study variables. Although a multilevel mediation model was not significant, evidence supports a partial mediation effect attributable to benefit vs. cost valuation on the relation between mental fatigue and physical activity. Results provide insight into real-time predictors of motivation and physical activity, highlighting the complex relationships between psychological variables and behavior in people's everyday decision making.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To my fantastic supervisor, Dr. Steven Bray. Thank you for your mentorship, guidance, and support over the past six years. I will forever be grateful that you took a chance on me many years ago and provided an ideal environment to challenge me as a scientist and help me develop as a critical thinker and scholar. I have always admired your way of thinking, problem solving, and thoughtful approach to research but more importantly, your kindness and patience throughout the many ups and downs of research. Working under your supervision was truly the best possible decision I could have made, and I hope to one day provide my trainees with the same kind of mentorship I have had the privilege of experiencing. I look forward to the next phase in my career where I can continue to learn from you and work with you as a colleague.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Drs. Jennifer Heisz and Matthew Kwan. Thank you for your ongoing guidance and feedback over the past four years. I have always valued your thoughtful comments and commitment to my overall development as a researcher. I appreciate having such knowledgeable minds to support and advise on my work.

To my friends and lab mates from the McMaster community, thank you for creating an environment that allowed me to balance my professional and personal growth. It has been such an honour to be surrounded by so many brilliant minds who can blur the lines between work and play. I can't imagine doing science alongside a better group of people and will dearly miss seeing such lovely faces in and around IWC every day.

A massive thank you to my many mentors for providing valuable advice, keeping me grounded, and always reminding me that I have a place in academia. Being vulnerable is never easy but I am grateful for the people who provide me with the space to be brave and unapologetically myself. It means the world to me to know that I have so many people who are tirelessly rooting for my success.

To my family – Mom, Dad, Shari, and Alex. Thank you for being the most supportive and encouraging cheering section I could ever dream to have. Throughout my entire academic career, I have been eternally grateful for your never-ending love and support. I've dragged you all to yet another finish line, and I would not have made it this far without you. I love you all.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	PAGE
TITLE PAGE	
DESCRIPTIVE NOTE	ii
LAY ABSTRACT	Iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
PREFACE: DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT	xiv
CONTRIBUTION TO PAPERS WITH MULTIPLE AUTHORSHIP	XV
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Physical Activity Guidelines and Benefits for Adults	2
1.2. How Do We Make Decisions?	3
1.2.1 The Law of Least Effort	3
1.2.2 Traditional and Behavioral Economics	5
1.2.3 Behavioral Economics and Physical Activity	6
1.2.4 Cost-Benefit Analyses	10
1.3 What is Mental Fatigue?	12
1.3.1 Mental Fatigue and Physical Performance	12
1.3.2 Fatigue and Physical Activity Decision-Making	13
1.3.3 Mental Fatigue and Perceptions of Effort	16
1.4. Gaps and Limitations of Research on Mental Fatigue and	17
Physical Activity	
1.4.1. Effects of Mental Fatigue on Physical Activity	17
Decision-Making	
1.4.2 Ecological Validity of the Mental Fatigue – Physical	19
Activity Literature	
1.5 Objectives and Hypotheses	20
1.5.1 General Purpose of Dissertation	20
1.5.2 Specific Objectives and Hypotheses	20
1.6 Summary	21
References	23

CHAPTER 2: Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective 33 valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixedmethods study

CHAPTER 3: Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting	46
CHAPTER 4: Investigating real-time physical activity decision- making using ecological momentary assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and benefit-cost valuations	89
CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION	
5.1 Conceptual implications	127
5.2 Practical implications	131
5.3 Limitations and future directions	136
5.4 Conclusion	139
APPENDIX A: STUDY 1 MATERIALS	
A.1 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire	152
A.2 Ratings of Perceived Exertion	153
A.3 Ratings of Perceived Mental Exertion	154
A.4 Subjective Mental Fatigue Visual Analogue Scale	155
A.5 Perceived Effort Visual Analogue Scale	156
A.6 Subjective Evaluation of Exercise	15/
A. 8 Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale	150
A.8 Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale	139
APPENDIX B: STUDY 2 MATERIALS	
B.1 Ratings of Perceived Exertion	162
B.2 Subjective Mental Fatigue	163
B.5 International Physical Activity Questionnaire B.4 Daily Physical Activity Questionnaire	104
B 5 Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale	165
D.5 I hysical Activity Enjoyment Scale	100
APPENDIX C: STUDY 3 MATERIALS	
C.1 International Physical Activity Questionnaire	169
C.2 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire	170
C.3 Subjective Mental Fatigue	171
C.4 Subjective Evaluation of Exercise	1/2

# **APPENDIX D: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS**

D.1. Permission from Elsevier Ltd (Chapter 2)	174
D.2 Permission from Human Kinetics (Chapter 3)	175

# **TABLES**

# **CHAPTER 2.** Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study

Table 1.	Descriptive statistics for potential covariates, post-task mental	39
	fatigue, effort, costs, and benefits by high cognitive demand	
	and low cognitive demand group.	

Table 2.Reasons for choice between exercise and non-exercise task.40

# **CHAPTER 3.** Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting

Table 1.	Descriptive Statistics Demographic Variables and Potential Covariates by Study	84
Table 2.	Study 1 Model coefficients	85
Table 3.	Study 2 Model coefficients	86
Table S1.	Descriptive Statistics for RPE scores for five sample activities.	88

# CHAPTER 4. Investigating real-time physical activity decision-making using ecological momentary assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and benefit-cost valuations

Table A1.	Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of mental fatigue on MVPA	122
Table A2.	Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of mental fatigue on MVPA	122
Table A3.	Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of mental fatigue on benefit vs. cost score	122
Table A4.	Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of mental fatigue on benefit vs. cost score	123

Table A5.	Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of benefit vs. cost score on MVPA	123
Table A6.	Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of benefit vs. cost score on MVPA	123
Table A7.	Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of mental fatigue and benefit vs. cost score on MVPA	124
Table A8.	Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of mental fatigue and benefit vs. cost score on MVPA	124

#### LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

#### FIGURES

# CHAPTER 2. Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study

Figure 1	Timeline of study procedures.	37
Figure 2	Mental fatigue – choice serial mediation model with perceived effort and benefit vs. cost score. c = the direct effect of X on Y. c'	37
Figure S1.	Mental fatigue over time by group.	44
Figure S2.	RPE-M (rating of perceived exertion – mental) over time by group.	44

# **CHAPTER 3.** Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting

Figure 1.	Predictive margin with 95% CIs for PA <i>Duration</i> in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).	81
Figure 2.	Predictive margin with 95% CIs for PA <i>Intensity</i> in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).	81
Figure 3.	Predictive margin with 95% CIs for the PA <i>Intensity</i> X PA <i>Duration</i> interaction in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).	82
Figure 4.	Predictive margin with 95% CIs for the PA <i>Intensity</i> X <i>Mental Fatigue</i> interaction in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).	83

### CHAPTER 4. Real-time physical activity decision-making using Ecological Momentary Assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and cost-benefit valuations throughout the day

Figure 1.	Flow diagram of included participants.	119
-----------	--	-----

Figure 2.	Timeline of study procedures.	120
Figure 3.	Mediation analysis.	121

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AIC	Akaike information criterion
	analysis of variance
	Canadian dollars
CI	confidence interval
cm	centimetre
$CR_{-10}$	category ratio-10
d	Cohen's d
	daily physical activity
EDDC	Exercise Dependits/Derriers Scale
	ecological momentary assessment
EMA	effort discounting questionnaire
EDQ	Eastern standard time
LOI FITT	fraguency intensity time type
F111 h	hour
	high cognitive domand
ICC	introclass correlation coefficient
	Intractass contraction coefficient
IFAQ	"iver in time" adoptive intervention
	Just-in-time adaptive intervention
	light intensity physical activity
LPA	ngnt-intensity physical activity
IVI	
MVPA M CVT	moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity
M-GAI	modified graded exercise test
ηp <sup>2</sup>	partial eta squared
PA	physical activity
PACES	Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale
POI	point of indifference
S	seconds
SD	standard deviation
SE	standard error
SPSS	statistical package for the social sciences
TEMPA	theory of effort minimization in physical activity
RPE	rating of perceived exertion
RPE-M	rating of perceived mental exertion
RPM	revolutions per minute
RRV	relative reinforcing value
VAS	visual analogue scale
VO <sub>2max</sub>	maximum rate of oxygen consumption
W	watts

### PREFACE DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

This thesis is prepared in the "sandwich" format as outlined in the School of Graduate Studies' Guide for the Preparation of Master's and Doctoral Theses. It includes a general introduction, three independent studies prepared in journal article format, and a general discussion. The candidate is the first author on all of the manuscripts. At the time of the thesis preparation, Chapter 4 was under peer-review.

# CONTRIBUTION TO PAPERS WITH MULTIPLE AUTHORSHIP

# Chapter 2 (Study 1)

**Harris, S.**, & Bray, S. R. (2021). Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54*, 1–9. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.101924</u>

# **<u>S. Harris's role in Study 1:</u>**

- Conceived the research question and study design
- Author of ethics application at McMaster University
- Contributed to study design and measure selection
- Lead investigator responsible for data collection, analysis and interpretation
- Primary author of manuscript

# **Role of co-author in Study 1:**

- SB provided feedback about the study design and obtained funding
- SB assisted SH with obtaining ethics approval at McMaster University
- SB assisted SH with the analysis and interpretation of the data
- SB provided critical feedback on previous drafts of the manuscript
- SB revised the article and approved the final version of the manuscript before submission to the journal *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*

# Chapter 3 (Study 2)

**Harris, S.**, & Bray, S. R. (In Press). Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*.

# S. Harris's role in Study 2:

- Conceived the research question and study design
- Author of ethics application at McMaster University
- Contributed to study design and measure selection
- Lead investigator responsible for data collection, analysis and interpretation
- Primary author of manuscript

# **Role of co-authors in Study 2:**

- SB provided feedback about the study design and obtained funding
- SB assisted SH with obtaining ethics approval at McMaster University
- SB and PS assisted SH with the analysis and interpretation of the data

- SB and PS provided critical feedback on previous drafts of the manuscript
- SB and PS revised the article and approved the final version of the manuscript before submission to the journal *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*

# Chapter 4 (Study 3)

**Harris, S.**, & Bray, S. R. (Under Review). Investigating real-time physical activity decision-making using ecological momentary assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and benefit-cost valuations. Manuscript submitted to the journal *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*.

# **S. Harris's role in Study 1:**

- Conceived the research question and study design
- Author of ethics application at McMaster University
- Contributed to study design and measure selection
- Lead investigator responsible for data collection, analysis and interpretation
- Primary author of manuscript

# Role of co-author in Study 1:

- SB provided feedback about the study design and obtained funding
- SB assisted SH with obtaining ethics approval at McMaster University
- SB assisted SH with the analysis and interpretation of the data
- SB provided critical feedback on previous drafts of the manuscript
- SB revised the article and approved the final version of the manuscript before submission to the journal *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*

# **CHAPTER 1:**

# INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Physical Activity Guidelines and Benefits for Adults

Current physical activity guidelines recommend Canadian adults engage in at least 150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity (MVPA) and two muscle-strengthening activities each week, in addition to several hours of light intensity physical activity including standing (Ross et al., 2020). Engaging in physical activity (PA) regularly is associated with numerous health benefits including reduced risk of chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, depression, diabetes, and reduced all-cause mortality (Elagizi et al., 2020; Haskell et al., 2007; Ramakrishnan et al., 2021; Warburton, et al., 2006; Warburton et al., 2010) as well as improved cognitive functioning (Gregory et al., 2012; Kashihara et al., 2009; Sanders et al., 2019).

Despite evidence demonstrating people are generally knowledgeable of the benefits of engaging in regular PA (Fredriksson et al., 2018; Lovell, et al., 2010) and consider physical inactivity to be an important health risk factor (Martin et al., 2000), estimates suggest only 44.8% of Canadian adults are achieving the recommended amounts of PA (Clarke et al., 2019). In addition, Clarke et al. (2019) found that 3% of adults accumulated no MVPA at all. With a recognition that benefits and risks associated with PA are well-established in the scientific literature and among the lay public, and that population PA remains a major public health concern, recent efforts have aimed to identify more effective strategies for the dissemination and implementation of current movement guidelines (Tomasone et al., 2020a) and develop better knowledge translation guidelines for practitioners (Tomasone et al., 2020b) with the goal of increasing uptake of these guidelines in adults. Thus, there is an ongoing need to identify and understand factors contributing to people's decision-making regarding whether or not they will engage in behaviors consistent with current movement guidelines.

#### 1.2. How Do We Make Decisions?

#### **1.2.1** The Law of Least Work

The Law of Least Work can help facilitate understanding how organisms make decisions between tasks requiring different amounts of effort or energy. According to the Law of Least Work, "*If two or more behavioral sequences, each involving a different amount of energy consumption or work, have been equally well reinforced an equal number of times, the organism will gradually learn to choose the less laborious behavior sequence leading to the attainment of the reinforcing state of affairs.*" (Hull, 1943, pp. 294). In other words, when people are faced with a choice between two or more options which differ in effort or energy requirements, over time, they will learn to choose the easier or less effortful option as long as both options are equally reinforced.

While the Law of Least Work provides insight to help explain human decisionmaking, the law only applies to scenarios when all options are associated with reinforcement or rewards of equivalent values. However, in many decision-making scenarios, choosing to exert more effort is associated with a greater reward than a less effortful option. For example, an employee who invests more effort at their job is more likely to be rewarded by earning a promotion than if they invest less effort. Similarly, a student who spends more effort studying for a test is more likely to earn a higher grade than peers who invest less effort towards their academics. In the context of PA, the decision to expend physical effort on a regular basis is associated with shorter-term

benefits such as improved mood (Chan et al., 2019) and sleep (Kline et al., 2021) as well as longer-term or delayed reinforcements such as improved health benefits and reduced health risks. In comparison, the choice to engage in non-physically effortful activities does not come with the same health-protective effects.

In an illustrative study examining physically effortful decision-making, Iodice and colleagues (2017a) placed mice in a T-maze and trained them to make choices between a lower effort-lower reward arm where mice could receive a small reward without climbing over a barrier and a higher effort-higher reward arm requiring the mice to climb over a 10 cm barrier to obtain double the reward of the lower effort-lower reward arm. In the control condition of the experiment, the mice had a greater preference for the higher effort-higher reward arm. However, in the fatigue condition, after the mice were physically fatigued by running on a treadmill at 80% of their peak velocity, the preference of the mice shifted in favour of the lower effort-lower reward option. These findings document how effort-based decision-making depends not only on effort requirements of a task, but on the associated reward for each option. Furthermore, situational experiences, in this case physical fatigue, can modify learned or established preferences for physically-effortful decision-making.

Drawing from the findings of Iodice et al. (2017a), we can infer that when people (or mice) are faced with decisions between a higher-effort option of expending more energy such as engaging in a PA task versus a lower-effort option such as engaging in a sedentary task, it is important to recognize that the behavioral options may be reinforced differently. For example, engaging in PA is associated with physical, psychological, and

health benefits (Gregory, et al., 2012; Ramakrishnan et al., 2021; Warburton et al., 2010) verses sedentary activities which are not associated with the same health benefits. Therefore, additional considerations are needed to understand people's subjective perceptions of effort and reinforcement, as well as the decision-making process between choice alternatives that are not equally-well reinforced.

#### **1.2.2 Traditional and Behavioral Economics**

One perspective that has been applied extensively to understanding decisionmaking is economics, which is defined as "*the science which studies human behavior as a relationship between ends and scarce means which have alternative uses*" (Robbins, 1945, pp. 16). According to this definition, economics describes the processes involved with deciding how we allocate limited resources which have other potential uses. For example, after a long day of school or work, people will have to choose how to allocate the limited resource of time between spending time with family/friends, cooking or preparing a meal, engaging in household chores, or engaging in a bout of PA.

According to traditional economic theory, there are three core traits of human behavior: unbounded rationality, unbounded willpower, and unbounded selfishness (Mullainathan & Thaler, 2001) suggesting that humans are infinitely rational and unemotional decision-makers who can always make decisions in ways that are consistent with their long-term well-being and self-interest. However, the notion that humans are infinitely rational has received criticism (Simon, 1955), leading to revisions to these assumptions of traditional economics to better account for human behavior, rather than how humans should behave in an optimal setting.

Behavioral economics has emerged from traditional economics in combination with psychology as a theoretical framework recognizing the limitations and complications associated with human computational power, willpower and self-interest. Instead of relying on the traits central to traditional economics, behavioral economics is based on assumptions of bounded rationality, bounded willpower, and bounded selfishness to define more realistic expectations of human decision-making capabilities in people's everyday lived experiences (Mullainathan & Thaler, 2001). Bounded rationality recognizes that humans are limited by factors such as cognitive abilities and time restraints that restrict our ability to successfully process information and make the most informed decisions. Bounded willpower acknowledges that people's ability to make decisions consistent with their long-term self-interest is sometimes limited; such as people spending a lot of money on a luxury purchase rather than adding money to a savings account. Bounded selfishness recognizes that although humans will prioritize their own self-interest, in many scenarios, there is a genuine care or concern for the wellbeing of others; such as when people are willing to help out a stranger or donate to charity. Collectively, these assumptions provide insight to human decision-making and the departures that are made from "rational" decision-making as predicted by traditional economics.

#### **1.2.3 Behavioral Economics and Physical Activity**

Behavioral economics provides a novel perspective to understand how people make decisions between engaging or not engaging in PA. Epstein (1998) offers four principles rooted in behavioral economics that specifically apply to decision-making

between engaging in physical activity or competing sedentary alternatives. According to the first principle, choice depends on the behavioral cost such that people will be less likely to engage in behaviors with greater costs. PA decision-making is particularly responsive to cost insofar as the energetic costs associated with engaging in PA compared to sedentary or leisure alternatives is typically much greater. Second, choices regarding PA are dependent on the other choice options that are available, and choice can be shifted to a different behavior based on the other behavioral options. For example, when faced with the choice between going on a walk versus watching new episodes of one's favourite program on TV, a person may consistently choose to watch TV. However, if the choice is between a less reinforcing option such watching re-runs of old programs and going on a walk, the same person may choose to go on a walk in the second choice scenario. Third, some element of choice is necessary to motivate people such that people need to have the autonomy to engage in behaviors regardless of the reinforcing value of the behavior (cf. Ryan & Deci, 2006). Finally, choice is dependent on the delay between choosing a behavior and receiving the expected outcomes of the behavior. Notably, many of the recognized benefits accrued from engaging in PA are typically experienced months or years in the future compared to the more immediate benefits associated with engaging in sedentary activities.

Building from these principles, researchers in the field of physical activity and exercise have developed methods to measure the reinforcing value of engaging in PA and sedentary behaviors. The reinforcing value of a given behavior is determined by the amount of work an individual is willing to complete to gain access to a behavior, and

people will be more willing to work to gain access to behaviors that are highly reinforcing. The reinforcing value of a behavior is measured alongside a competing alternative with similar work requirements needed to gain access to each behavior, as a method to determine the relative reinforcing value (RRV) of a behavior, as a measure of reinforcement in contrast with other available alternatives.

One method for measuring the RRV of PA and sedentary behaviors involves using an operant button pressing task which resembles a slot machine, where participants earn points towards their preferred PA or sedentary task by clicking a computer mouse until three matching symbols of identical shapes and colors appear on a computer screen (Barkley et al., 2009; Epstein et al., 1999; Flack et al., 2017a). Points are accumulated to receive access to time towards engaging in either the preferred PA or sedentary task and participants continue to earn points to account for a specified amount of activity time between both tasks or until the participant no longer wishes to work for access to either task. RRV is measured using different schedules of reinforcement such that points are delivered after fewer presses initially and the number of button presses needed to earn a point increases as more points are earned, representing more work being needed.

In addition, the RRV of PA tasks has been investigated using a questionnaire where participants respond to a series of binary choices corresponding with choices from the operant button pressing task. In this questionnaire, participants are asked the number of times they are willing to press a button to gain access to their most preferred PA task or their most preferred sedentary task. The number of button presses required is initially the same for both the exercise and sedentary activities (e.g., 20 presses) and the number

of button presses required for the sedentary activity increases with each subsequent question (Epstein et al., 2004; Roemmich et al., 2008).

Studies examining the RRV of exercise compared to sedentary alternatives has shown adults who were meeting current PA recommendations for vigorous-intensity aerobic PA had significantly greater RRV of aerobic training and a lower RRV of sedentary activities than those who were not meeting current recommendations (Flack et al., 2017a). Similarly, participants meeting recommendations for muscle strengthening exercises had significantly greater RRV of resistance training and significantly lower RRV of sedentary activities than those not meeting muscle strengthening guidelines (Flack, et al., 2017a). Interestingly, Flack and colleagues (2017b) found the RRV of aerobic and resistance exercises predicted how much time people would engage in each mode of exercise, independent of how much the mode of activity was liked. Collectively, findings provide evidence supporting the importance of reinforcing value on choice by demonstrating strong associations between the RRV of different modes of PA and the actual PA behaviors people choose to engage in.

Consistent with past work demonstrating the relation between reinforcement value and PA, financial incentives have been used within the field of PA and exercise as one strategy to increase the perceived value associated with engaging in PA. Provision of a financial incentive contingent on successfully engaging in PA behavior increases the immediate benefits associated with the task. Further, use of financial incentives leverages the behavioral economic principle referred to as '*present-biased preferences*' referring to the stronger relative weight people assign to immediate rather than future evaluations of

the same reward (O'Donoghue & Rabin, 1999). To date, two systematic reviews have examined the effects of incentives on PA in adults. Results shows incentives increased exercise session attendance by 11.55% (95% CI = 5.61% to 17.50%) (Mitchell et al., 2013) and increased mean daily step counts during incentive interventions (pooled mean difference = 607.1, 95% CI = 422.1 to 792.1). Interestingly, the median incentive size observed by Mitchell and colleagues (2020) was \$1.40 US/day showing even modest incentives are associated with increased PA behaviors.

Existing research applying behavioral economic insights to understand PA behaviors has focused primarily on the immediate and short-term rewards and value of outcomes (i.e., reinforcement) of engaging in PA using methodologies such as the RRV and the effects of benefits, represented by financial incentives, on behavioral outcomes. However, less research has examined the costs or barriers that factor into PA decisionmaking.

#### **1.2.4 Cost-Benefit Analyses**

Recent conceptualizations of motivation have argued that key factors influencing decision-making about behavioral engagement include the contrast or trade-off between the perceived costs and benefits of the behavior(s) in question (Chong, et al, 2016; Pessiglione, et al, 2018). Benefits can include the value of the behavior or any expected or potential rewards, while costs may refer to the time or effort demands associated with the task in addition to any other factors which may dissuade someone from engaging in the behavior. For example, exerting effort is known to be aversive (Inzlicht, et al, 2018; Kurzban, 2016) and behaviors requiring more effort will be perceived as more costly if

evaluated in terms of effort alone. In addition, opportunity costs are another form of cost representing the foregone benefits associated with the non-selected choice alternative (Kurzban et al., 2013) and may also factor into a person's decisional balances.

Consistent with the theorizing presented above, Pessiglione and colleagues (2018) propose that the subjective value of producing effort can be calculated by subtracting the cost of producing effort from the reward associated with effort. Using this computational framework, people are predicted to engage in behaviors when the perceived benefits are greater than the perceived costs of the behavior. In this way, measuring the perceived costs and benefits associated with a particular behavior provides insight into people's motivation for engaging in effortful tasks as well as the influence of barriers that may bias people away from engaging in effortful behaviors such as PA.

According to a framework proposed by Müller and Apps (2019), fatigue is a barrier influencing people's motivation for engaging in effortful behaviors by increasing subjective perceptions of effort. The increased effort perceptions caused by fatigue, in turn result in amplified cost valuations relative to benefits and decreased motivation to engage in effortful behaviors. Furthermore, lower motivation for exerting effort on subsequent tasks results in decreased task performance.

Consistent with these theoretical frameworks, previous experimental research has shown a decreased preference for engaging in higher-effort tasks when people are experiencing greater physical fatigue, suggesting fatigue may increase cost perceptions of engaging in higher-effort tasks and bias subsequent choice in favour of lower-effort behaviors (Iodice et al., 2017b). However, given current rates of inactivity in the adult

population (Clarke et al., 2019), it is not likely that fatigue caused by prior physical exertion is responsible for these motivational shifts. Thus, there is a need to further investigate the effects of other sources of fatigue which may negatively impact motivation and effort-based decision-making.

#### **1.3 What is Mental Fatigue?**

Fatigue has been defined as "*a symptom in which physical and cognitive function is limited by interactions between performance fatigability and perceived fatigability*" (Enoka & Duchateau, 2016, pp. 2236) and has been cited as a barrier to engaging in physical activity (Farah et al., 2021; Salmon, et al 2003). While this definition suggests the presence of both physical and psychological components of fatigue, physically or mentally effortful tasks cause phenomenologically similar feelings of fatigue and lead to similar decreases in people's motivation or willingness to exert effort (Müller & Apps, 2019). *Mental fatigue* refers to a psychobiological state experienced during or following prolonged and challenging cognitive activity (Boksem & Tops, 2008). Hockey (2013) argued that fatigue has an adaptive function by helping manage a person's motivation and redirect behavior towards tasks with greater perceived benefits than costs. According to this view, under conditions of fatigue people are more likely to engage in behaviors perceived to be more rewarding and less costly.

### **1.3.1 Mental Fatigue and Physical Performance**

The negative effects of mental fatigue on subsequent physical performance have been well documented in studies examining isometric, endurance, and anaerobic exercise tasks (Brown et al., 2020; McMorris, et al, 2018; Van Cutsem et al., 2017). In a recent

meta-analysis on the effects of prior cognitive exertion on physical performance, a significant small-to-medium sized negative effects was found (Brown et al., 2020) suggesting engaging in physical tasks under conditions of mental fatigue caused by prior cognitive exertion results in performance decrements. While this provides valuable insight on the role of mental fatigue on task performance, it is important to note that in all studies included in these reviews, participants were expected to perform physically demanding tasks assigned by the researchers under manipulated conditions of higher or lower mental fatigue. Although applicable to many scenarios characteristic of different sport or exercise tasks, in many choice scenarios, people can choose whether or not to engage in a task. However, in these studies, since participants did not have the option to withdraw from or defer performing the physical task before engaging in it, the effects of mental fatigue on decisions to engage in PA or not remain largely unexplored from the existing field of study.

#### 1.3.2 Fatigue and Physical Activity Decision-Making

Literature examining the effects of fatigue on decisions to engage in exercise tasks has thus far relied on experimental methods to manipulate feelings of fatigue in controlled settings before providing participants options of engaging in physically effortful and non-effortful tasks. Specifically, participants are exposed to different experimental tasks requiring higher and/or lower physical or cognitive demands before indicating their preference for engaging in exercise or non-exercise tasks. Thus far, findings have been mixed with some studies showing a greater preference for non-

exercise tasks with greater mental fatigue and other studies showing no effect of fatigue on physically-effortful decision-making.

In a study by Iodice et al. (2017b), participants made a series of choices between engaging in stationary cycling at a vigorous-intensity or resting comfortably for durations ranging from 10 to 40 minutes. Participants made the same series of choices under two conditions: once after 40 minutes of rest and once after having engaged in 40 minutes of vigorous-intensity cycling. Results showed under conditions of fatigue (i.e., after cycling for 40 minutes), participants had a greater preference for the non-exercise option compared to exercising. These findings were interpreted as a demonstration that physical fatigue biases decision-making towards less effortful behavioral tasks.

Van As et al. (2021) examined the role of physical and mental exertion on effortbased decision-making where participants made a series of choices between engaging in a hand-grip exercise task of varying levels of rewards and physical effort or rejecting the offer and exerting no effort for no reward. Results showed people's willingness to choose the effortful task declined as more effort was required to obtain the reward. Interestingly, there was a reduced likelihood of accepting physically effortful offers following prior physical exertion compared to a control condition. However, prior cognitive exertion did not affect the likelihood of choosing to engage in the physically effortful task or not. A similar study by van As et al. (2022) found participants were more likely to choose to engage in physical over non-physical tasks following a cognitively demanding task in contrast to study hypotheses. However, it is noteworthy that the cognitive manipulation

used in experimental condition was unsuccessful at increasing levels of fatigue compared to the control condition, limiting study findings.

An important limitation of the aforementioned studies is that the physically effortful options provided to participants in these studies may not reflect tasks people would choose to engage in consistent with current PA guidelines. For example, while a hand-grip exercise task (van As et al., 2021) and other tasks including weightlifting, juggling, and push ups (van As et al., 2022) require varying levels of physical effort, they may not accurately reflect day-to-day decision-making for more structured types of PA people may choose to engage in during their leisure time.

In a study conducted by Abdel et al. (2021), participants were instructed to ride on a cycle ergometer for as long as they wanted after completing a workplace simulation task requiring either higher demands or lower demands. Following the higher-demand manipulation, participants reported higher perceived emotional and cognitive demands and spent less time cycling compared to the lower-demand simulation.

Harris and Bray (2019) had participants make a choice between engaging in a 22minute cycling task or a 22-minute sedentary task after completing a mentally fatiguing or non-fatiguing cognitive task. Results showed a significant indirect effect of the cognitive task on choice such that the mentally fatiguing task led to increased mental fatigue, which in turn led to reduced motivation as measured in a cost-benefit analysis and decreased the likelihood of choosing the exercise task. While study findings suggest mental fatigue increases people's preference for engaging in sedentary tasks, specific

costs which may be amplified with mental fatigue and influence subsequent decisionmaking were not explored in this study.

Collectively, findings provide evidence suggesting a reduced likelihood of choosing to engage in exercise tasks when experiencing higher mental fatigue. Importantly, there is notable variety in the experimental methods used across studies including the tasks used to manipulate feelings of fatigue (e.g., stationary cycling, Stroop task) as well as different exercise and non-exercise task options for participants to choose between (e.g., stationary cycling, handgrip exercise task). In addition, studies have relied on simple: manipulation – outcome designs and not examined possible theory-based mechanisms explaining the effects of fatigue on exercise choices.

#### **1.3.3 Mental Fatigue and Perceptions of Effort**

One possible mechanism to explain the role of mental fatigue on effort-based decision-making may be increases in perceptions of effort. Effort has been defined as the "subjective intensification of either mental and/or physical activity in the service of meeting some goal" (Inzlicht et al., 2018, p. 338) and suggested to act as a mediator between how well people are capable of performing on a task and their actual task performance (Shenhav et al., 2017). In light of theorizing that fatigue leads to stronger effort-avoidance (Massar et al., 2018) and evidence showing greater mental fatigue decreases the likelihood of choosing to engage in MVPA (Harris & Bray, 2019), it is possible that amplified effort perceptions may act as an additional mediator in the sequential pathway consisting of mental fatigue and physically effortful decision-making

such that greater mental fatigue leads to increased perceptions of effort and subsequent decisions to engage in a less effortful task.

The psychobiological model of endurance performance is an effort-based decision-making model proposed to describe how people self-regulate submaximal exercise behaviors (Marcora, 2010; Pageaux, 2014). According to this model, perceptions of effort (i.e., the sensation of how challenging or strenuous a physical task is) and potential motivation (i.e., how much effort someone is willing to exert) are important factors which influence the conscious regulation of pace and predict endurance exercise performance. The model suggests increased perceived effort will cause a person to consciously down-regulate their pace leading to performance decrements which helps explain how psychological factors including mental fatigue may lead to subsequent impairments to endurance performance. Consistent with evidence that mental fatigue leads to increased perceptions of effort while performing submaximal endurance exercises (Harris & Bray, 2019; Marcora, et al, 2009; Pageaux, et al, 2014; Smith et al., 2016), it is reasonable to infer that increased mental fatigue may amplify perceived effort requirements of subsequent physical tasks which in turn will decrease motivation and reduce the likelihood someone will choose to engage in an exercise task when given the choice. However, this hypothesis has not been examined using a decision-making paradigm.

# 1.4. Gaps and Limitations of Research on Mental Fatigue and Physical Activity1.4.1 Effects of Mental Fatigue on Physical Activity Decision-Making

To date, research examining the relationship between mental fatigue and physical activity and exercise behaviors have focused primarily on performance by way of various task outcomes including isometric and whole-body aerobic endurance time-to-failure, time trial performance, dynamic resistance, motor, and accuracy tasks (see: Brown et al., 2020; McMorris et al., 2018; Van Cutsem et al., 2017 for reviews). However, research examining the role of mental fatigue on PA motivation and decision-making is limited.

The application of insights from behavioral economics stands to offer a novel and valuable perspective with potential to further our understanding of the effects of mental fatigue on the decision to engage or not engage in PA tasks. Notably, recent theorizing of effort-based decision-making highlights the utility of integrating insights and theories from the field of effort-based decision-making (e.g., Chong et al., 2016) with fatigue research (Massar et al., 2018). For example, assessing the perceived costs and benefits of engaging in PA as an indirect measure of motivation may be more advantageous than asking participants to report their current motivation which may be more subject to social desirability response biases where participants respond consciously or non-consciously in the way they believe the researcher wants them to (van de Mortel, 2008).

Previous work has found no differences following mentally fatiguing and control tasks on subsequent intrinsic motivation (Marcora et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2015) or task motivation (Brown & Bray, 2019) which may be due to participants' beliefs that researchers expect high self-reported motivation on these direct, transparent measures. In contrast to these methods, asking participants to report the perceived costs and benefits of engaging in MVPA may lessen the demand characteristics associated with the term

"motivations" and provide insight towards how motivation and decision-making differ based on subjective perceptions of mental fatigue.

#### 1.4.2 Ecological Validity of the Mental Fatigue – Physical Activity Literature

An additional gap within the mental fatigue – physical activity literature is the limited ecological validity of the physically effortful tasks that are used. For example, existing research is limited to studies conducted in controlled, laboratory-based settings which use tasks such as the incongruent Stroop (1935) color word task (Graham et al., 2017; Harris & Bray, 2019), AX-Continuous Performance Task (Brown & Bray, 2019; Marcora et al., 2009), and N-Back task (van As et al., 2021) to experimentally induce feelings of mental fatigue. While these methods are feasible and practical for administering in controlled laboratory settings, studies are limited as the effects observed when mental fatigue is artificially contrived may not translate to mental fatigue developed and experienced in people's authentic, lived experiences. In addition, groupbased analyses are commonly used to assess the effects of mental fatigue following exposure to cognitive tasks with different cognitive demands. These cognitive tasks create an artificial dichotomy and group-based analyses examine overall group effects and differences between groups rather than effects due to individual levels of mental fatigue. To advance this body of literature, future research should measure mental fatigue in naturally-occurring settings and use analysis strategies that investigate individual-level feelings of mental fatigue.

Similarly, the physical activity and exercise task options provided in the fatigue/decision-making literature are limited to those that can be conveniently
administered and measured in laboratory settings. For example, stationary cycling (Abdel et al., 2021; Harris & Bray, 2019; Iodice et al., 2017b), isometric hand-grip exercise (van As et al., 2021) and other tasks including weightlifting, juggling, and push ups (van As et al., 2022) have been used which may not be consistent with PA tasks people will choose to engage in during their leisure time. Further, existing studies do not account for other contexts where people may choose to engage in physical activity such as with friends or groups, organized sports, or in fitness facilities. Thus, methods with improved ecological validity are needed with greater applicability to real-world PA decision-making.

# **1.5 Objectives and Hypotheses**

# **1.5.1 General Purpose of Dissertation**

The overarching objective of this dissertation was to investigate the associations between mental fatigue, motivation, and physical activity decision-making.

# **1.5.2 Specific Objectives and Hypotheses**

The specific objectives and hypotheses of the studies in this dissertation are as follows: Study 1) Examine the effects of mental fatigue on decisions to engage in an acute bout of MVPA and whether this relationship is mediated by anticipated effort and benefit vs. cost valuations using a mixed-methods study design. It was predicted that higher levels of mental fatigue would decrease the likelihood that participants would choose to engage in an exercise task through a sequentially mediated pathway consisting of increased perceptions of anticipated effort of the exercise task and decreased benefit vs. cost valuations. Study 2) Investigate the effects of intensity and duration on motivation to engage in physical activity and examine the effect of mental fatigue on motivation using an effort discounting paradigm. It was hypothesized that people would be less motivated to engage in physical activities of higher intensities and longer durations and higher levels of mental fatigue would result in lower motivation for engaging in physical activities.

Study 3) Examine the associations and sequential relationships between real-time mental fatigue, benefit vs. cost valuations and MVPA using ecological momentary assessment and accelerometry methodologies. Higher levels of mental fatigue were expected to be associated with engaging in fewer minutes of MVPA and lower benefit vs. cost valuations, higher benefit vs. cost valuations would be associated with engaging in more MVPA, and benefit vs. cost valuations would mediate the relation between mental fatigue and MVPA.

### **1.6 Summary**

Three studies were conducted to test the associations between mental fatigue and physical activity decision-making by examining the potential mediating effects of anticipated effort (Study 1) and benefit vs. cost valuations (Studies 1, 3), and the influence of parameters including intensity, duration, and their interaction with mental fatigue (Study 2). Novel methodologies to improve ecological validity including accelerometry and ecological momentary assessments were used (Study 3). Each of these three studies is presented in detail in the following three chapters followed by a general discussion summarizing key findings and how this work extends our knowledge of

mental fatigue – physical activity decision-making relation. Theoretical and practical implications are discussed.

# References

- Abdel Hadi, S., Mojzisch, A., Parker, S. L., & Häusser, J. A. (2021). Experimental evidence for the effects of job demands and job control on physical activity after work. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied, 27,* 125–141. doi.org/10.1037/xap0000333
- Barkley, J. E., Epstein, L. H., & Roemmich, J. N. (2009). Reinforcing value of interval and continuous physical activity in children. *Physiology & Behavior*, 98, 31–36. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.04.006</u>
- Boksem, M. A., & Tops, M. (2008). Mental fatigue: Costs and benefits. *Brain Research Reviews*, 59, 125–139. doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.07.001
- Brown, D. M. Y., & Bray, S. R. (2019). Effects of mental fatigue on exercise intentions and behavior. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 53, 405–414. doi.org/10.1093/abm/kay052
- Brown, D. M. Y., Graham, J. D., Innes, K. I., Harris, S., Flemington, A., & Bray, S. R.
  (2020). Effects of prior cognitive exertion on physical performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, *50*, 497–529. doi.org/10.1007/s40279-019-01204-8
- Chan, J. S. Y., Liu, G., Liang, D., Deng, K., Wu, J., & Yan, J. H. (2019). Special Issue Therapeutic benefits of physical activity for mood: A systematic review on the effects of exercise intensity duration, and modality. *The Journal of Psychology*, *153*, 102–125. <u>doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2018.1470487</u>

- Chong, T. J., Bonnelle, V., & Husain, M. (2016). Quantifying motivation with effortbased decision-making paradigms in health and disease. In Progress in brain research (Vol. 229, pp. 71–100). Elsevier.
- Clarke, J., Colley, R., Janssen, I., & Tremblay, M.S. (2019). Accelerometer-measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity of Canadian adults, 2007 to 2017. *Health Reports, 30*, 3–10. <u>doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x201900800001-eng</u>
- Elagizi, A., Kachur, S., Carbone, S., Lavie, C. J., & Blair, S, N. (2020). A review of obesity, physical activity, and cardiovascular disease. *Current Obesity Reports*, 9, 571–581. doi.org/10.1007/s13679-020-00403-z
- Enoka, R. M., & Duchateau, J. (2016). Translating fatigue to human performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 48,* 2228–2238. <u>doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000929</u>
- Epstein, L. H. (1998). Integrating theoretical approaches to promote physical activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 15, 257–265. <u>doi.org/10.1016/S0749-</u> <u>3797(98)00083-X</u>
- Epstein, L. H., Roemmich, J. N., Saad, F. G., & Handley, E. A. (2004). The value of sedentary alternatives influences child physical activity choice. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 11, 236–242.

doi.org/10.1207/s15327558ijbm1104\_7

Epstein, L. H., Kilanowski, C. K., Consalvi, A. T., & Paluch, R. A. (1999). Reinforcing value of physical activity as a determinant of child activity level. *Health Psychology, 18*, 599–603. <u>doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.18.6.599</u>

- Farah, B. Q., do Prado, W. L., Malik, N., Lofrano-Prado, M. C., de Melo, P. H., Botero, J. P., ... & Ritti-Dias, R. M. (2021). Barriers to physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic in adults: A cross-sectional study. *Sport Sciences for Health*, *17*, 441–447. doi.org/10.1007/s11332-020-00724-5
- Flack, K. D., Johnson, L., & Roemmich, J. N. (2017a). Aerobic and resistance exercise reinforcement and discomfort tolerance predict meeting activity guidelines. *Physiology & Behavior*, 170, 32–36. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.11.032</u>

Flack, K. D., Johnson, L., & Roemmich, J. N. (2017b). The reinforcing value and liking of resistance training and aerobic exercise as predictors of adult's physical activity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 179, 284–289. doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.06.016

- Fredriksson, S. V., Alley, S. J., Rebar, A. L., Hayman, M., Vandelanotte, C., & Schoeppe, S. (2018). How are different levels of knowledge about physical activity associated with physical activity behaviour in Australian adults? *PloS ONE*, *13*, e0207003. <u>doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207003</u>
- Graham, J. D., Martin Ginis, K. A., & Bray, S. R. (2017). Exertion of self-control increases fatigue, reduces task self-efficacy, and impairs performance of resistance exercise. *Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology*, *6*, 70–88. hdoi.org/10.1037/spy0000074
- Gregory, S. M., Parker, B., & Thompson, P. D. (2012). Physical activity, cognitive function, and brain health: What is the role of exercise training in the prevention of dementia? *Bran Sciences*, 2, 684–708. <u>doi.org/10.3390/brainsci2040684</u>

Harris, S., & Bray, S. R. (2019). Effects of mental fatigue on exercise decision-making.
 *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 44, 1–8.
 doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2019.04.005

Haskell, W. L., Lee, I. M., Pate, R. R., Powell, K. E., Blair, S. N., Franklin, B. A., ...
Bauman, A. (2007). Physical activity and public health: Updated
recommendation for adults from the American college of sports medicine and
the American heart association. *Circulation*, *116*, 1081–1093.
<u>doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.185649</u>

- Hockey, G. R. J. (2013). The psychology of fatigue: Work, effort and control. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. <u>doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139015394</u>
- Hull, C. L. (1943) Principles of behavior: An introduction to behavior theory. New York, NY: Appleton-Century Crofts, Inc.

Inzlicht, M., Shenhav, A., & Olivola, C. Y. (2018). The effort paradox: Effort is both costly and valued. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 22, 337–349. doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.01.007

Iodice, P., Ferrante, C., Brunetti, L., Cabib, S., Protasi, F., Walton, M. E., & Pezzulo, G. (2017a). Fatigue modulates dopamine availability and promotes flexible choice reversals during decision making. *Scientific reports*, 7, 1–11.

doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00561-6

Iodice, P., Calluso, C., Barca, L., Bertollo, M., Ripari, P., & Pezzulo, G. (2017b). Fatigue increases the perception of future effort during decision making. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 33, 150–160. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.08.013</u>

- Kashihara, K., Maruyama, T., Murota, M., & Nakahara, Y. (2009). Positive effects of acute and moderate physical exercise on cognitive function. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 28, 155–164. doi.org/10.2114/jpa2.28.155
- Kline, C. E., Hillman, C. H., Sheppard, B. B., Tennant, B., Conroy, D. E., Macko, R. F., ..., & Erickson, K. I. (2021). Physical activity and sleep: An updated umbrella review of the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee report. *Sleep Medicine Reviews, 58,* 101489. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2021.101489</u>
- Kurzban, R. (2016). The sense of effort. Current Opinion in Psychology, 7, 67–70. doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.08.003
- Kurzban, R., Duckworth, A., Kable, J. W., & Myers, J. (2013). An opportunity cost model of subjective effort and task performance. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 36, 661–679. <u>doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X12003196</u>

 Lovell, G. P., El Ansari, W., & Parker, J. K. (2010). Perceived exercise benefits and barriers of non-exercising university students in the United Kingdom. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7, 784– 798. <u>doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7030784</u>

- Marcora, S. (2010). Counterpoint: Afferent feedback from fatigued locomotor muscles is not an important determinant of endurance exercise performance. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 108, 454–456. doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00976.2009a
- Marcora, M. S., Staiano, W., & Manning, V. (2009). Mental fatigue impairs physical performance in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 106, 857–864. <u>doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.91324.2008</u>

- Martin, S. B., Morrow, J. R., Jackson, A. W., & Dunn, A. L. (2000). Variables related to meeting the CDC/ACSM physical activity guidelines. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 32*, 2087–2092. <u>doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200012000-</u> 00019
- Massar, S. A. A., Csathó, Á., & Van der Linden, D. (2018). Quantifying the motivational effects of cognitive fatigue through effort-based decision-making. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 843. doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00843
- McMorris, T., Barwood, M., Hale, B. J., Dicks, M., & Corbett, J. (2018). Cognitive fatigue effects on physical performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis.
   *Physiology & Behavior*, 188, 103–107. doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.01.029
- Mitchell, M. S., Goodman, J. M., Alter, D. A., John, L. J., Oh, P. I., Pakosh, M. T., & Faulkner, G. E. (2013). Financial incentives for exercise adherence in adults:
  Systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 45, 658–667. doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.06.017
- Mitchell, M. S., Orstad, S. L., Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Jay, M., Pakosh, M. T., & Faulkner, G. E. (2020). Financial incentives for physical activity in adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54, 1259–1268. doi.org/10.1136/ bjsports-2019-100633

Mullainathan, S., & Thaler, R. H. (2001). Behavioral economics. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*. 1094–1100. <u>doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/02247-6</u>

Müller, T., & Apps, M. A. J. (2019). Motivational fatigue: A neurocognitive framework

for the impact of effortful exertion on subsequent motivation. *Neuropsychologia*, *123*, 141–151. doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.04.030

- O'Donoghue, T., & Rabin, M. (1999). Doing it now or later. *The American Economic Review, 89*, 103–124. doi.org/10.1257/aer.89.1.103
- Pageaux, B. (2014). The psychobiological model of endurance performance: An effortbased decision-making theory to explain self-paced endurance performance. *Sports Medicine*, 44, 1319–1320. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0198-2</u>
- Pageaux, B., Lepers, R., Dietz, K. C., & Marcora, S, M. (2014). Response inhibition impairs subsequent self-paced endurance performance. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 114, 1095–1105. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s00421-014-2838-5</u>
- Pessiglione, M., Vinckier, F., Bouret, S., Daunizeau, J., & Le Bouc, R. (2018). Why not try harder? Computational approach to motivation deficits in neuro-psychiatric diseases. *Brain*, 141, 629–650. <u>doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx278</u>
- Ramakrishnan, R., He, J. R., Ponsonby, A. L., Woodward, M., Rahimi, K., Blair, S. N., & Dwyer, T. 2021). Objectively measured physical activity and all cause mortality:
  A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, *143*, 106356.
  <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106356</u>
- Robbins, L. (1945). *An essay on the nature and significance of economic science*. London: Macmillan.
- Roemmich, J. N., Barkley, J. E., Lobarinas, C. L., Foster, J. H., White, T. M., & Epstein,
  L. H. (2008). Association of liking and reinforcing value with children's physical activity. *Physiology & Behavior*, *93*, 1011–1018.

- Ross, R., Chaput, J.P., Giangregorio, L.M., Janssen, I., Saunders, T. J., Kho, M.E., ..., & Tremblay, M.S. (2020). Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years or older: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*, S57–S102. doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0467.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Self-regulation and the problem of human autonomy: Does psychology need choice, self-determination, and will? *Journal of Personality*, 74, 1557–1586. <u>doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2006.00420.x</u>
- Salmon, J., Owen, N., Crawford, D., Bauman, A., & Sallis, J. F. (2003). Physical activity and sedentary behavior: A population-based study of barriers, enjoyment, and preference. *Health Psychology*, 22, 178–188. <u>doi.org/10.1037/0278-</u> 6133.22.2.178
- Sanders, L. M. J., Hortobágyi, T., la Bastide-van Gemert, S., van der Zee, E. A., & van Heuvelen, M. J. G. (2019) Dose-response relationship between exercise and cognitive function in older adults with and without cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE 14*, e0210036. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210036

Shenhav, A., Musslick, S., Lieder, F., Kool, W., Griffiths, T. L., Cohen, J. D., et al. (2017). Toward a rational and mechanistic account of mental effort. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 40, 99–124. <u>doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031526</u>

- Simon, H. (1955). A behavioral model of rational choice. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 69, 99–118. doi.org/10.2307/1884852
- Smith, M. R., Coutts, A. J., Merlini, M., Deprez, D., Lenoir, M., & Marcora, S. M. (2016). Mental fatigue impairs soccer-specific physical and technical performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 16, 267–276. <u>doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000762</u>
- Smith, M. R., Marcora, S. M., & Coutts, A. J. (2015). Mental fatigue impairs intermittent running performance. *Medicine & science in Sports & Exercise*, 47, 1682–1690. doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000592
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 18, 643–662. doi.org/10.1037/h0054651
- Tomasone, J. R., Kauffeldt, K. D., Morgan, T. L., Magor, K. W., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Faulkner, G., ... Ross, R. (2020a). Dissemination and implementation of national physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and/or sleep guidelines among community-dwelling adults aged 18 years and older: a systematic scoping review and suggestions for future reporting and research. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*, S258–S283. <u>doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0251</u>
- Tomasone, J. R., Flood, S. M., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Faulkner, G., Duggan, M., Jones,
  R., ... Brouwers, M. C. (2020b). Knowledge translation of the Canadian 24Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults aged 18–64 years and Adults aged 65
  years or older: a collaborative movement guideline knowledge translation

process. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45,* S103–S124. doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0601

van As, S., Beckers, D. G. J., Geurts, S. A. E., Michiel, A. Kompier, J., Husain, M., & Veling, Harm. (2021). The impact of cognitive and physical effort exertion on physical effort decisions: A pilot experiment. *Frontiers in Psychology, 12,* 645037. doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.645037

- van As, S., Veling, H., Beckers, D. G. J., Earle, F., McMaster, S., Kompier, M. A. J., & Geurts, S. A. E. (2022). The impact of cognitive work demands on subsequent physical activity behavior. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*. Advanced online publication. doi.org/10.1037/xap0000390
- Van Cutsem, J., Marcora, S., De Pauw, K., Bailey, S., Meeusen, R., & Roelands, B. The effects of mental fatigue on physical performance: A systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 47, 1569–1588. doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0672-0
- Van de Mortel, T. F. (2008). Faking it: Social desirability response bias in self-report research. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *25*, 40–48.
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 174, 801–809. <u>doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351</u>
- Warburton, D. E. R., Charlesworth, S., Ivey, A., Nettlefold, L., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2010) A systematic review of the evidence for Canada's physical activity gidelines for adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7, 1– 220. <u>doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-39</u>

# CHAPTER 2

Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study

# Preamble

Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study is the first study in the dissertation series. The study examined the effect of mental fatigue on the decision to engage or not engage in an acute bout of MVPA in a sample of insufficiently active participants using a mixed-methods study design. Using a sequential mediation model, we examined whether perceived effort and benefit vs. cost valuations mediated the relation between mental fatigue and choice. Exit interviews were conducted with each participant to further probe the reasoning behind their choice.

The following manuscript is published in the journal *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*. The published version of the manuscript (formatted according to the *Psychology of Sport & Exercise* author guidelines) is included in the dissertation as accepted for publication in *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*. The published version of this manuscript can be found at:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.101924.

The copyright for this manuscript is currently held by Elsevier Ltd (the publisher for *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*). As stated in the Transfer of Copyright form "The Author Rights include the right to use the Preprint, Accepted Manuscript and the Published Journal Article for Personal Use and Internal Institutional Use. They also include the right to use these different versions of the Article for scholarly sharing purposes, which include sharing: the Preprint on any website or repository at any time; the Accepted Manuscript on certain websites and usually after an embargo period; the Published Journal Article only privately on certain websites, unless otherwise agreed by Elsevier Ltd" (see Appendix D.1).

# Contribution of Study 1 to overall dissertation

Study 1 demonstrates mental fatigue alters physical activity decision-making through a sequentially mediated process including subjective perceptions of anticipated effort and benefit vs. cost valuations. Findings from Study 1 also highlight various consequences of engaging in cognitively demanding tasks on exercise decision-making. Study 1 contributes to the overall dissertation by providing evidence of the sequential pathways in which feelings of mental fatigue influence effort-based decision-making related to physical activity behaviors using an experimental and qualitative research methods.

# Ph.D Thesis - S. Harris; McMaster University - Kinesiology



# Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study

### Sheereen Harris\*, Steven R. Bray

Department of Kinesiology, McMaster University, 1280 Main St. W., Hamilton, Ontario, L8S 4K1, Canada

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Mental fatigue Effort Decision-making Mixed-methods	Objectives: This study examined the effects of mental fatigue on people's decisions to engage in an acute bout of exercise quantitatively, through a sequentially mediated pathway consisting of perceived effort and benefit vs. cost valuations and qualitatively, using exit interviews to survey the conscious reasoning behind participants' choices. Design: Mixed methods, randomized, experimenter blind to group.
	Method: Participants ( $N = 84$ , $M_{age} = 19.07 \pm 1.86$ years) completed either a high cognitive demand (incongruent Stroop) task or low cognitive demand (documentary viewing) task for 12 min. Before and after the cognitive task, participants rated their anticipated effort and subjective evaluations (benefits and costs) of engaging in a 20-min moderate-to-vigorous intensity exercise task. After completing the latter ratings, participants chose between the exercise task or a non-exercise task (seated "free time" and use of smartphone or computer). Participants were led to believe they would actually engage in the task; however, once their choice was made, they were not required to complete the task but were invited to complete a semi-structured interview to probe the reasoning behind their choice.
	Results: Serial mediation analyses revealed a significant indirect effect from mental fatigue to choice through perceived effort and benefit vs. cost valuations (95% C.I. = $-0.01$ to $-0.0004$ ). Qualitative data, organized by categories based on group/choice pairings, yielded twelve unique codes explaining how the cognitive tasks affected choice.
	Conclusions: Results demonstrate mental fatigue alters decision-making through a sequentially mediated process including subjective perceptions of effort, benefits, and costs. Interview responses also highlight the individual- level consequences of completing cognitively demanding and non-demanding tasks on effort-based decision- making. Future research should explore additional feeling states as they relate to people's choices to engage in exercise or sedentary behaviors.

Physical activity (PA) is associated with many important health benefits (Warburton & Bredin, 2017) and in order to accrue such benefits, adults should engage in at least 150 min of moderate-to-vigorous intensity PA (MVPA) each week (Haskell et al., 2007; Tremblay et al., 2011). Yet, despite the fact that most adults consider physical inactivity to be an important health risk factor (Martin, Morrow, Jackson, & Dunn, 2000), most are not active enough to meet public health guidelines (Norris, Clarke, & Schiller, 2018), which highlights the importance of understanding what motivates people's choices to engage in exercise or not.

Chong, Bonnelle, and Husain (2016) define motivation as a "process which facilitates overcoming the cost of an effortful action to achieve the desired outcome" (p. 72). Chong et al. further describe motivation as a trade-off between the perceived costs and perceived benefits of a particular action where people seek to maximize benefits and minimize costs. Conceptualizing motivation as a subjectively-evaluative cost-be-nefit trade-off may be important for understanding PA decision-making. In light of evidence suggesting universal agreement among people about the benefits of exercise regardless of whether they are active or not (Lovell, El Ansari, & Parker, 2010), perceived costs may have a stronger influence on one's decision-making about exercising than perceived benefits. Accordingly, it is important to assess perceived costs and consider how different cognitive/feeling states may bias a person's perceived costs of exercising, even when opportunities to be active are

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: harris18@mcmaster.ca (S. Harris).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.101924

Received 28 July 2020; Received in revised form 1 March 2021; Accepted 2 March 2021 Available online 4 March 2021 1469-0292/© 2021 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### readily available.

The effects of cognitively-demanding tasks on exercise performance has been a topic of interest in the exercise science literature for several years. One perspective suggests performing cognitively challenging tasks causes mental fatigue, which in turn, impairs physical performance (Van Cutsem et al., 2017). Another perspective proposes cognitive tasks, particularly those involving response inhibition, consume self-control resources leading to a state of ego-depletion, which impairs motor performance (Englert, 2016).

Regardless of the conceptual framework underpinning the research, meta-analysis shows consistent evidence that engaging in cognitively challenging tasks prior to exercising results in performance decrements (Brown et al., 2020). Importantly, these effects are seen regardless of the duration of the cognitive task performed with larger effects observed for self-paced aerobic exercises (e.g., Brown & Bray, 2019; Brownsberger, Edwards, Crowther, & Cottrell, 2013), resistance exercises (e.g., Graham, Martin Ginis, & Bray, 2017), and isometric endurance exercises (e. g., Boat & Taylor, 2017; Graham & Bray, 2015).

In addition to studies examining the effects of self-control exertion or mental fatigue on physical task performance, two studies have investigated the aftereffects of performing challenging cognitive tasks on intended exercise intensity. Martin Ginis and Bray (2010) had participants report the amount of physical exertion they planned to invest in a 30-min circuit-based exercise session after performing either a mentally fatiguing task or a non-fatiguing task. Results indicated a decrease in planned exercise intensity for participants who completed the mentally fatiguing task. Similarly, Brown and Bray (2019) reported participants' intended exercise intensity for a 30-min self-paced cycling task decreased significantly after performing a mentally-fatiguing task. Together, these studies suggest that people plan to invest less effort in exercise tasks when they feel mentally-fatigued. However, participants in those studies were not given an opportunity to opt out of exercising which raises questions as to whether mental fatigue might cause people to avoid exercising altogether if given a choice.

To address this question, Harris and Bray (2019) examined whether mental fatigue affected people's choices when given opportunities to engage in either an exercise or a non-exercise task. In that study, recreationally-active participants completed either a mentally fatiguing or non-mentally fatiguing task and then reported their subjective mental fatigue, perceived benefits, and perceived costs related to a 20-min bout of self-paced exercise before choosing between an exercise or a non-exercise task. Results showed greater mental fatigue was associated with increased perceived cost valuations of exercise, which in turn, predicted a reduced likelihood of choosing to exercise. Although Harris and Bray's (2019) study provides preliminary evidence that mental fatigue may bias subjective valuations of exercise, since perceived benefits and costs of exercise were not measured prior to the experimental manipulation, it is unclear whether baseline differences existed between groups. Additionally, what people rated as the increased "costs" of exercise that appeared to be amplified with mental fatigue could not be determined from their data.

Exerting effort is aversive (Kurzban, 2016) and it has been well established that organisms choose less effortful behaviors when afforded equally-reinforced options (Hull, 1943; Kool, McGuire, Rosen, & Botvinick, 2010). Emerging theoretical models of effort-based decision-making suggest perceptions of effort may be a potential cost that is amplified following a mentally fatiguing task. For example, Kool and Botvinick (2014) propose a labor/leisure trade-off model, in which people are motivated to achieve a balance between labor (e.g., exerting effort) and leisure (e.g., relaxing). This motivation for balance manifests itself in one's decision-making and may explain why people perform poorer on physically-demanding tasks (Brown et al., 2020) and are more likely to opt for a leisure activity rather than exercise after exerting themselves mentally (Harris & Bray, 2019). Similarly, the psychobiological model of endurance performance proposes mental fatigue intensifies perceptions of effort, which causes conscious decisions to slow

#### Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

down one's pace and ultimately leads to performance decrements in self-paced endurance exercise (Pageaux, 2014). Other conceptualizations of the effort-motivation relation propose that allocating effort towards a task carries opportunity-costs representing the foregone benefit of other available alternatives (Kurzban, Duckworth, Kable, & Myers, 2013). Thus, the opportunity costs associated with engaging in physical activity may be inflated by mental fatigue and bias choice in favour of more rewarding or less effortful alternatives that one does not wish to miss out on. In summary, each of these models suggest that when people are mentally fatigued and have a choice about what to do or not to do, a conscious and deliberate shift in decision-making in favour of a less effortful option may occur.

Together, the aforementioned models support a prediction that people should prefer less effortful activities following cognitive exertion, in part, due to changes in the anticipated effort perceptions for the tasks they forecast themselves engaging in. Thus, the anticipated effort requirements of an exercise task may be one such "cost" that factors more strongly into exercise decision-making when people are feeling mentally fatigued compared to when they are not.

To this point, studies examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical task performance and decision-making have relied on quantitative research methods. Although quantitative approaches provide valuable insights through the direct measurement of specific constructs and allow examination of the strength of association between variables of interest (Castro, Kellison, Boyd, & Kopak, 2010), they fail to capture important contextual information and exclude participants' accounts of the meaning and purpose of their own behavior (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). In contrast, mixed-methods designs use qualitative data to help inform the interpretation of quantitative data (Pluye & Hong, 2014), resulting in a more holistic understanding of human behavior. However, to the best of our knowledge a qualitative approach has not yet been used to investigate the effects of mental fatigue on exercise-related cognitions.

The purpose of the present study was to investigate the effect of mental fatigue on people's exercise decision making using a mixedmethods approach. Specifically, we examined whether levels of selfreported mental fatigue would predict the anticipated effort associated with a 20-min session of MVPA, benefit vs. cost valuations of exercise, and whether people would choose to engage in a 20-min session of MVPA or opt for engaging in 20 min of a non-exercise behavior instead. We also conducted post-decision interviews with participants to explore the feelings and reasoning behind their choice to exercise or not. Drawing from the labor/leisure trade-off model (Kool & Botvinick, 2014), it was hypothesized that greater mental fatigue would lead to increased ratings of anticipated effort associated with the exercise task, a biasing of benefit vs. cost evaluations of exercising towards greater costs (Harris & Bray, 2019), and a greater likelihood of choosing a non-exercise task rather than exercise. The hypothesis was evaluated using a sequential mediation model (See Fig. 2). From the qualitative perspective, we expected anticipated effort and cost-benefit valuations to emerge from post-decision interview conversations; but did not hypothesize what reasons participants would give for choosing to exercise or not.

#### 1. Method

#### 1.1. Participants and design

Participants were 84 (n = 55 women) university students ( $M_{age} = 19.07 \pm 1.86$  years) who self-reported engaging in <150 min of MVPA/ week ( $M = 89.06 \pm 42.39$  min). Sample size was determined based on results from Iodice et al. (2017) that demonstrated a medium-large effect size ( $\eta_{P2} = 0.30$ ) of fatigue on exercise decision-making. According to G\*Power (Faul, Erdfeller, Lang & Buchner, 2007) a sequential mediation analysis with three independent variables, a sample size estimate based on a  $\eta_{P2}$  of 0.30,  $\alpha = 0.05$  and  $\beta = 0.80$ , indicated a sample of 31 was sufficient for serial mediation analyses. Since the sample



Fig. 2. Mental fatigue – choice serial mediation model with perceived effort and benefit vs. cost score. c = the direct effect of X on Y. c' = the direct effect of X on Y when controlling for  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ . Coefficients are presented in unstandardized form with SE in parentheses. \*p < .05, \*\*p < .01.

size-estimate was considerably smaller than other estimates for regression analyses, the sample size was increased to 74 participants according to Green's (1991) recommendations of an N of 50 + 8(x), when x = the number of predictor variables. Participants were screened for non-normal vision (color-blindness) using self-report, health-related contra-indicators of performing MVPA (Thomas, Reading, & Shephard, 1992), and provided informed consent. The study was reviewed and approved by an institutional research ethics board prior to recruitment and data collection. Participants received partial course credit for their contributions to the study.

The study employed a participant-blind/researcher blind to treatment (experimental group) allocation, between-groups study design. The sample was stratified by sex and randomized to either high cognitive demand (HCD) or low cognitive demand (LCD) manipulation groups. The experimental manipulation was completed by a second experimenter while the first experimenter left the room. Since fatigue vulnerability is not uniform across all participants (Van Dongen, Caldwell, & Caldwell, 2011) the cognitive tasks were thus used to create a more diverse range of mental fatigue scores than would occur naturally in the lab environment.

#### 1.2. Procedures

Participants attended one laboratory session (see Fig. 1 for study procedure timeline) and were instructed to not consume caffeine or engage in vigorous physical activity within 6 h of the session. Upon arrival at the laboratory, participants provided informed consent, confirmed adherence to these instructions, and completed demographic and questionnaire measures for descriptive purposes and use as potential covariates (see below). They then completed a modified graded exercise test (M-GXT) protocol on a cycle ergometer (described below). Following the M-GXT protocol, participants engaged in 10 min of seated rest to allow sufficient recovery prior to starting the cognitive task.

During the rest period, they were asked to imagine themselves performing a MVPA task and a non-exercise task. The MVPA task was described as cycling on a stationary bike within an RPE range between a three and six (the range they were familiarized with during the M-GXT) for a duration of 20 min. The non-exercise task was described as "free time" in which they could use their smartphone, personal computer, or the laptop computer in the lab for a duration of 20 min. They then completed measures assessing their anticipated effort and subjective evaluations (benefits and costs) of engaging in the MVPA task.

Following the 10-min rest period, participants completed their respective experimental manipulation (i.e., HCD or LCD) with perceived mental exertion (RPE-M) and mental fatigue recorded at baseline and at 2-min intervals throughout the task. Following the cognitive task, participants were provided with the same descriptions of the MVPA and non-exercise tasks given previously and asked to choose between the two tasks. They then completed the perceived effort and subjective evaluation measures again before verbally indicating their choice to exercise or not to the experimenter. Participants were then informed they were not required to perform their chosen protocol and then engaged in a brief ( $\sim$ 5-min) interview with one of the experimenters. Interviews followed a semi-structured script using open-ended questions (see Appendix in supplemental file). Following the interview, participants were debriefed and thanked for their participation. Given the use of deception, participants were asked to re-consent to study procedures. Participants who had chosen to exercise were encouraged to do so and provided directions to the university fitness facility located in close proximity to the lab. A written script was followed throughout the experiment to minimize experimenter effects and ensure instructions were presented in the same manner to all participants. There was no motivational encouragement provided at any time.

#### 1.3. Tasks and apparatus

Modified graded exercise test (M-GXT). Participants completed a modified graded exercise test (M-GXT) protocol on a cycle ergometer (Lode Corival, Groningen, The Netherlands) to familiarize them with a specific range of intensities (moderate-vigorous) they would need to consider later on in the study. The protocol began with a two-minute warm-up at a fixed resistance of 50 Watts (W) followed by a progressive ramp protocol involving incremental increases of workload of one W every 3 s. Participants were instructed to maintain a cadence between 60 and 100 RPM and to inform the experimenter whenever their RPE increased by one unit on Borg's (1998) CR-10 scale. The target range of interest was between an RPE of three (verbal anchor of "moderate") and an RPE of six (between the verbal anchors of "strong" and "very strong"). Once within the target RPE range, participants were instructed to focus on and familiarize themselves with the sensations they were experiencing while cycling. Once participants rated their RPE = 7, they were informed the intensity they were exercising at was beyond the target range, the M-GXT was terminated, and the experimenter adjusted the workload to 50 W at which participants continued to pedal for 2 min as a cool-down.

#### 1.4. Measures

**Ratings of perceived exertion (RPE).** Ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) were measured using Borg's (1998) CR-10 scale ranging from 0 (no exertion at all) to 10 (maximal exertion). Participants were educated on providing RPEs using Borg's instructions (Borg, 1998, p. 47) and were provided the opportunity to ask the experimenter any questions for clarification.

**Ratings of perceived mental exertion (RPE-M).** Participants provided ratings of perceived mental exertion (RPE-M) using Borg's (1998) CR-10 scale ranging from 0 (no exertion at all) to 10 (maximal exertion). This scale has been previously used in studies examining mental exertion during performance of cognitive tasks (e.g., Graham & Bray, 2015).

Subjective mental fatigue. A Visual Analogue Scale (VAS; Wewers & Lowe, 1990) was used to assess mental fatigue. Participants were instructed to: "Please mark (X) on the line at the point that you feel represents your perception of your current state of mental fatigue". The response continuum consisted of a 100-mm line with the anchors ranging from 'none at all' on the left to 'maximal' on the right. Scores were calculated by measuring the distance in millimetres that the 'X' was placed from the left side of the scale.

**Perceived effort.** A Visual Analogue Scale (VAS; Wewers & Lowe, 1990) was used to assess perceived effort, which was defined as the "subjective intensification of either mental and/or physical activity in the service of meeting some goal" (Inzlicht, Shenhav, & Olivola, 2018, p. 338). Participants responded to the statement: "In thinking about the 20-min exercise task, please mark (X) on the line, how much effort you feel it would take for you to complete the task." The response continuum consisted of a 100-mm line with the anchors ranging from 'no effort at all' on the left to 'maximal effort' on the right. Scores were calculated by measuring the distance in millimetres the 'X' was placed from the left side of the scale.

Subjective evaluation of exercise. A 2-item measure was used to assess each of the perceived costs and benefits of engaging in the MVPA task. For perceived costs, participants were presented with: "For the exercise option, there are:..." and responded on a 1–10 scale anchored at 1) "no disadvantages" and 10) "many disadvantages". For perceived benefits, participants were presented with: "For the exercise option, there are:..." and responded on a 1–10 scale anchored at 1) "no advantages" and 10) "many advantages". Responses were also converted into a composite measure: "benefits vs. costs", calculated by subtracting the perceived costs value from the perceived benefits value. Greater positive values represent greater benefit - cost valuations. This measure

Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

has been previously used to examine perceived costs and benefits of engaging in a physical task (Harris & Bray, 2019).

#### 1.5. Potential covariates

Since the decision task involved choosing between either a MVPA or a non-exercise activity, we felt it was important to assess and control for any group differences in habitual MVPA and physical activity enjoyment based on the possibility that people engaging in greater amounts of physical activity or those who enjoy physical activity more would be more likely to choose to engage in MVPA regardless of their fatigue state.

**MVPA.** MVPA was assessed using four items selected from the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ; Craig et al., 2003). Participants reported how many days per week and minutes per day they spent engaging in each of moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity during a typical 7-day period in the past three to five months.

**Physical activity enjoyment.** The Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale (PACES; Kendzierski & DeCarlo, 1991) was used to assess physical activity enjoyment. Consistent with other studies (Williams et al., 2006), the wording of the original scale was altered from "Please rate how you feel at the moment about the physical activity you have been doing," to "Please rate how you feel while engaging in physical activity," to represent participants' overall enjoyment of PA. Internal consistency was acceptable (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.90$ ).

#### 1.6. Experimental manipulations

Although some authors (Van Cutsem et al., 2017) have proposed mental fatigue induction manipulations should be > 30-min duration, these claims lack empirical substantiation. Indeed, recent meta-analytic findings based on over 90 effect sizes show no association between cognitive task manipulation duration and subsequent effects on physical performance (Brown et al., 2020). A 12-min manipulation, that has shown significant and large effects on subjective mental fatigue in previous research (e.g., Harris & Bray, 2019) was used in the current study.

High cognitive demand (HCD) task. Participants in the HCD group performed a computerized version of the incongruent Stroop colour word task (Stroop, 1935) programmed on Presentation<sup>™</sup> software. The task consisted of five, 2-min blocks of 135 trials, separated by 30-s breaks during which participants rated mental fatigue and RPE-M, for a total duration of 12 min. The color-word stimuli were presented on a 17" LCD monitor for 800 milliseconds on a white background in 48-size, Times New Roman font, followed by a 100 millisecond inter-trial interval in which the screen was blank. Participants were instructed to respond as quickly and accurately as possible to each stimulus by saying aloud the color of the font in which the word was printed and ignoring the semantic meaning of the word (e.g., for the word "red" presented in "blue" font, the correct response was to say aloud the word "blue").

Low cognitive demand (LCD) task. Participants in the LCD group watched a segment of a documentary video titled: "Planet Earth: Fresh Water" (Fothergill, Attenborough, & Fenton, 2007), consisting of five, 2-min sequences, separated by 30-s breaks during which participants provided ratings of mental fatigue and RPE-M, for a total duration of 12 min. During the task, participants were instructed to monitor the audio content and record instances in which they heard the word "water".

#### 2. Data analysis

Quantitative data analysis. Descriptive statistics were computed for all study variables. Independent samples *t*-tests were computed for age, MVPA, and physical activity enjoyment as well as post-cognitive task mental fatigue. Separate 2 (group) X 6 (time) mixed ANOVAs were conducted on mental fatigue and RPE-M scores recorded during the experimental manipulations. Greenhouse–Geisser correction was utilized when sphericity was violated. Next, a 2 (group; HCD vs. LCD) X

2 (choice; non-exercise vs. exercise) chi-square analysis was computed to compare frequencies of choice between groups. Separate 2 (group) X 2 (time) mixed ANOVAs were computed on subjective perception scores (i.e., effort, benefits, costs) measured before and after the experimental manipulation.

A serial mediation analysis was conducted to assess the hypothesized sequential relationships between post-cognitive task ratings of mental fatigue and subjective perceptions in the prediction of exercise choice using Model 6 in version 3.3 of the PROCESS software macro (Hayes, 2017). Bootstrap procedures utilizing 10,000 simulations were computed (Hayes & Scharkow, 2013) in IBM SPSS Version 20.0. In these analyses, a 95% confidence interval that does not include zero indicates a significant (p < .05) indirect (mediation) effect.

Qualitative data analysis. Interviews were digitally recorded and transcribed verbatim. Transcribed interviews were read and re-read by the first author to become familiarized with the data. After familiarization with the data, a content analysis of the transcribed interviews was conducted to describe and interpret common ideas. Two researchers (SH and SRB) independently identified meaningful units related to effects of the cognitive task on participant's choice using an inductive approach (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). Meaning units were then transposed onto individual cards and three researchers (SH and two research assistants) worked independently to generate codes to best fit the data, by working through each of four categories defined by group/choice pairings (e.g., HCD/chose exercise, HCD/chose non-exercise, LCD/chose exercise, and LCD/chose non-exercise). During a consensus meeting, the researchers compared coding schemes, discussed any discrepancies, and agreed upon the final coding schemes. The unit of analysis was counted at the level of each individual occurrence across the entire data set such that one participant could be responsible for multiple phrases or no phrases at all (see Table 2).

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Data screening

Data were screened for normality by assessing the absolute values of skewness and kurtosis of the distributions based on conditions proposed by Lei and Lomax (2005). For variables with moderate non-normality, square-root and reflect and square root transformations were used for positively skewed variables (mental fatigue, RPE-M) and the negatively skewed variable (perceived exercise benefits), respectively. Analyses were computed using both transformed and non-transformed data and, in all cases, produced identical results. Results of analyses using the non-transformed values are reported for ease of interpretation. Results are presented as  $M \pm SD$ .

#### 3.2. Preliminary analyses

Descriptive statistics for measured variables and manipulation effects are presented by group in Table 1. Results of the independent samples *t*-tests revealed no significant between-group differences in MVPA or PA enjoyment (ps > .16, ds < 0.31).

Mental fatigue and RPE-M scores recorded during the experimental manipulations are presented by group over time (at 2-min intervals) in supplemental material Figures S1 and S2, respectively. As shown in the Figures, the HCD group reported significantly higher RPE-M and mental fatigue ratings throughout the cognitive task compared to the LCD group. For mental fatigue, the main effect for group and the group × time interaction were significant [(F (1, 82) = 40.11,  $p < .001, \eta_P^2 = 0.33$ ) and (F (2.62, 214.43) = 22.88,  $p < .001, \eta_P^2 = 0.22$ ), respectively]. Similarly, the main effect for group and the group × time interaction for RPE-M scores were significant [(F (1, 82) = 38.00,  $p < .001, \eta_P^2 = 0.32$ ) and (F (2.55, 209.08) = 34.24,  $p < .001, \eta_P^2 = 0.30$ ), respectively].

#### Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

Table 1

Descriptive statisti	cs for potent	ial covariates	post-task	mental	fatigue,	effort
osts, and benefits	by high cogn	itive demand	and low co	ognitive	demand	group

	Low Cognitive Demand $n = 42$ (27 females)	High Cognitive Demand $n = 42$ (28 females)			
	$M \pm SD$	$M \pm SD$	t	p	d
Age	$19.07 \pm 1.40$	$19.07 \pm 2.24$	<.001	1.00	.005
MVPA	$92.09 \pm 37.05$	$86.02\pm47.39$	.65	.52	.14
PA enjoyment	$103.45\pm16.76$	$\textbf{98.24} \pm \textbf{18.01}$	1.37	.17	.30
Post-task mental fatigue	$\textbf{24.69} \pm \textbf{19.19}$	$61.10 \pm 25.04$	7.48	<.001	1.63
Pre-cognitive task perceived effort	$63.62 \pm 22.35$	$\textbf{60.05} \pm \textbf{17.23}$	.82	.42	.18
Pre-cognitive costs	$\textbf{4.00} \pm \textbf{2.29}$	$\textbf{3.98} \pm \textbf{2.18}$	.05	.96	.009
Pre-cognitive benefits	$\textbf{7.98} \pm \textbf{1.97}$	$\textbf{7.40} \pm \textbf{2.00}$	1.32	.19	.29
Pre-cognitive benefit vs. cost	$3.98 \pm 2.72$	$\textbf{3.43} \pm \textbf{3.55}$	.79	.43	.17
Post-cognitive task perceived effort	$68.86 \pm 21.00$	$68.60 \pm 18.68$	.06	.95	.01
Post-cognitive task costs	$\textbf{4.57} \pm \textbf{2.24}$	$4.05\pm2.16$	1.09	.28	.24
Post-cognitive task benefits	$\textbf{7.88} \pm \textbf{1.92}$	$\textbf{7.48} \pm \textbf{2.06}$	.93	.35	.20
Post-cognitive task benefit vs. cost	$3.31\pm3.11$	$\textbf{3.43} \pm \textbf{3.48}$	.17	.87	.04

Note: M = mean, SD = standard deviation, d = Cohen's d, MVPA = moderate-tovigorous physical activity. Post-task mental fatigue = mental fatigue rating reported immediately following the cognitive task.

#### 3.3. Group analyses

In the group-based analyses, an equal number of participants in the LCD group selected the non-exercise (n = 21) and exercise options (n = 21). Participants in the HCD group chose the non-exercise task (n = 22) and the exercise task (n = 20) in similar frequencies. These frequencies of task selection were not statistically significant ( $\chi^2$  (1) = 0.05, p = .83, d = 0.05).

Results from the 2 (group) X 2 (time) ANOVAs revealed no group effect for perceived effort (*F* (1,82) = 0.23, p = .64,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.003$ ), benefits (*F* (1, 82) = 1.37, p = .25,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.02$ ), costs (*F* (1, 82) = 0.34, p = .56,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.004$ ), and benefit vs. cost scores (*F* (1,82) = 0.10, p = .76,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.001$ ). However, there was a significant main effect of time for perceived effort (*F* (1, 82) = 17.38, p < .001,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.18$ ) and perceived costs (*F* (1, 82) = 6.18, p = .02,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.07$ ). Thus, on average participants perceived the MVPA task was going to be more effortful and more costly following the experimental manipulations compared to baseline. There was no effect of time on perceived benefits (*F* (1, 82) = 0.01, p = .92,  $\eta_P^2 < 0.001$ ) or benefit vs. cost scores (*F* (1, 82) = 3.84, p = .05,  $\eta_P^2 = 0.05$ ). All interactions were not significant (p > .05,  $\eta_P^2 < 0.05$ ).

#### 3.4. Serial mediation analysis

In the serial mediation analysis, choice (non-exercise/MVPA; coded 0,1, respectively) was specified as the dependent variable and post-cognitive task mental fatigue as the independent variable; perceived effort ( $M_1$ ), and benefit vs. cost scores ( $M_2$ ) were included as mediators. As hypothesized, results showed a significant overall indirect effect (Effect = -0.004, 95% C.I. = -0.01 to -0.004, SE = 0.02; D The direct effects of all pathways were significant (a<sub>1</sub> 95% C.I. = 0.02, p = .003,  $b_2 = .0007$ ,  $b_2$ 

Т

#### S. Harris and S.R. Bray

95% C.I. = 0.14 to 0.54, SE = 0.10, p = .0008). Direct effect coefficients are shown in Fig. 2.

#### 3.5. Qualitative analysis

Twelve codes were identified from the data relating to the effects of the cognitive task on choice (Table 2). As shown in the table, "Increased feelings of fatigue due to the cognitive task" was most frequently cited (23 times) across the HCD/chose exercise, HCD/chose non-exercise, as well as the LCD/chose exercise categories. "Changes in motivation for the non-exercise task" was mentioned 21 times, most frequently in the HCD/chose non-exercise category, whereas "Changes in motivation for the exercise task" was mentioned 20 times, most frequently by participants in the HCD/chose exercise and LCD/chose exercise categories. There were 19 instances in which participants in the HCD/chose exercise and LCD/chose exercise categories expressed a desire to switch from engaging in a mental/cognitive task to a physical task. Negative or aversive feelings towards the cognitive task and altered perceptions of the effort requirements of the exercise task were noted 10 and five times, respectively, across the HCD/chose non-exercise and LCD/chose exercise categories.

Two codes unique to categories choosing to exercise were identified. "Increased feelings of alertness following the cognitive task" was present only in the HCD/chose exercise category and "cognitive task acting as a break" preparing participants for a bout of exercise was present only in the LCD/chose exercise category. Three codes unique to the LCD/chose non-exercise category were identified: 1) the cognitive task causing a state of low activation, which participants expressed a desire to maintain, 2) the cognitive task prompting evaluations of task difficulty/task demand between the exercise versus non-exercise tasks, and 3) the cognitive task eliciting thoughts related to one's preference for the nonexercise task. There were 27 instances of participants citing no effect of the cognitive task on one's choice, occurring most frequently in the LCD categories.

#### 4. Discussion

In this study we investigated the effect of mental fatigue on people's exercise decision-making using a mixed-methods approach. Specifically, we examined whether levels of self-reported mental fatigue would predict the anticipated effort associated with a 20-min session of MVPA, benefit vs. cost valuations of exercise, and whether people would choose to engage in a 20-min session of MVPA or opt for engaging in 20 min of a non-exercise behavior instead. Results of the serial mediation model supported the hypothesis that mental fatigue is associated with higher levels of anticipated effort for exercising that, in turn affect benefit vs. cost valuations and decisions to exercise or not. A content analysis of participants' feelings and reasoning behind their choice to exercise or not revealed a variety of reasons, highlighting the roles of both the HCD and LCD manipulations affecting choices in both directions.

#### 4.1. Quantitative discussion

Results from the serial mediation analysis support the hypothesis that higher mental fatigue led to greater perceived effort of the MVPA task, which led to reductions in benefit vs. cost valuations, predictive of selecting the non-exercise task. Consistent with Harris and Bray (2019), these findings support an interpretation that engaging in a cognitively-demanding task affects exercise choice through an evaluation of perceived benefits and costs. Findings also extend that work by demonstrating perceptions of anticipated task effort act as an additional mediator in the pathway between mental fatigue and exercise vs. non-exercise choice.

Recent theorizing has defined effort as a process mediating the relation between a person's ability to perform a task and task performance (Shenhav et al., 2017), such that a person who is capable of

#### Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

	Frequency	Example quote
HCD/Chose Exercise		
Change in motivation for the exercise task	<i>N</i> = 7	"I think that the cognitive task frustrated me a lot and it made mu lose motivation to even take on th bike again when I had the alternative to just browse the internet"
Increased feelings of fatigue/ feeling tired	N = 3	"It made me more tired, which made me think riding on the bike would make me even more tired"
Desire to switch from mental to physical	N = 14	"I just felt like I did not want to d any other mental task anymore. So I wanted to just get on the bike an not think about things for a while
Increased alertness resulting from cognitive task	<i>N</i> = 4	"The [cognitive] task just woke m up"
HCD/Chose Non-exercise		
Change in motivation for the exercise task	<i>N</i> = 6	"The more times that we went through [the cognitive task], it lessened my motivation
Increased feelings of fatigue/ feeling tired	N = 17	"At first, I was fine with doing the 20-min biking [be]cause it didn't seem that bad, but then after the [cognitive] task, I was too tired fo it."
Change in motivation for the non-exercise task	<i>N</i> = 15	"At the end I put it [non-exercise task] as having advantages where the advantages were just that I could relax and not have to do anythine"
Aversive feelings towards the cognitive task	<i>N</i> = 7	"I did not like that at all"
Changes in effort perceptions of the exercise task	<i>N</i> = 2	"I would have to take more to do th exercising task just [be]cause I didn't want to do it and to sit around it would be no effort at all t
No effect of cognitive task on choice	<i>N</i> = 2	"I think if you asked me beforehan it still would be the same [be]cau I don't want to exercise"
LCD/Chose Exercise		
Change in motivation for the exercise task	<i>N</i> = 7	"I was motivated to complete the [cognitive] task here and it made me even more motivated"
Increased feelings of fatigue/	N = 3	"Made me more fatigued and not want to do the bike exercise"
Desire to switch from mental to physical	<i>N</i> = 5	"It was more of like, you know, you'll feel better after so I did it was like I need to wake up again"
Aversive feelings towards the cognitive task	N = 3	"It really bummed me out"
Changes in effort perceptions of the exercise task	<i>N</i> = 3	"I knew it would be more effort, s it made me not want to put in the effort"
Cognitive task as a break to prepare for exercise	<i>N</i> = 8	"It kind of calmed me down a lot and I kind of just had time to rest, I was like I want to get up and do something."
No effect of cognitive task on choice	<i>N</i> = 16	"No matter what it would be bette exercising rather than watching something or be on social media"
LCD/Chose Non-exercise		
Change in motivation for the non-exercise task	<i>N</i> = 6	"I was less motivated to do something, I just wanted to sit an watch Netflix some more"
Deactivated state following the cognitive task	<i>N</i> = 8	"Since I've already kind of mellowed out over here doing thi cognitive task, I didn't want to go back to a physical task"
	<i>N</i> = 7	"I think because it [cognitive task was involving the internet it kind

(continued on next page)

Fable 2 (continued)			
	Frequency	Example quote	
Task difficulty/demand requirements of exercise vs.		made me want to do the second task [non-exercise task] more than the	
non-exercise task		first one [exercise task], it uses less energy"	
Preference for non-exercise task	<i>N</i> = 4	"I was kind of just like oh I would rather do this than exercise"	
No effect of cognitive task on	<i>N</i> = 9	"It didn't change my outcome	
choice		because I still chose not to do it. But it did give me more time to think about if I should do it"	

Note: Multiple responses were possible.

performing a challenging task will need to exert sufficient effort to perform well. Although theorizing from Shenhav et al. (2017) propose that a sufficient amount of effort is required to successfully perform a task, results from this study suggest increases in the perceived effort requirements of a task actually lead to a decreased likelihood that a person will choose to engage in an effortful task in the first place. These findings are consistent with previous research on cognitively effortful decision-making which show cognitive fatigue causes people to avoid cognitively effortful tasks (Kool & Botvinick, 2014: Massar, Csathó, & Van der Linden, 2018). However, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to show that cognitive fatigue increases perceived effort in anticipation of performing a physical task, which shifts one's decisional balance in favour of a less effortful task. Additionally, the significant pathway between perceived effort and choice in the serial mediation model (b<sub>1</sub> coefficient = -0.04, 95% C.I. = -0.07 to -0.006, SE = 0.02, p = .02) demonstrates perceptions of effort both directly and indirectly (through benefit vs. cost valuations) affect one's choice between engaging in exercise or not. In simpler terms, results show mental fatigue amplifies perceptions of effort, such that the same task is perceived to require more effort to perform and these increased effort perceptions make people less likely to choose exercise when a sedentary alternative is available to them.

These findings are of particular interest in light of recent conceptualizations of self-control as a value-based choice (Berkman, Hutcherson, Livingston, Kahn, & Inzlicht, 2017). Previous decrements in physical performance following highly demanding cognitive tasks have been attributed to reductions in a limited resource (Bray, Martin Ginis, Hicks, & Woodgate, 2008). More recently, the validity of the resource based account of self control has been questioned and criticized (see: Friese, Loschelder, Gieseler, Frankenback, & Inzlicht, 2018; Inzlicht & Marcora, 2016). Results from this study support a conceptualization of self-control as a decision-making process wherein people are less motivated to engage in an effortful task following prior cognitive exertion and can explain observed decrements in performance as people are less willing to engage in effortful tasks.

Given evidence of effort's aversiveness (Hull, 1943; Kurzban, 2016) it is not surprising that higher perceptions of effort were associated with reduced willingness to engage in a physically demanding task. However, it is important to note that effort can also add value and take on rewarding properties (see Inzlicht et al., 2018 for review). For example, through the process of learned industriousness which involves pairing the sensation of effort with a reinforcer, effort may take on secondary rewarding properties (Eisenberger, 1992). Given half of the participants in the HCD group chose to exercise, it is possible that these participants were more "industrious" and therefore selected the more effortful task because they perceived exerting effort to be rewarding. To more holistically understand how effort perceptions affect one's choice to be physically active, future research should assess the relationship between learned industriousness and effort-based decision-making. In addition, industriousness should be investigated as a potential moderator of choice such that people with higher industriousness may be more likely to select a more effortful option despite holding higher effort Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

#### perceptions.

An interesting finding emerging from the quantitative data was that participants in both groups perceived the MVPA task to be more effortful and costly following the experimental manipulations. These findings may be contextualized within literature comparing the phenomenology and consequences of cognitive effort and boredom. According to Bench and Lench (2013), similar to fatigue, boredom is a feeling state that emerges when one's current situation is no longer stimulating and this feeling motivates them to pursue an alternate goal. Milyavskaya, Inzlicht, Johnson, and Larson (2019) recently observed participants heightened reward sensitivity following experienced boredom-inducing task, suggesting people experiencing a state of boredom may be more likely to engage in reward-seeking behaviors. In the context of the present study, having participants monitor audio content throughout the LCD task may have induced feelings of boredom, making it more likely for them to choose the task they considered to be more rewarding. In line with evidence that the experience of fatigue and boredom are phenomenologically similar (Milyavskaya et al., 2019), future research should examine whether fatigue, boredom, and other qualitatively distinguishable feeling states uniquely predict benefit vs. cost valuations and exercise choices or whether induction of similarly low-activation feeling states results in generalized demotivation to exercise.

#### 4.2. Qualitative discussion

Results from quantitative analysis are interesting to interpret in light of the qualitative findings. In particular, content from the *HCD/chose non-exercise* category maps, conceptually, onto the sequential mediation results by demonstrating that "increased feelings of fatigue resulting from the cognitive task" and "effects of the cognitive task on motivation" (i.e., benefits and cost) were the most frequently expressed reasons for choosing the non-exercise option. For example, one participant stated "At the end I put it [non-exercise task] as having advantages where the advantages were just that I could relax and not have to do anything". Also consistent with the mediation analysis, there were two instances in which participants referred to effort perceptions affecting their choice. For example, one participant stated that it would "take more effort to do the exercising task" following the HCD task compared to the nonexercise option which they indicated "would be no effort at all".

Based on predictions from the labor/leisure model, it appears contradictory that following cognitive exertion participants would seek out opportunities for physical exertion when a non-demanding option is available. However, qualitative insights from participants in the *HCD/ chose exercise* category demonstrated a predominant code reflecting a desire to switch from a mental task to a physical task. Thus, although the non-exercise task was explained as "free time" in the lab, data from the interviews suggest that some participants were motivated to exercise in order to avoid perceived cognitive demands associated with the nonexercise task.

Interestingly, two common codes, which emerged in both the *HCD/* chose exercise and *LCD/chose exercise* categories ("Change in motivation for the exercise task" and "Increased feelings of fatigue/feeling tired") suggest altered perceptions that might favor choosing the non-exercise task, yet, participants in these categories still chose to exercise. This evidence supports the idea that motivation exists on a spectrum and that shifts in motivation do not necessarily translate into shifts in behavior, particularly when only two behavioral options are available. Future research should investigate whether there is a discernible motivation threshold or tipping point that predicts when people will choose to exercise or not and whether there are certain traits or habits that may make people more willing to engage in exercise behaviors despite experiencing lower levels of motivation to do so.

#### 4.3. Practical implications

Findings from this study hold practical importance for contexts involving physically effortful decision-making such as sport and exercise. Given people's reduced willingness to engage in physicallyeffortful tasks when reporting higher levels of mental fatigue, interventions known to mitigate the effects of mental fatigue on physical task performance may also be effective strategies encouraging decisions to engage in physically effortful tasks when mentally fatigued. For example, evidence shows financial incentives increase levels of PA in adults (Mitchell et al., 2020) and attenuate effects of mental fatigue on physical performance (Brown & Bray, 2017). Findings from the present study also suggest interventions aimed to reduce anticipated effort of physical tasks (e.g., cognitive restructuring) could be effective strategies to encourage volitional engagement in physical activity. In addition, qualitative data highlight how individual-level consequences of completing cognitively-demanding tasks influence choice, suggesting that individually-tailored recommendations may be important considerations when promoting PA and exercise.

#### 4.4. Strengths and limitations

The present study builds on previous work and provides fresh evidence of factors that may affect people's decisions to exercise or not and there are a number of strengths and limitations that should be noted. Moving beyond group-based analyses and investigating psychological factors as mediators between mental fatigue and exercise choice helps to further our understanding of the mechanisms and intricacies affecting choice. Group-based analyses examine overall group effects associated with an experimental manipulation and thus, do not account for individual differences in mental fatigue that may also account for variation in motivation and behavior. We argue that analysis strategies accounting for individual-level ratings of mental fatigue may be an important complement to group-based analyses in future work.

Additionally, having the experimenter blinded to experimental group should be noted as a methodological strength, as it minimizes the potential for experimenter bias. Drawing evidence from an insufficiently active sample helps further understanding of the decision-making processes of people who are motivated enough to do some exercise, but not at a level that meets public health recommendations. A greater understanding of these processes should ultimately lead to the design of strategies that support people's decisions to engage in exercise despite experiencing thoughts and feelings that might otherwise lead to nonexercise choices. Lastly, using a mixed-methods design allows for a more holistic understanding of the effects of mental fatigue on exercise decision-making.

Among the study limitations is the fact that people's preferred mode of physical activity was not accounted for in the choice paradigm used. It is possible that one's choice between an exercise and non-exercise task would differ if they were offered a variety of exercise options other than cycling continuously on a stationary ergometer at a moderate-tovigorous intensity. Future studies should investigate the effects of mental fatigue on motivation and exercise choice allowing people to select their preferred form of exercise, which may more closely resemble decision-making experiences in naturalistic contexts. Additionally, although in-lab studies are advantageous for controlling external factors, in order to better understand what factors influence people's exercise choices in their daily lives, future work should consider incorporating ecological momentary assessment (EMA) techniques to understand exercise behaviors by sampling people's real-time experiences (Shiffman, Stone, & Hufford, 2008). Among the potential wavs this approach would be informative is that it could help explain how daily fluctuations in fatigue and other factors affect the choice to exercise in a 24-h period as opposed to a one-hour, in-lab, session.

Although the qualitative analysis in the study provided novel, participant-derived perspective, a limitation likely inherent to those

#### Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

data is attribution bias, given people are motivated to explain and draw inferences from their behavior (Tetlock & Levi, 1982) and may have been introduced when participants were asked to retrospectively justify their decisions during the qualitative interview.

#### 5. Conclusion

This mixed-methods study showed the relationship between mental fatigue and exercise choice is sequentially mediated by subjective perceptions of anticipated effort and benefit vs. cost valuations. Quantitative results demonstrate how experiencing higher levels of mental fatigue may lead to increased perceived effort in anticipation of the exercise task and subsequent reductions in benefit vs. cost valuations which decrease the likelihood of choosing to exercise. Qualitative results added important contextual relevance to interpreting quantitative findings, illustrating the roles of fatigue and other factors influencing motivation to exercise rot.

#### Author statement

The manuscript has been read and approved by both authors, requirements for authorship have been met by both authors, and each author believes this manuscript represents honest work. There are no conflicts of interest for either of the authors.

#### Declaration of competing interest

The authors have no competing interests to declare.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada and the McMaster Arts Research Board Standard Research & Performing Arts Grant.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.101924.

#### References

- Bench, S. W., & Lench, H. C. (2013). On the function of boredom. Behavioral Sciences, 3, 459–472. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs3030459
- Berkman, E. T., Hutcherson, C. A., Livingston, J. L., Kahn, L. E., & Inzlicht, M. (2017). Self-control as value-based choice. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 26, 422–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/063721417704394
- Boat, R., & Taylor, I. M. (2017). Prior self-control exertion and perceptions of pain during a physically demanding task. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 33, 1–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.07.005Borg, G. (1998). Borg's perceived exertion and pain scales. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Borg, G. (1998). Borg's perceived exertion and pain scales. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics Bray, S. R., Martin Ginis, K. A., Hicks, A. L., & Woodgate, J. (2008). Effects of selfregulatory strength depletion on muscular performance and EMG activation.
- Psychophysiology, 45, 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00625.x Brown, D. M. Y., & Bray, S. R. (2017). Effects of mental fatigue on physical endurance performance and muscle activation are attenuated by monetary incentives. *Journal* of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 39, 385–396. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2017-
- Brown, D. M. Y., & Bray, S. R. (2019). Effects of mental fatigue on exercise intentions and behavior. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 53, 405–414. https://doi.org/10.1093/ behavior.com/doi/10.1093/
- Brown, D. M. Y., Graham, J. D., Innes, K. I., Harris, S., Flemington, A., & Bray, S. R. (2020). Effects of prior cognitive exertion on physical performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Medicine, 50, 497–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40279-019-01204-8
- Brownsberger, J., Edwards, A., Crowther, R., & Cottrell, D. (2013). Impact of mental fatigue on self-paced exercise. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 34, 1029–1036. https://doi.org/10.1055/e0033-1343402
- Castro, F. G., Kellison, J. G., Boyd, S. J., & Kopak, A. (2010). A methodology for conducting integrative mixed methods research and data analyses. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 4, 342–360. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689810382916

- Chong, T. J., Bonnelle, V., & Husain, M. (2016). Quantifying motivation with effort-based decision-making paradigms in health and disease. In Progress in brain research in brain research. (Vol. 229, pp. 71-100), Elsevier,
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E., Oja, P. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 35, 1381–1395. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Eisenberger, R. (1992). Learned industriousness. Psychological Review, 99, 248–267. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.99.2.248
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. Journal of
- Advanced Nursing, 62, 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical y.e., Bucheter, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchnet, A. (2007). G. Portes J. A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146 hergill, A., Attenborough, D., & Fenton, G. (2007). *Planet Earth: Fresh water*. London, Fot
- DDC Vide Friese, M., Loschelder, D. D., Gieseler, K., Frankenbach, J., & Inzlicht, M. (2018). Is ego
- depletion real? An analysis of arguments. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 23, 107-131. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318762183
- Graham, J. D., & Bray, S. R. (2015). Self-control strength depletion reduces self-efficacy and impairs exercise performance. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 37, 477-488. ht g/10.1123/isep.
- Graham, J. D., Martin Ginis, K. A., & Bray, S. R. (2017). Exertion of self-control increases fatigue, reduces task self-efficacy, and impairs performance of resistance exercise. Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology, 6, 70-88. https://doi.org/10.1037/
- Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis? Multivariate Behavioral Research, 26, 499–510. https://doi.org/10.1207, s15327906mbr2603\_7
- Guba, F. G., & Lincolo, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin, & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research (pp. 105–117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Harris, S., & Bray, S. R. (2019). Effects of mental fatigue on exercise decision-making. Psychology of Sport and Exercise, 44, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 04.005
- Haskell, W. L., Lee, I. M., Pate, R. R., Powell, K. E., Blair, S. N., Franklin, B. A., Bauman, A. (2007). Physical activity and public health: Updated recommendation for adults from the American college of sports medicine and the American heart association. *Circulation*, 116, 1081–1093. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.107.185649
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to mediation deration and conditio ed approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Hayes, A. F., & Scharkow, M. (2013). The relative trustworthiness of inferential tests of the indirect effect in statistical mediation analysis: Does method really matter? Psychological Science, 24, 1918–1927. https://doi.org/10.1177/09567 l, C. L. (1943). Principles of behavior: An introduction to behavior theory 7613480187
- fts. Inc.
- Inzlicht, M., & Marcora, S. M. (2016). The central governor model of exercise regulation teaches us precious little about the nature of mental fatigue and self-control failure. Frontiers in Psychology, 7, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00656 Inzlicht, M., Shenhav, A., & Olivola, C. Y. (2018). The effort paradox: Effort is both costly
- and valued. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 22, 337-349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j Iodice, P., Calluso, C., Barca, L., Bertollo, M., Ripari, P., & Pezzulo, G. (2017). Fatigue
- ases the perception of future effort during decision making. Psychology of Sport Exercise, 33, 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.08.013 and Exercise, 33, 150-160. ht Kendzierski, D., & DeCarlo, K. J. (1991). Physical activity enjoyment scale: Two
- validation studies. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 13, 50-64. https://doi.org/ 10.1123/isep.13.1.
- Kool, W., & Botvinick, M. (2014). A labor/leisure tradeoff in cognitive control. Journal of
- Koon, W., & DOVINIES, M. (2014). A IADOT/JEISURE tradeoff in cognitive control. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 143, 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031048 Kool, W., McGuire, J. T., Rosen, Z. B., & Botvinick, M. M. (2010). Decision making and the avoidance of cognitive demand. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 139, 665–682. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020198 Kurzban, R. (2016). The sense of effort. Current Opinion in Psychology, 7, 67-70. https://
- Kurzban, R., Duckworth, A., Kable, J. W., & Myers, J. (2013). An opportunity cost model
- of subjective effort and task performance. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 36, 661–679. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X12003196

Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54 (2021) 101924

- Lei, M., & Lomax, R. G. (2005). The effect of varying degrees of nonnormality in structural equation modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 12, 1–27. https:// /10.1207/s15328007sem1201 1
- Lovell, G. P., El Ansari, W., & Parker, J. K. (2010). Perceived exercise benefits and barriers of non-exercising university students in the United Kingdom. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 7, 784-798. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/jierph7030784
- Martin Ginis, K. A., & Bray, S. R. (2010). Application of the limited strength model of self-regulation to understanding exercise effort, planning and adherence. *Psychology and* Health, 25, 1147-1160. http //doi.org/10.1080/0885
- Martin, S. B., Morrow, J. R., JR., Jackson, A. W., & Dunn, A. L. (2000). Variables related to meeting the CDC/ACSM physical activity guidelines. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 32, 2087–2092. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200012000-0001 Massar, S. A., Csathó, Á., & Van der Linden, D. (2018). Quantifying the motivational
- effects of cognitive fatigue through effort-based decision making. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00843 Milyavskaya, M., Inzlicht, M., Johnson, T., & Larson, M. J. (2019). Reward sensitivity
- following boredom and cognitive effort: A high-powered neurophysiological investigation. Neuropsychologia, 123, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. 8.03.033
- Mitchell, M. S., Orstad, S. L., Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Jay, M., Pakosh, M. T., et al. (2020). Financial incentives for physical activity in adults: Systematic review and meta analysis. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 54, 1259-1268. https://doi.org/10.1136/
- Norris, T., Clarke, T. C., & Schiller, J. S. (2018). Early release of selected estimates based on data from the National Health Interview Survey. National Center for Health Statistics Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/releases/released201809.htm#7A
- Pageaux, B. (2014). The psychobiological model of endurance performance: An effort-based decision-making theory to explain self-paced endurance performance. Sports Medicine, 44, 1319-1320, htt os://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0198-2
- Pluye, P., & Hong, Q. N. (2014). Combining the power of stories and the power of numbers: Mixed methods research and mixed studies reviews. Annual Review of Public Health, 35, 29-45. https://doi.org/10.1146/an alth-032013
- Shenhay, A., Musslick, S., Lieder, F., Kool, W., Griffiths, T. L., Cohen, J. D., et al. (2017) Toward a rational and mechanistic account of mental effort. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 40, 99–124. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031 neuro-072116-031526
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., & Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological momentary assessment. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 4, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. 091415
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 18, 643-662. https:// org/10.1037/h00546
- Tetlock, P. E., & Levi, A. (1982). Attribution Bias: On the inconclusiveness of the cognition-motivation debate. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 18, 68-88.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/c0022-1031(82)90082-8
   Thomas, S., Reading, J., & Shephard, R. J. (1992). Revision of the physical active readiness questionnaire (PAR-Q). *Canadian Journal of Sport Sciences*, 17, 338 338-345
- Tremblay, M. Ostomani, C. M. Sansen, I., Paterson, D. H., Latimer, A. E., Rhodes, R. E., ... Duggan, M. (2011). New Canadian physical activity guidelines. *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism*, 36, 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1139/ 1-009
- Van Cutsem, J., Marcora, S., De Pauw, K., Bailey, S., Meeusen, R., & Roelands, B. (2017).
- Van Cutsem, J., Marcora, S., De rauw, K., Baiey, S., Meeusen, K., & Koeianos, B. (2017). The effects of mental fatigue on physical performance: A systematic review. Sports Medicine, 47, 1569–1588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0672-0 Van Dongen, H. P., Caldwell, J. A., Jr., & Caldwell, J. L. (2011). Individual differences in cognitive vulnerability to fatigue in the laboratory and in the workplace. In Progress in brain r arch (Vol. 190, pp. 145-153). Elsev
- Warburton, D. E. R., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2017). Health benefits of physical activity: A systematic review of current systematic reviews. Current Opinion in Cardiology, 32, 541-556, https://doi.org/10.1097/HCO.000000000
- Wewers, M. E., & Lowe, N. K. (1990). A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. Research in Nursing & Health, 13, 227-236. ur 4770130405 doi.org/10.1002/
- Williams, D. M., Papandonatos, G. D., Napolitano, M. A., Lewis, B. A., Whiteley, J. A., & Marcus, B. H. (2006). Perceived enjoyment moderates the efficacy of an individually tailored physical activity intervention. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 28, 300-309, https://doi.org/10.1123/isep.28.3.30
- Englert, C (2016). The strength model of self-control in sport and exercise psychology. Frontiers in Psychology, 7, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00314



*Figure S1*. Mental fatigue over time by group. Bars represent standard error. HCD = high cognitive demand; LCD = low cognitive demand.



*Figure S2*. RPE-M (rating of perceived exertion – mental) over time by group. Bars represent standard error. HCD = high cognitive demand; LCD = low cognitive demand.

# Ph.D Thesis – S. Harris; McMaster University – Kinesiology

# Appendix

0	· 1 C	• . •
Ouestion	guide for	interview
$\mathcal{L}$	0	

f the
sion.
r
r

# **CHAPTER 3**

# Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting

# Preamble

Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting is the second study in the dissertation series. This study examined the role of intensity and duration on motivation to engage in physical activity using an online effort discounting paradigm among a sample of university students. A secondary objective of this study was to examine whether effort discounting was influenced by levels of mental fatigue.

The manuscript has been accepted for publication in the *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*. The accepted word version of the manuscript (formatted according to the *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology* author guidelines) is included in the dissertation as accepted for publication.

The copyright for this manuscript is currently held by Human Kinetics (the publisher for the *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*). As stated on the Transfer of Copyright form "The authors explicitly reserve the following rights: ... The right to use all or part of this article in future works of their own, such as dissertations, lectures, reviews, or textbooks" (see Appendix D. 2).

# Contribution of Study 2 to overall dissertation

Study 2 builds on the findings of Study 1 by investigating how parameters such as intensity and duration used to define physical activity guidelines and prescriptions influence motivation for engaging in physical activity. Using an effort discounting paradigm, we were able to extend experimental work from Study 1 by examining changes in motivation not assessed using a binary choice outcome. In addition, choice outcomes included different types of physical activities based on people's preferences. Results provide partial support indicating higher levels of mental fatigue are associated with greater discounting of vigorous-intensity physical activity. Findings suggest mental fatigue makes physical activity feel more costly, consistent with findings from Study 1.

# Ph.D Thesis – S. Harris; McMaster University – Kinesiology

# Abstract

Physical activity (PA) guidelines are informed by epidemiological evidence but do not account for people's motivation for exerting physical effort. Previous research shows people are less motivated to engage in moderate-to-vigorous intensity PA when fatigued. In a two-study series we investigated how intensity and duration affected people's willingness to engage in PA using an effort discounting paradigm. A secondary purpose was to examine whether effort discounting was affected by mental fatigue. Both studies revealed a significant intensity X duration interaction demonstrating a reduced willingness to engage in PA of higher intensities across increasing duration levels. Study 1 demonstrated greater effort discounting for vigorous-intensity PA with increasing mental fatigue, however, this effect was not observed in Study 2. Findings provide novel insight towards people's motivation for engaging in PA based on the properties of the task and some evidence suggesting feelings of fatigue may also influence motivation to exert physical effort.

Keywords: behavioral economics; motivation, decision-making; exercise

# Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting

Current physical activity (PA) guidelines recommend adults engage in at least 150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity (MVPA) and two musclestrengthening activities each week, in addition to several hours of light intensity physical activity (LPA) within a 24-hour day (Ross et al., 2020). These guidelines are based on evidence showing a dose-response relation between MVPA and risk of chronic disease and all-cause mortality (Warburton et al., 2010) as well as recent evidence suggesting positive effects of LPA on health and mortality (Chastin et al., 2019). While guidelines are developed to inform the public's decisions about to their PA behaviors, they are not designed to persuade or motivate people to become more active (Latimer-Cheung et al., 2013). Recent estimates suggest the majority of Canadian adults do not accumulate the recommended amounts of MVPA each week and 3% of adults engage in no MVPA at all (Clarke et al., 2019). While it is necessary for epidemiological evidence to inform the development of PA guidelines, it is also important to consider people's motivation for engaging in the intensities and durations of PA recommended in those guidelines.

Many traditional assessments of motivation rely on questionnaire-based measures such as the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (McAuley et al., 1989; Ryan, 1982) which are potentially subject to biases. For example, social desirability bias may cause participants to respond in a way they believe is more favourable for their self-esteem or social impression management (Paulhus, 1991). In addition, when responding to traditional questionnaire-based measures, people may be likely to respond in relation to their close

friends and peers rather than relative to society at large (Odum, 2011). Thus, alternate methods for measuring people's motivation, indirectly, may provide novel insights.

As an alternative to traditional questionnaire-based assessments of motivation, value discounting methodologies have been developed. One form: delay discounting measures the extent to which an outcome (e.g., a reward) decreases in subjective value as the time to its receipt increases (Green et al., 1994; Johnson & Bickel, 2002; Odum, 2011). For example, Rachlin et al. (1991) showed people who are offered a monetary reward are willing to accept a smaller amount of money immediately rather than a larger amount later in the future. Another form of discounting: *effort discounting*, assesses people's willingness to exert effort to obtain rewards (Sugiwaka & Okouchi, 2004). One method of assessing effort discounting involves making a series of choices between engaging in an effortful behavior for a higher reward or a non-effortful behavior for a lower or equivalent reward. For example, offering \$5 for physically climbing two flights of stairs vs. taking an elevator to the same level for \$1. By offering a series of effortful and non-effortful choices with varying reward options, the subjective value of a reward can be determined based on one's choice patterns and used as an indicator of motivation towards the effortful behavior. Behaviors and rewards may be real or hypothetical and both discounting methodologies have revealed similar findings (Odum, 2011).

Responding to one's preference for effortful versus non-effortful alternatives offers an alternative approach to assessing motivation that may alleviate some biases associated with more transparent, or obvious, question and answer measures (Odum, 2011). Although discounting methods also rely on self-report, when choosing between

effortful versus non-effortful options in a series of responses, people are not being asked to report something about themselves, but rather what their preferences are between two alternatives. Further, in responding to a series of choices, since a socially desirable answer is less obvious, people are less likely to be influenced by others or respond based on conscious or unconscious biases. In addition, people make choices between options based on what they prefer in the moment, which allows insight into transient personal and situational factors that may influence their motivation to exert effort. While effort discounting has not yet been widely used in sport and exercise psychology, this innovative and novel method is a promising avenue for assessing people's motivation for engaging in effortful tasks such as PA that are subject to a variety of personal and situational barriers such as lack of time, poor weather, and fatigue (Salmon et al., 2003).

Previous research utilizing effort discounting paradigms to investigate motivation for physical tasks demonstrates decreases in the subjective value of a given reward as the effort required to obtain the reward increases (Hartmann et al., 2013; Ostaszewski et al., 2013; Sugiwaka & Okouchi, 2004) indicating a reduced willingness to exert greater amounts of effort. However, the physically-effortful tasks represented in these studies, such as household cleaning (Sugiwaka & Okouchi, 2004) and stair-climbing (Ostaszewski et al., 2013), are not consistent with the types of PA people might engage in during their leisure time. Effortful tasks in these studies are also not defined by parameters such as duration and intensity which are commonly used for PA prescription and can be contextualized within public health PA guidelines. Furthermore, these studies

do not account for variations in physiological or psychological states which may situationally bias motivation for engaging in effortful tasks.

In one study addressing these limitations, Iodice et al. (2017) investigated the effects of fatigue on effort discounting. In this study, participants made a series of choices between exercising at a submaximal intensity or not exercising for various durations. Specifically, participants responded to a series of choices between cycling at 70% of their VO<sub>2max</sub> for 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, or 40 minutes or exerting no physical effort for the same durations of time. Participants were offered varying amounts of money for choosing to exercise (i.e.,  $15 \in 20 \in 25 \in 30 \in 35 \in 0.55$ , or  $40 \in 10^{-10}$  for each duration, respectively) or  $10 \in 10^{-10}$  for not exerting any physical effort. Participants responded to the same choice pairings under two conditions - one in which they were physically fatigued from having exercised vigorously beforehand and another in which they were not fatigued, having not exercised beforehand. Overall, results showed people's preference (choice) of the non-effortful option increased linearly as the durations of exercise increased, indicating discounting of the subjective value of rewards with increasing levels of effort. Furthermore, at every level of effort, participants choices revealed a lower subjective value of the same reward when they were fatigued compared to a rested state.

Although Iodice et al.'s (2017) research illustrates fatigue may negatively biases choices to exert physical effort, it is important to acknowledge the context in which their study was conducted. That is, assessing the effect of physical fatigue on motivation to exercise after people have already performed a lengthy bout of vigorous exercise stands in contrast to how fatigue may generally manifest as a de-motivator or barrier to physical

activity. More specifically, given the majority of the population is not physically active (Clarke et al., 2019), fatigue due to having previously exercised provides little information about the potential role of fatigue in most people's decisions to exercise or not in the first place. Similarly, while being physically fatigued may negatively affect motivation to exercise, fatigue sensations other than those manifested by physical exertion may influence people's choices.

Mental fatigue refers to a psychobiological state experienced during or after prolonged and challenging activity (Boksem & Topps, 2008). Performing physically demanding tasks when mentally-fatigued has been shown to impair subsequent performance of tasks requiring muscular and cardiovascular endurance (Brown et al., 2020). Recent evidence also indicates mental fatigue biases decision-making in favour of sedentary tasks over PA (Harris & Bray, 2021). However, to the best of our knowledge the effects of mental fatigue on effort discounting of physical tasks have not been investigated. Further, investigating effort discounting for PA of varying intensities and durations stands to provide novel and valuable information about people' willingness to engage in PA based on characteristics of activities that are recommended by current PA guidelines.

The primary purpose of the present study was to examine the effects of varying levels of PA intensity and duration on people's subjective valuations of PA using an effort discounting paradigm. A secondary purpose was to investigate the potential moderating effect of mental fatigue on subjective valuations of PA. We present two studies in which participants, who self-reported not currently engaging in recommended

levels of MVPA, made a series of hypothetical choices between engaging in PA of varied intensity levels (light, moderate, vigorous) and durations (10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60 minutes) versus a sedentary behavior for the same durations. Since PA of higher intensities and longer durations require a greater volume or quantity of energy/effort expenditure (Howley, 2001), it was hypothesized that greater effort discounting would be observed for PA of higher intensities and longer durations. Further, based on research showing: 1) decreases in the subjective value of PA when fatigued (Iodice et al., 2017) and 2) mental fatigue negatively biases choice away from PA (Harris & Bray, 2021), it was hypothesized that mental fatigue would moderate the effects of intensity and duration on effort discounting such that higher levels of subjective mental fatigue would be associated with greater effort discounting.

## **General Method**

## Procedures

Data collection was conducted online using LimeSurvey (http://www.limesurvey.org). Participants were eligible to participate in the study if they were between the ages of 17 and 30 years and self-reported engaging in less than 150 minutes of MVPA weekly over the past six months. Researchers provided participants a link to the study website, where they gave informed consent and completed questionnaires assessing demographics, habitual MVPA, and their PA participation during the day prior to completing the survey. Next, participants were familiarized with Borg's (1998) CR-10 rating of perceived exertion (RPE) scale ranging from 0 (no exertion at all) to 10 (maximal exertion) using text instructions (see Appendix A in supplemental file). Participants were then informed that the different PA intensities they would respond to questions about throughout the study would be defined using four different ratings on the RPE scale. Specifically, an RPE of 0 (verbal anchor of "nothing at all") was used to define sedentary activities such as sitting on a chair, sleeping, or watching TV. An RPE of 2 (verbal anchor of "weak") was used to define light-intensity PA including activities they would be able to perform without an increase in breathing rate, be able to carry on a conversation while performing, and feel they can maintain for hours (e.g., easy walking, yoga, bowling, or fishing). An RPE of 4 (between the verbal anchors of "moderate" and "strong") was used to define moderate-intensity PA including activities that are somewhat comfortable but becoming noticeably more challenging where they are breathing heavily but can still engage in a brief conversation (e.g., fast walking, easy bicycling, volleyball, or baseball). An RPE of 7 (verbal anchor of "very" strong") was used to define vigorous-intensity PA including activities that are borderline uncomfortable where they are continuously short of breath but can speak a sentence (e.g., running, hockey, soccer, or fast swimming).

Following their familiarization to the RPE rating system, participants were provided with the following instructions adapted from Ostaszewski et al., (2013):

> Our study involves making a series of choices between specific behaviours that are linked to different amounts of money. Although the choices are hypothetical, we ask that you indicate your preference as if you were actually going to engage in the behaviour and receive the money. We are interested in your preferences. There are no right or wrong answers. We
do not have any expectations regarding your behaviour other than we ask you to choose according to your own preferences. The more honest you are about your decisions, the greater scientific value our results will have! On the following pages, you will see "Option A" on the left and "Option B" on the right. Option A offers you an amount of money that requires you to engage in physical activity at a specific intensity for a certain period of time to receive. Option B will offer you an amount of money that you could receive with no effort, and this amount changes with every choice. You will make a series of choices by checking the box beside one of the two options – A or B. We ask that you do not go back to change decisions that you have already made. Please make sure to respond to each choice. Ratings of perceived exertion (RPEs) will be used to describe the different physical activity intensities. Please note that there are 180 questions in total, which are divided into 3 sections. Once you begin this survey you will not be able to go back to previously answered questions.

Participants were then randomly assigned to complete one of six versions of the EDQ in which the order of presentation of intensity was counterbalanced (i.e., light-moderate-vigorous; light-vigorous-moderate, etc...) across the sample. Each version of the EDQ was separated into three, discrete sections consisting of 60 items. Prior to responding to each 60-item section, participants rated their level of mental fatigue.

## **Tasks and Measures**

Effort discounting questionnaire (EDQ). The EDQ was developed for this study based on the methodology described by Ostaszewski et al. (2013), with additional questions to capture the specific intensity-duration combination parameters. The EDQ included 18 conditions based on a 3 (intensity; light, moderate, vigorous) X 6 (duration; 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60 minutes) design. Each intensity level was presented as an entire section of 60 questions and duration was presented within each section in ascending order (i.e., 10 questions per duration, beginning with 10 minutes).

The effortful (PA) option in each choice pairing was associated with a fixed reward of \$20.00 Canadian dollars (CAD) and the non-effortful (sedentary) option was associated with rewards presented from \$2.00 CAD to \$20.00 CAD, ascending by \$2.00 CAD increments. Choice pairings were presented in two adjacent columns and participants were asked to record their preference between the effortful-reward combination (presented on the left-hand column) and corresponding non-effortful-reward combination (presented on the right-hand column) for each pairing.

All choices were hypothetical such that participants were not expected to perform any chosen option and received no money for their choices. Previous research has found no difference in discounting rates when people were offered hypothetical and real rewards for their choices (Johnson & Bickel, 2002). Point of indifference (POI) scores were obtained by averaging the reward values associated with the sedentary option for the last choice pairing when the PA option was chosen and the first choice pairing when the sedentary option was chosen for each intensity-duration condition. For example, if a participant selected the \$20 CAD reward to engage in moderate-intensity PA for 40

minutes rather than the sedentary option when offered \$2 CAD through \$10 CAD then switched over to select the sedentary option when offered \$12 CAD, their POI value for that condition would be \$11 CAD (i.e., \$10+\$12 / 2). This calculation reflects the monetary amount needed to be offered for the sedentary task for choice to be equivalent (indifferent) between the PA and sedentary options. Thus, a lower POI score is reflective of less motivation to exercise (i.e., participants are more willing to accept less money to forego exercise).

Participants who always selected the PA option within a given intensity-duration condition were assigned a POI value of \$20, while those who always selected the sedentary option for a given intensity-duration condition were assigned a POI value of \$2. These values were chosen to reflect the maximum and minimum reward possible, respectively, within the range of rewards offered in this study. POI scores were normalized by expressing their value as a proportion of the maximum, \$20, reward value (e.g., if a POI for an intensity-duration combination was \$3, the proportional score was 3/20 = .15).

**Subjective mental fatigue.** Participants were instructed to: "*Please indicate the point that you feel represents your perception of your current state of mental fatigue*" on a scale ranging from 0 (energetic/no fatigue) to 10 (worst possible fatigue) prior to completing each section of the EDQ. Mental fatigue ratings reported at the beginning of each survey section were similar (Study 1, light: M = 5.65, SD = 2.28, moderate: M = 5.64, SD = 2.19, vigorous: M = 5.51, SD = 2.34; Study 2, light: M = 5.57, SD = 2.23, moderate: M = 5.63, SD = 2.29, vigorous: M = 5.64, SD = 2.30). The intraclass

correlation coefficient (ICC) demonstrated strong reliability with an ICC of .94 (95% C.I = .91 to .95) and .95 (95% C.I = .94 to .96) for Study 1 and Study 2, respectively, based on a multiple measurement, absolute agreement, two-way mixed-effects model (Koo & Li, 2016). Thus, for each study a single measure: mean mental fatigue was calculated by averaging the three ratings.

#### **Covariates.**

*MVPA*. Given the EDQ required participants to choose between PA and sedentary activities, we felt it was important to control for habitual MVPA as people who engage in more regular MVPA may be more likely to choose to engage in PA. MVPA was assessed using four items selected from the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ; Craig et al., 2003). Participants reported how many days per week and minutes per day they spent engaging in each of moderate and vigorous intensity activity during a typical 7-day period in the past three to five months. Minutes / day were multiplied by number of days / week for each intensity and summed to yield an overall score of MVPA (minutes / week).

*DPA*. In order to control for the possibility that people who already participated in PA during the day, prior to completing the EDQ, may have been less motivated to choose to engage in hypothetical PA on the EDQ, daily PA (DPA) participation was assessed. Participants reported the number of minutes they spent engaging in each of moderate and vigorous intensity PA, previously in the day, on the day the survey was completed, which were summed to create an overall DPA score (minutes / day).

*Physical activity enjoyment.* In order to control for the possibility that people who enjoy PA more may be more motivated to choose to engage in hypothetical PA on the EDQ compared to people who enjoy PA less, physical activity enjoyment was assessed using the Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale (PACES; Kendzierski & DeCarlo, 1991). Consistent with other studies (Williams et al., 2006), the wording of the original scale was altered from "Please rate how you feel *at the moment* about the physical activity you have been doing," to "Please rate how you feel *while* engaging in physical activity," to represent participants' overall enjoyment of PA. The PACES consists of 18 bipolar statements scored on a 7-point scale. Items were summed to create a composite score.

## **Data Analysis**

Data were summarized as means and standard deviations for continuous variables and frequencies were summarized for sex. Outliers for MVPA and DPA were recoded using Winsorization (Leys et al., 2019). Winsorization at the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile was chosen based on recommendations from Liao et al. (2016) suggesting a relatively larger percentile of Winsorization is sufficient to accommodate the effects of outliers to achieve an acceptable Type I error rate with large sample sizes. Six mental fatigue values from Study 2 were excluded for being outside of the possible range (0 – 10) and were omitted from mean calculations.

Marginal models were computed to examine the effects of intensity, duration, and mental fatigue on POI scores when controlling for covariates. Intensity level was coded as categorical and included light, moderate and vigorous intensities. Duration and mental fatigue were coded as continuous. To achieve the best model fit, independent and

exchangeable covariance structures were evaluated and tested using the Akaike information criterion (AIC). Significant interactions were deconstructed by examining slope estimates (i.e., rates of change) of POI scores. Residuals were visually assessed to verify the assumptions of normality. The alpha criterion was set to 0.05. Data management and analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Version 26.0 and STATA version 14.2.

## Study 1

#### **Participants**

One hundred and fifty undergraduates provided informed consent to participate in the study. Six participants provided incomplete responses to the EDQ questionnaire and three participants selected the same option for all 180 EDQ questions and were excluded, allowing analyses of data from a total of 141 participants (n = 22 males,  $M_{age} = 18.72$ , SD = 1.22 years). The study was reviewed and approved by an institutional research ethics board prior to any recruitment and data collection. Participants received partial course credit for participation.

## Results

Descriptive statistics for variables included in the model are presented in Table 1. The first model included intensity, duration, mental fatigue, and all 2-way and 3-way interactions. The model was statistically significant ( $\chi^2(14) = 989.76, p < .001$ ); however, since the 3-way interactions were not significant (ps > .26) they were removed and the model was re-computed without them. The subsequent model including up to only the 2way interactions was significant ( $\chi^2(12) = 988.03, p < .001$ ) and the likelihood ratio test

confirmed it was not different from the previously tested model ( $\chi^2(2) = 1.22, p = .54$ ). The second model was used as it was the most parsimonious model and an independent covariance structure best fit the data.

Model coefficients and 95% confidence intervals are presented in Table 2. Findings showed lower POI scores across greater durations and intensities (Figures 1A and 2A), however, these results were not significant. Results showed significant intensity X duration and intensity X mental fatigue interactions (see Figures 3A and 4A, respectively). Total MVPA and PA enjoyment were significant covariates. Slope estimates for light, moderate, and vigorous intensities across duration were -.002, -.004, and -.007, respectively. Slope estimates were all significantly different from zero (all ps < 0.001), indicating a decrease in POI scores with increases in duration. Post-hoc comparisons, decomposing the intensity X duration interaction, revealed that POI scores decreased at a greater rate for vigorous intensity PA over longer durations compared to light (p < .001) and moderate (p = .0002) intensity PA, and that POI scores decreased at a greater rate for moderate compared to light intensity PA (p = .002). Thus, in support of our first hypotheses, results demonstrate greater discounting across duration given increases PA intensity, indicating reduced willingness to engage in PA of higher intensity and longer duration.

Post-hoc decomposition of the intensity X mental fatigue interactions revealed that as mental fatigue increases, slope estimates for POI scores of light (.007) and moderate intensity (.003) PA were no different from 0 (ps > .09). However, there was a significant negative slope for vigorous intensity PA (-.01, p = .008) indicating POI scores

for vigorous intensity PA decreased with increasing levels of mental fatigue.

Comparisons of slope parameters between intensities showed no difference between light and moderate intensity PA (p = .52) whereas the slope for vigorous intensity PA was significantly different from both light (p = .002) and moderate intensity PA (p = .01). Overall, results provide partial support for the hypothesized effects, showing no effect of mental fatigue on effort discounting for light and moderate-intensity PA. However, for vigorous-intensity PA, significant discounting was observed, suggesting not only a reduced willingness to engage in vigorous-intensity PA compared to moderate and light intensity PA, but a greater aversion with higher levels of mental fatigue.

## Study 2

#### **Participants**

Two hundred and eighty-one undergraduate students provided informed consent for the study. Thirty-eight participants provided incomplete responses to the EDQ questionnaire and eleven selected the same option for all 180 EDQ questions and were excluded, allowing analysis of data from a total of 232 participants (n = 38 males,  $M_{age} =$ 18.58, SD = .97 years). The study was reviewed and approved by an institutional research ethics board prior to any recruitment and data collection. Participants received partial course credit for participation.

## Results

Descriptive statistics for variables included in the model are presented in Table 1. The first model including intensity, duration, mental fatigue and all 2- and 3-way interactions was statistically significant ( $\chi^2(14) = 1726.10, p < .001$ ), however, the 3-way

interactions were not significant (ps > .67) and removed from the model. The subsequent model including up to only the 2-way interactions was also significant ( $\chi^2(12) = 1725.81$ , p < .001) and the likelihood ratio test confirmed that it was not different from the fully saturated model ( $\chi^2(2) = .20, p = .91$ ). The second model was used as it was the most parsimonious model and an independent covariance structure best fit the data.

Model coefficients and 95% confidence intervals are presented in Table 3. Results showed significant main effects of duration and intensity (Figures 1B and 2B, respectively) and a significant intensity X duration interaction (see Figure 3B). Total MVPA, DPA, and PA enjoyment were significant covariates. Slope estimates for light, moderate, and vigorous intensities across duration were -.002, -.006, and -.007, respectively and were all significantly different from zero (all ps < .001) indicating POI decreased with increasing PA durations. Post-hoc comparisons, computed to decompose the intensity X duration interaction revealed that POI scores decreased at a greater rate for vigorous intensity PA compared to both light and moderate intensity PA, and that POI scores decreased at a greater rate for moderate compared to light intensity PA (all ps < .001). Consistent with Study 1, results demonstrate POI scores decrease at a steeper rate across duration given increased PA intensity. Unlike Study 1, there was no interaction of mental fatigue X intensity (Figure 4B).

## **General Discussion**

The purpose of this two-study investigation was to examine the effects of PA intensity and duration on subjective valuations of PA as well as the potential moderating effect of mental fatigue using an effort discounting paradigm. Results from both studies

demonstrated greater effort discounting across duration with increases in PA intensity, providing overall support for the first hypothesis. Results from Study 1 provided partial support for the second hypothesis, demonstrating greater discounting for vigorousintensity PA with higher levels of mental fatigue, however, this effect was not observed in Study 2.

Using an effort discounting paradigm, this study applied a novel methodology to examine people's motivation to engage in physical activities of varying intensities and durations. Main effects of intensity and duration were significant in Study 2 suggesting an overall reduced willingness to engage in tasks requiring greater effort. Although these findings were not observed in Study 1, the model estimates of the main effect of duration and intensity are similar to those of Study 2 (see Figures 1 and 2) suggesting Study 1 was underpowered to detect a significant effect. However, the intensity X duration interaction found in both studies demonstrates how the rate of discounting differs between PA of different intensities across increases in duration. Specifically, PA of higher intensities is discounted at a greater rate than lower-intensity PA suggesting people are more willing to engage in PA at lower intensities for prolonged durations. These results also make sense in terms of the energy requirements of lower vs. higher intensity activities, which enable people to plan and engage in light-moderate activities such as brisk walking or hiking for extended durations.

Findings are consistent with previous research from cognitive and physical effort discounting (Ostaszewski et al., 2013) demonstrating a reduced willingness to engage in tasks requiring greater effort. This finding is not surprising considering evidence of

effort's aversiveness (Hull, 1943; Kurzban, 2016), however, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to show the interactive effects of different types of effort parameters (i.e., intensity and duration) on effort discounting. Findings may also be contextualized within the theory of effort minimization in PA (TEMPA; Cheval & Boisgontier, 2021) which suggests the effort associated with PA is perceived as a cost to be avoided or minimized. In these studies, we saw a greater preference for engaging in sedentary tasks in response to increases in effort requirements of the PA task such as intensity and duration. The TEMPA also suggests that expected effort influences people's decisions to initiate a behaviour which can lead to one's preference for a lower-effort alternative which is consistent with study findings as well.

Importantly, quantifying effort level by parameters that are commonly used to define exercise prescriptions and public health guidelines extends previous effort discounting work. For example, investigating both intensity and duration provides insight into people's decision-making specific to hypothetical leisure time PA behaviors rather than more general forms of physical effort expenditure. Accordingly, the present findings lend practical relevance compared to the existing discounting literature as PA prescriptions are typically defined using Frequency, Intensity, Time, and Type of exercise (FITT principle; Riebe et al., 2018) with recent recommendations to also consider enjoyment in PA prescriptions (Burnet et al., 2019). In this study, participants were encouraged to consider their preferred type of PA for each intensity level which is comparable to decision-making they would be faced with when actually making these decisions to act or not. Thus, results from this study further our understanding of PA-

related decision-making contextualized within important parameters that are considered when choosing between engaging in PA versus competing sedentary alternatives.

The secondary objective of this study was to examine the effects of mental fatigue on subjective valuations of PA. Results from Study 1 showed a decrease in POI scores as self-reported mental fatigue increased for vigorous intensity PA. These results are consistent with findings from Iodice et al. (2017) showing physical fatigue makes people less likely to choose to exercise in the presence of a sedentary alternative. Since the vigorous intensity level used in this study (RPE = 7/10) is comparable to the intensity level used in the study by Iodice and colleagues (70% of one's  $VO_2$  max), these findings collectively show people experiencing greater levels of fatigue are less willing to choose to engage in vigorous intensity PA. However, this is the first study to show that motivation to engage in PA of lower intensity levels is unaffected by fatigue. An important difference to note is that participants in the study conducted by Iodice et al. (2017) were purposely fatigued using strenuous exercise prior to completing the discounting questionnaire whereas participants in these studies were asked to report their mental fatigue in the absence of any experimental manipulation. Thus, the effects of mental fatigue observed in these studies may be smaller than effects observed by Iodice et al. (2017) and more reflective of motivation to engage in PA in people's naturalistic environment.

While recent conceptualizations of fatigue constructs have encouraged a holistic approach for measuring fatigue (Micklewright et al., 2017), recent evidence demonstrates mental fatigue is linked to decreased performance on physical tasks (Brown et al., 2020)

and makes people less likely to choose to engage in PA when also offered a sedentary alternative (Harris & Bray 2021) warranting further investigation of mental fatigue, specifically, on effort discounting. As noted earlier, Iodice et al. (2017) demonstrated physical fatigue following a vigorous bout of exercise may alter effort discounting; however, as most adults are not sufficiently active, fatigue due to previous physical exertion may not affect PA decision-making to the same extent as mental fatigue that may be experienced independent of any prior physical exertion (e.g., following cognitively demanding activities). Thus, examining how mental fatigue may modify effort discounting extends the work of Iodice et al. (2017) to help account for PA decision-making among the majority of the population who are not meeting PA guideline recommendations and holds practical relevance to understanding current patterns of inactivity.

Although effects of mental fatigue on vigorous-intensity PA motivation was shown in Study 1, this effect was not observed in Study 2. Further inspection of the mental fatigue X intensity interaction from Study 2 showed that when mental fatigue scores = 0 for vigorous intensity PA, the POI estimate was .58 (95% CI = .54 to .62). In contrast, the estimate in Study 1, when mental fatigue = 0 yielded an estimate of .64 (95% CI = .59 to. 69). However, when mental fatigue was at maximum (i.e., 10/10) both studies yielded similar estimated values (Study 1 = .53, 95% CI = .49 to .57; Study 2 = .55, 95% CI = .52 to .58). Together, these findings suggest that at lower levels of mental fatigue, participants in Study 2 were less willing to engage in vigorous-intensity PA than participants in Study 1. One explanation for this difference may be due to lower self-

reported levels of habitual PA by participants from Study 2 who reported engaging in 20 minutes less of MVPA each week than those in Study 1. Thus, it seems possible to infer that, for people who are less active, there may be a general aversion to vigorous intensity PA regardless of how much mental fatigue they are feeling. Additionally, participants in Study 2 reported engaging in significantly more DPA prior to completing the survey which could also explain why these participants were less willing to engage in higher-intensity PA, even at shorter durations.

Notably, as participants in both studies self-reported engaging in 150 minutes or less of weekly MVPA, study findings hold practical relevance to PA promotion efforts targeting the large proportion of the population who are insufficiently active or inactive (Clarke et al., 2019). Specifically, changes in one's willingness to engage in PA appear to be dependent on both intensity and duration, with some evidence suggesting motivation may be influenced by current levels of mental fatigue. As PA guidelines are not designed with the aim to persuade people to become more active (Latimer-Cheung et al., 2013), findings from this study highlight the importance of considering how much effort people are willing to invest in PA. Accordingly, messaging designed to promote PA to people who are not active at PA guidelines levels should take into consideration that people's motivation to engage in MVPA may be more sensitive to the duration of recommended activities than lighter intensity PA and that vigorous PA may not be a recommendation for people when they are experiencing higher levels of mental fatigue. In addition to considering epidemiological data, promotion efforts should be mindful of people's

general motivation for engaging in PA at different intensities and durations in addition to psychological contexts which may also affect motivation.

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study examining the effects of intensity, duration, and mental fatigue on PA effort discounting and there are several strengths and limitations which should be noted for future research in this area. First, using a novel effort discounting paradigm rather than traditional questionnaire-based measures as an alternate measure of motivation should be viewed as a strength as it is less susceptible to common self-reporting biases. In addition, defining intensity-level with subjective ratings of perceived exertion holds practical relevance to PA in real-world settings where people often select a level of intensity based on their subjective perceptions in the moment. Also, this study has more clear application to real-world PA decision-making than previous examinations of effort discounting for physically effortful tasks by having participants consider tasks they may choose to engage in based on duration and intensity characteristics of the activities as captured by public health PA guidelines. As a result, study findings may have important implications for health promotion efforts.

Study findings hold practical importance for the promotion and prescription of physical activity behaviours. For example, across both studies it was consistently shown that people are more willing to engage in activities of shorter durations at each intensity level. These findings provide some support for the promotion of exercise "snacks" involving several shorter bouts of PA throughout one's day rather than longer continuous bouts (Francois et al., 2014). Along these lines future work should investigate POI scores

for durations shorter than 10 minutes consistent with the "every minute counts" approach to PA (Fan et al., 2013) to support the development of recommendations for exercise "snacks" of varying intensity levels. Encouraging intermittent bouts of shorter duration PA within a day may be an effective way to increase PA of all intensities, but particularly for vigorous-intensity PA that had much lower POI scores at a 10-minute duration than light- and moderate-intensity PA across both studies. Further, when encouraging people to engage in longer-duration PA, practitioners and exercise professionals should consider promoting light-intensity PA which consistently had a higher POI score at each duration level, and it is less likely to be biased by feelings of mental fatigue as demonstrated in Study 1. Consistent with evidence highlighting the health benefits of engaging in lightintensity PA (Chastin et al., 2019) and PA recommendations such as the 24-hour movement guidelines promoting "trading in" sedentary behaviors with light-intensity PA (Ross et al., 2020) further work should continue examining health benefits of lightintensity PA and encourage increased awareness of the value of engaging in PA of any intensity over sedentary behavior.

Purposely sampling participants who self-reported not currently engaging in levels of PA recommended by public health guidelines can be seen as both a strength and limitation. While it is unclear whether findings relate to either the initiation or maintenance of PA, information relating to people's motivation to invest effort towards engaging in PA gained from people who are insufficiently active can be used to inform targeted promotional efforts aimed to increase PA levels in people who are inactive or insufficiently active. However, due to the lack of precision in self-report PA measures, it

is also possible that some participants included in the study may have been achieving or surpassing current PA guidelines. Future studies may consider using more objective methods (e.g., accelerometry) to assess PA and include participants who are meeting or exceeding current physical activity guidelines to examine effort-based motivation for PA more comprehensively.

The fact that participants in this study made choices based on hypothetical rewards and were not expected to follow through on any of the choices they made may also be seen as limitations. Since participants did not receive any rewards based on their choices and were not expected to engage in behavior consistent with any of their choices it is unclear how study results may translate to PA decision-making scenarios with real rewards that are contingent on successfully enacting the selected options. However, concerns in these regards should be somewhat tempered in light of previous research showing similar discounting patterns between real and hypothetical choice-dependent rewards (Johnson & Bickel, 2002; Odum, 2011). Future research on effort based decision making should make use of hybrid methods where participants enact a selected behavior based on their choices in order to receive the associated reward (e.g., Iodice et al., 2017). In addition, findings from this study are limited to motivation related to more acute rewards or benefits expected from a single session of PA and do not provide information relating to how delayed benefits of PA, which underlie public health recommendations, may influence motivation.

Further, inconsistent results from Studies 1 and 2 limit the conclusions drawn on the effects of mental fatigue on effort discounting and warrants future investigation.

Finally, the limited demographic information collected from participants is an important limitation to note. Specifically, socio-demographic factors including employment status, living arrangement, gender identity and gender expression may influence people's motivation for engaging in exercise and sport behaviours. For example, factors such as socio-economic status (Griffiths, Moore, & Brunton, 2022) and perceived safety among medically transitioning transgender adults (Jones et al., 2017) have been shown to influence PA behaviours which were not measured in this study.

Despite these limitations, the present study provides a useful framework for examining effort discounting within PA and exercise contexts as well as novel information about people's motivation to engage in various intensities and durations of PA. Future work can continue to explore the effects of intensity, duration, and mental fatigue on motivation for engaging in PA compared to sedentary alternatives. Future research should also investigate strategies to increase motivation for engaging in PA measured using effort discounting to inform the development of interventions aimed to increase PA motivation and ultimately behavior.

This study was the first to examine effort discounting as a measure of motivation for PA involving duration and intensity parameters consistent with current public health guidelines. Study findings demonstrate lower motivation for engaging in PA of longer durations and higher intensities with some evidence suggesting people are less motivated to engage in vigorous intensity PA when experiencing higher levels of mental fatigue.

#### References

- Boksem, M. A., & Tops, M. (2008). Mental fatigue: Costs and benefits. *Brain Research Reviews*, 59, 125–139. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.07.001</u>
- Borg, G. (1998). *Borg's perceived exertion and pain scales*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics
- Brown, D. M. Y., Graham, J. D., Innes, K. I., Harris, S., Flemington, A., & Bray, S. R. (2020). Effects of prior cognitive exertion on physical performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 50, 497–529. doi.org/10.1007/s40279-01 9-01204-8
- Burnet, K., Kelsch, E., Zieff, G., Moore, J. B., & Stoner, L. (2019). How fitting is
  F.I.T.T.?: A perspective on a transition from the sole use of frequency, intensity, time, and type in exercise prescription. *Physiology & Behavior*, *199*, 33–34.
  <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.11.007</u>
- Chastin, S. F. M., De Craemer, M., De Cocker, K., Powell, L., Van Cauwenberg, J. V., Dall, P., ... & Stamatakis, E. (2019). How does light-intensity physical activity associate with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53, 370–376. doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097563
- Cheval, B., & Boisgontier, M. P. (2021). The theory of effort minimization in physical activity. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 49, 168–178. <u>doi.org/10.1249/JES.00000000000252</u>

Clarke, J., Colley, R., Janssen, I., & Tremblay, M.S. (2019). Accelerometer-measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity of Canadian adults, 2007 to 2017. *Health Reports*, 30, 3–10. doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x201900800001-eng

Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B.
E., ... Oja, P. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35, 1381–1395. doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB

Fan, J. X., Brown, B. B., Hanson, H., Kowaleski-Jones, L., Smith, K. R., & Zick, C. D. (2013). Moderate to vigorous physical activity and weight outcomes: Does every minute count?. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28, 41–49. doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.120606-QUAL-286.

Francois, M. E., Baldi, J. C., Manning, P. J., Lucas, S. J. E., Hawley, J. A., Williams, M. J. A., & Cotter, J. D. (2014). 'Exercise snacks' before meals: a novel strategy to improve glycaemic control in individuals with insulin resistance. *Diabetologia*, 57, 1437–1445. doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3244-6

Green, L., Fry, A. F., & Myerson, J. (1994). Discounting of delayed rewards: A life-span comparison. *Psychological Science*, *5*, 33–36. <u>doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> <u>9280.1994.tb00610.x</u>

Griffiths, K., Moore, R., & Brunton, J. (2022). Sport and physical activity habits, behaviours and barriers to participation in university students: An exploration by socio-economic group. *Sport, Education and Society, 27*, 332–346. doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2020.1837766

- Harris, S., and Bray, S. R. (2021). Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise 54*, 1–9.
  doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.101924
- Hartmann, M. N., Hager, O. M., Tobler, P. N., & Kaiser, S. (2013). Parabolic discounting of monetary rewards by physical effort. *Behavioural Processes*, 100, 192–196. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2013.09.014</u>
- Howley, E. T. (2001). Type of activity: Resistance, aerobic and leisure versus occupational physical activity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33, S364–S369. http://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200106001-00005
- Hull, C. L. (1943). Principles of behavior: An introduction to behavior theory. New York: Appleton- Century Crofts, Inc.
- Iodice, P., Calluso, C., Barca, L., Bertollo, M., Ripari, P., & Pezzulo, G. (2017). Fatigue increases the perception of future effort during decision making. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, 33, 150–160. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.08.013</u>
- Johnson, M. W., & Bickel, W. K. (2002). Within-subject comparison of real and hypothetical money rewards in delay discounting. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 77, 129–146. <u>doi.org/10.1901/jeab.2002.77-129</u>
- Jones, B. A., Arcelus, J., Bouman, W. P., & Haycraft, E. (2017). Barriers and facilitators of physical activity and sport participation among young transgender adults who are medically transitioning. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 18, 227 – 283. doi.org/10.1080/15532739.2017.1293581

Kendzierski, D., & DeCarlo, K. J. (1991). Physical activity enjoyment scale: Two validation studies. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 13, 50–64. <u>doi.org/10.1123/jsep.13.1.50</u>.

Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15, 155–163. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012</u>

- Kurzban, R. (2016). The sense of effort. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 7, 67–70. doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.08.003
- Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Rhodes, R.E., Kho, M.E., Tomasone, J.R., Gainforth, H.L.,
  Kowalski, K., ... The Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines Messaging
  Recommendation Workgroup. (2013). Evidence-informed recommendations for
  constructing and disseminating messages supplementing the new Canadian
  physical activity guidelines. *BMC Public Health*, *13*, 1–13.
  doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-419.
- Leys, C., Delacre, M., Mora, Y. L., Lakens, D., & Ley, C. (2019). How to classify, detect, and manage univariate and multivariate outliers, with emphasis on preregistration. *International Review of Social Psychology*, 32 1–10. doi.org/10.5334/irsp.289
- Liao, H., Li, Y., & Brooks, G. (2016). Outlier impact and accommodation methods: Multiple comparisons of type I error rates. *Journal of Modern Applied Statistical Methods*, 15, 452–471. <u>doi.org/10.22237/jmasm/1462076520</u>

- McAuley, E., Duncan, T., & Tammen, V. V. (1989). Psychometric properties of the intrinsic motivation inventory in a competitive sport setting: A confirmatory factor analysis. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 60*, 48–58. doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1989.10607413
- Micklewright, D., St Clair Gibson, A., Gladwell, V., & Al Salman, A. (2017).
  Development and validity of the rating-of-fatigue scale. *Sports Medicine*, 47, 2375–2393. doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0711-5.
- Odum, A. L. (2011). Delay discounting: I'm a k, you're a k. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior, 96*, 427–439. <u>doi.org/10.1901/jeab.2011.96-423</u>
- Ostaszewski, P., Bąbel, P., & Swebodziński, B. (2013). Physical and cognitive effort discounting of hypothetical monetary rewards. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 55, 329–337. <u>doi.org/10.1111/jpr.12019</u>
- Paulhus, D. L. (1991). Measurement and control of response bias. In J. P. Robinson, P. R. Shaver, & L. S. Wrightsman (Eds.), *Measures of personality and social psychological attitudes* (pp. 17–60). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Rachlin, H., Raineri, A., & Cross, D. (1991). Subjective probability and delay. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 55, 233–244.
  <u>doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1991.55-233</u>
- Rhodes, R. E., & Courneya, K. S. (2003). Investigating multiple components of attitude, subjective norm, and perceived control: An examination of the theory of planned behaviour in the exercise domain. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 42, 129–146.

- Riebe, D., Ehrman, J.K., Liguori, G., & Magal, M. (Eds.). (2018). ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription (10<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer.
- Ross, R., Chaput, J.P., Giangregorio, L.M., Janssen, I., Saunders, T. J., Kho, M.E., ..., & Tremblay, M.S. (2020). Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years or older: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*, S57–S102. <u>doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0467</u>.
- Ryan, R. M. (1982). Control and information in the intrapersonal sphere: An extension of cognitive evaluation theory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 43, 450–461. doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.43.3.450
- Salmon, J., Owen, N., Crawford, D., Bauman, A., & Sallis, J. F. (2003). Physical activity and sedentary behavior: A population-based study of barriers, enjoyment, and preference. *Health Psychology*, 22, 178–188. doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.22.2.178.
- Sugiwaka, H., & Okouchi, H. (2004). Reformative self-control and discounting of reward value by delay or effort. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 46, 1–9. <u>doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5884.2004.00231.x</u>

Warburton, D.E.R., Charlesworth, S., Ivey, A., Nettlefold, L., & Bredin, S.S.D. (2010). A systematic review of the evidence for Canada's physical activity guidelines for adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7, 1– 220. <u>doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-39</u>. Williams, D. M., Papandonatos, G. D., Napolitano, M. A., Lewis, B. A., Whiteley, J. A., & Marcus, B. H. (2006). Perceived enjoyment moderates the efficacy of an individually tailored physical activity intervention. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 28, 300–309. doi.org/10.1123/jsep.28.3.300



Figure 1. Predictive margin with 95% CIs for PA Duration in Study 1 (A) and Study 2

(B).



*Figure 2.* Predictive margin with 95% CIs for PA *Intensity* in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).



*Figure 3*. Predictive margin with 95% CIs for the PA *Intensity* X PA *Duration* interaction in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).



*Figure 4*. Predictive margin with 95% CIs for the PA *Intensity* X *Mental Fatigue* interaction in Study 1 (A) and Study 2 (B).

# Table 1.

Descriptive Statistics Demographic Variables and Potential Covariates b	y Stud	ly
---	--------	----

	Study 1	Study 2		
	n = 141 (22 males)	n = 232 (38 males)	р	d
	M (SD)	M (SD)		
Age	18.72 (1.22)	18.58 (.97)	.12	.13
MVPA	165.35 (129.70)	143.54 (107.23)	.02	.19
DPA	13.06 (15.69)	18.01 (21.18)	< .001	.26
PA enjoyment	101.62 (18.29)	96.78 (20.16)	.13	.25
Mental fatigue	5.60 (2.14)	5.60 (2.17)	.48	.00

*Note. M* = mean, *SD* = standard deviation, MVPA = moderate-to-vigorous physical

activity. DPA = daily physical activity.

# Table 2.

Study 1 Model coefficients

Variable	Coefficient	SE	95% C.I	р
Duration	001	.0009	003 to .0005	.16
Intensity				.70
Moderate	03	.04	11 to .06	.56
Vigorous	04	.04	12 to .05	.41
Mental fatigue	.01	.006	002 to .02	.09
Intensity X Duration				< .001
Moderate	002	.0007	004 to0009	.002
Vigorous	005	.0007	007 to004	< .001
Duration X Mental	0001	.0001	0004 to .0002	.40
fatigue				
Intensity X Mental				.005
fatigue				
Moderate	004	.006	02 to .008	.52
Vigorous	02	.006	03 to007	.002
MVPA	.0002	.00004	.0001 to .0003	<.001
DPA	.0005	.0003	0002 to .001	.15
PA enjoyment	.002	.0003	.001 to .002	<.001
Constant	.67	.05	.57 to .77	< .001

Table 3.

Study 2 Model coefficients

Variable	Coefficient	SE	95% C.I	р
Duration	002	.0007	003 to0003	.017
Intensity				< .001
Moderate	001	.03	07 to .07	.98
Vigorous	12	.03	19 to06	< .001
Mental fatigue	.002	.005	008 to .01	.76
Intensity X Duration				< .001
Moderate	003	.0006	004 to002	< .001
Vigorous	005	.0006	006 to004	< .001
Duration X Mental	0001	.0001	0003 to .00009	.25
fatigue				
Intensity X Mental				.99
fatigue	0002	.004	009 to .009	.97
Moderate	00005	.004	009 to .009	.99
Vigorous				
MVPA	.0002	.00004	.0001 to .0003	< .001
DPA	.0007	.0002	.0003 to .001	.001
PA enjoyment	.0017	.0002	.0001 to .002	< .001
Constant	.73	.04	.66 to .81	< .001

## Ph.D Thesis - S. Harris; McMaster University - Kinesiology

## Appendix A

## RPE familiarization script

The Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale is a way of measuring how much effort or exertion you are experiencing when you are exercising. It is based on the physical sensations a person experiences during physical activity, including increased heart rate, increased respiration or breathing rate, increased sweating, and muscle fatigue. This scale is subjective in nature meaning that it will vary between individuals. When referring to this scale what is important is that you refer to your own feelings of effort or exertion, and not how it compares to other people's. The scale we will be using ranges from 0 - "nothing at all" to 10 - "absolute maximum," but we will be using intensities in between (as shown in the picture above). When answering the following questions, please answer them based on your own perceptions of exertion.

After reading the familiarization script for the RPE scale, participants were presented with a list of five activities and asked to provide an RPE score, based on their personal experiences of engaging in each activity. Descriptive statistics are presented in Table S1. Results show participants utilized a range of scale responses and scaled RPE similarly between samples (studies) as well as in a manner consistent with the RPE demands of the various activities.

	Study 1	Study 2
Easy walking	$1.61 \pm 1.09$	$1.51 \pm 1.18$
Fast walking	$3.32 \pm 1.20$	$3.24 \pm 1.44$
Volleyball	$4.27 \pm 1.52$	$4.57 \pm 1.59$
Running	$6.56 \pm 1.43$	$6.61 \pm 1.68$
Soccer	$6.49 \pm 1.61$	$6.80 \pm 1.72$

Table S1. Descriptive Statistics for RPE scores for five sample activities.

Note.  $M \pm SD$ . Study 1 N=141, Study 2 N=232.

## **CHAPTER 4**

Investigating real-time physical activity decision-making using ecological momentary assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and benefit-cost valuations

## Preamble

**Investigating real-time physical activity decision-making using ecological momentary assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and benefit-cost valuations** is the third study in the dissertation series. This study examined associations between real-time variations in mental fatigue, perceived costs/benefits of engaging in MVPA, and MVPA using ecological momentary assessment and accelerometry.

The manuscript has been submitted (currently under review) for publication in the journal *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* and has been formatted for this dissertation.

The copyright for this manuscript is currently held by the authors.

Contribution of Study 3 to overall dissertation

Study 3 builds on the findings of Studies 1 and 2 by showing that greater mental fatigue was associated with lower benefit vs. cost scores and fewer minutes of MVPA and lower benefit vs. cost scores were associated with engaging in fewer minutes of MVPA in realtime, ecologically valid settings. Findings demonstrate a relation between mental fatigue, motivation, and subsequent physical activity behavior in people's authentic everyday experiences.

## Abstract

*Background*: Current research investigating the relationship between mental fatigue and physical activity behaviours relies on laboratory-based, experimental studies which lack ecological validity. *Purpose:* This study used ecological momentary assessment (EMA) to assess feelings of mental fatigue and subjective evaluations (benefits and costs) as predictors of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity (MVPA) in the everyday lives of young adults. *Methods:* One hundred participants (n =22 males,  $M_{age} = 20.60$  years) responded to digital survey prompts up to four times a day and wore an accelerometer for seven consecutive days. MVPA in the 180-minute time window following each survey prompt was recorded. Data from the 28 survey-MVPA epochs were analyzed using hierarchical linear modeling. Results: Higher levels of mental fatigue were associated with lower benefit vs. cost scores (p < .001) and fewer MVPA minutes (p = .043). Higher benefit vs. cost scores were associated with engaging in more minutes of MVPA ( $p \le .001$ ). A multilevel mediation model revealed a nonsignificant (p = .053) indirect effect of mental fatigue on MVPA through benefit vs. cost valuations. Conclusions: Results are the first to demonstrate outside the lab, that mental fatigue experienced in everyday life may amplify the perceived costs of MVPA, with both factors playing a potential role in MVPA decision-making. Future research may apply insights gained from this study in design and testing of real-time interventions promoting MVPA.
Investigating real-time physical activity decision-making using ecological momentary assessment: Effects of mental fatigue and benefit-cost valuations

Current physical activity guidelines recommend adults engage in at least 150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity (MVPA) each week [1-3]; however, the majority of adults are not achieving these recommended amounts [4-5]. Engaging in regular physical activity (PA) has been shown to reduce the risk of several chronic diseases including cardiovascular disease, depression, cancer, and diabetes [6] and physical inactivity has been estimated to carry an economic cost of \$53.8 billion worldwide [7]. To encourage regular participation in PA and minimize these negative outcomes, there is a need to explore factors influencing people's choices to engage or not engage in PA.

According to behavioral choice theory, one principle consistent across decisionmaking scenarios is that choices people make depend on their assessments of behavioral costs [8] such that people are less motivated to engage in behaviors perceived to be more costly. For PA, behavioral costs may include the energetic cost of engaging in the behavior, the effort required in processes of planning and scheduling PA around alternate priorities such as caregiving or work, or the opportunity costs associated with engaging in a lower-effort task such as watching TV at the end of a long day [9-10]. In this way, the behavioral cost of engaging in PA may be an important factor predicting one's motivation and ultimately choice to engage or not engage in PA behaviors.

Motivation has been conceptualized as a subjective trade-off between the perceived benefits and perceived costs associated with engaging in a behavior [10, 11].

According to this conceptualization, people make choices in favour of behaviors they perceive maximize benefits and minimize costs. Conceptualizing motivation as a decisional balance between perceived benefits and costs may help explain population-level decision-making related to PA. Specifically, despite universal knowledge that regular PA is beneficial [12, 13], current rates of physical inactivity suggest there are many factors that may amplify cost perceptions of PA and shift decisional balances away from PA and towards competing sedentary tasks.

A recent study examining barriers to engaging in PA found structural factors including: lack of facilities/equipment/space, as well as personal factors such as lack of time and laziness or fatigue as barriers to PA [14]. Fatigue has been defined as "*a symptom in which physical and cognitive function is limited by interactions between performance fatigability and perceived fatigability*" [15, pp. 2236] suggesting fatigue encompasses both physical and psychological elements. Previous research has demonstrated people experiencing greater physical fatigue have a greater preference for engaging in lower-effort tasks than when making decisions in a non-fatigued state [16] indicating fatigue may amplify cost perceptions and bias choice in favour of lower-effort behaviors. However, given widespread evidence that most adults do not regularly engage in PA, fatigue caused by prior *physical* exertion seems an unlikely PA impediment. Rather, other sources or manifestations of fatigue may determine people's decisions to engage in PA or not.

*Mental fatigue* refers to a psychobiological state experienced during or following prolonged and challenging cognitive activity [17]. Mental fatigue experienced after prior

cognitive exertion has been shown to impair physical performance and amplify ratings of perceived exertion during endurance tasks [18, 19]. In addition, previous research has shown reductions in self-selected intended exercise intensity for endurance [20] and resistance exercise [21] following completion of cognitively demanding tasks. Collectively, these investigations illustrate the negative impact of mental fatigue on exercise intentions and subsequent performance; however, these findings are limited insofar as participants were given no choice other than to engage in PA and to modify their motivation or behaviour in light of that eventuality. An area that has received less attention is examining how mental fatigue influences people's decision-making when given choices between engaging in PA or alternative behaviours.

An emerging body of research has examined the role of mental fatigue on decision-making between engaging or not engaging in exercise or MVPA. Van As et al. found completing a mentally fatiguing task beforehand did not affect the likelihood of choosing to engage in a physically effortful task or not [22]. However, the task participants were presented with was a hand-grip exercise task, which, while designed to be physically-effortful, may not represent the types of activities people choose to engage in for exercise or MVPA. In contrast, two experiments found mental fatigue decreased the likelihood of engaging in MVPA when a sedentary alternative was readily available [23, 24]. Importantly, the effect of mental fatigue on choice was mediated by motivation represented by a benefit vs. cost valuation, consistent with theorizing by Chong et al. [11] and others [10, 25].

Although the above studies demonstrate the influence of mental fatigue and benefit vs. cost valuations on MVPA choices, the MVPA task consisted of continuous cycling on a stationary ergometer which also fails to represent the broad range of MVPA options people may choose to engage in throughout their day. In addition, participants choices regarding MVPA were confined to a single study session and did not account for fluctuations in psychological or feeling states that may affect choices people make during their everyday lives. Thus, while previous research has demonstrated effects of mental fatigue and subjective valuations on MVPA in principle, methods with stronger ecological validity and better application to real-world decision-making scenarios are needed.

Ecological Momentary Assessment (EMA) is a real-time data capture methodology which involves sampling psychological and contextual experiences using digital software applications to deliver surveys to personal electronic devices requesting immediate responses. This methodology accounts for dynamic changes in real-time to examine cognitions, feelings, and behaviour across time and contexts, minimizing recall bias and maximizing ecological validity [26] which results in greater accuracy when evaluating associations between psychological experiences and subsequent behaviour. Further, EMA can be paired with activity monitoring devices (e.g., accelerometers), which can provide accurate estimates of PA within discreet time windows, rather than relying on self-report measures that are subject to social desirability, over-reporting, and recall biases [27]. A major strength of using EMA is that it can better account for the complex and dynamic patterns of change that occur in real-world, real-time scenarios

than more traditional methods (e.g., one-time questionnaire assessments) applied in PA research [28].

In an illustrative study using EMA, Rebar et al. [29] investigated associations between ego depletion (a construct similar to mental fatigue [30]), intentions, and MVPA. In the study, participants completed one, daily, EMA survey on each of seven consecutive days. Results showed when people reported higher ego depletion, their exercise intentions were significantly lower than when they reported lower ego depletion. Further, when ego depletion was high, intentions were a good predictor of MVPA the following day; however, MVPA levels were low (i.e., people intended and engaged in less MVPA). These findings provide evidence that within-day levels of ego depletion predict intentions and next-day behaviour such that higher ego depletion prompts intentions to engage in less MVPA. Given the similarities between ego depletion and mental fatigue, these findings may be extended to support a prediction that mental fatigue may play a similar role in shaping motivation and engagement in MVPA; however, to the best of our knowledge no study has examined the relationships between mental fatigue, motivation, and MVPA using real-time data capture and device-assessed activity.

The purpose of this study was to examine associations between real-time variations in mental fatigue, perceived costs/benefits of engaging in MVPA, and MVPA using EMA and accelerometer methodologies. Building on research by Rebar and colleagues [29], this study utilized four, within-day, EMAs from: morning, late morning/early afternoon, mid/late afternoon, and evening on seven consecutive days. Based on findings from Harris and Bray [23, 24], it was hypothesized that (1) higher

levels of mental fatigue would be associated with engaging in fewer minutes of MVPA in the 180-minutes following the EMA survey, (2) higher levels of mental fatigue would be associated with lower benefit vs. cost scores, (3) higher benefit vs. cost scores would be associated with engaging in more minutes of MVPA in the 180-minutes following the EMA survey, and (4) benefit vs. cost scores would mediate the relation between mental fatigue and MVPA minutes.

### Methods

### **Participants**

One hundred and twelve participants provided informed consent to participate in the study. Ten participants did not complete the study protocol and accelerometer data was inaccessible for two participants who did not return the accelerometer following the study period, allowing analyses of data from a total of 100 participants (n = 22 males,  $M_{age} = 20.60$ , SD = 2.61 years). See Figure 1 for flow diagram of study participants. Participants were eligible to participate if they were (a) between 17-30 years of age, (b) fluent in English, and (c) owned a personal smartphone device. Participants received a \$20 CAD honorarium and pro-rated compensation up to a maximum of \$50 CAD for completing EMA surveys. The study was reviewed and approved by an institutional research ethics board prior to recruitment and data collection.

### **Sample Size Calculation**

The study methodology involved collection multiple measures from participants on multiple occasions, resulting in "nesting" of data and application of multilevel analyses. Simulation studies show multilevel models reach optimum efficiency with 5060 observations at the highest level of the hierarchy (in this study, the individual) [31]. Similar EMA studies in the field of exercise psychology have used sample sizes around 100 (e.g., N=121 [32]; N=114 [33]; N=103 [29]). Thus, to be consistent with other studies in the field, we aimed to collect data from 100 participants.

## Procedures

Following local/institutional COVID-19 restrictions, all research procedures were carried out remotely. Participants conducted one phone screening session with a study researcher confirming study eligibility and providing informed consent. Baseline data collection was managed through an online survey platform: LimeSurvey (http://www.limesurvey.org) which participants accessed via a hyperlink to the study website where they completed questionnaires assessing demographics (age, sex) and habitual MVPA. Next, participants were familiarized with the different measures they would respond to during each EMA survey prompt during the study period and were instructed to contact study researchers with any questions or concerns regarding the EMA survey instruments. After completing the online questionnaire, a study researcher delivered a wrist-worn accelerometer (ActiGraph GT9X Link) to the participant. Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer on their non-dominant wrist for as much time as they could over the 10-day study period; apart from water-based activities (e.g., showering, swimming). The study period started the day after the accelerometer was provided to the participant. Days 1-3 were used as a device habituation period in which activity was monitored, but not analyzed for study purposes. On Day 3 of the study, participants were sent instructions via email for downloading a smartphone

application (Lumedi: Webility Solutions Inc.) with a customized EMA survey platform, developed for this study, and provided with a unique code to activate a secure, personal, account. Participants were also provided a study reference document outlining the EMA questions. The EMA survey prompts commenced at 8am EST on study Day 4 and ended at 8pm EST on Day 10 (See Figure 2 for study procedure timeline). Upon completion of the study, participants returned the accelerometer and received the honorarium/compensation.

### Measures

Habitual MVPA. Habitual MVPA was assessed using four items from the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ; [34]). Participants reported how many days per week and minutes per day they spent engaging in each of moderate and vigorous intensity activity during a typical 7-day period in the past three to five months. Minutes / day were multiplied by number of days / week for both intensities and summed to yield an overall score of habitual MVPA (minutes / week).

#### **Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) measures**

Electronic EMA surveys were delivered through a smartphone app (Lumedi) downloaded to participants' personal smartphone device. Four EMA surveys were distributed each day for seven consecutive days (up to 28 total surveys) to assess participants' current psychological state and perceptions related to engaging in physical activity. Surveys were designed to take 2-3 minutes to complete. Each EMA prompt was delivered at a random time within four pre-programmed timepoint windows (1) 8:00-9:30am, (2) 11:30am-1:00pm, (3) 3:00-4:30pm, and (4) 6:30-8:00pm daily. Participants

were alerted when a survey was available to complete through a notification on their smartphone from the Lumedi app. If a survey was not completed at the time of the initial prompt, the app sent up to three reminder notifications 10-minutes, 20-minutes, and 25minutes after the initial prompt. If a response was not logged within 30-minutes of the initial prompt, the survey became inactive. Each EMA survey was coded for day of the week (i.e., Monday through Sunday) and time-of-day (i.e., timepoint 1 through timepoint 4).

**Subjective mental fatigue.** A horizontal sliding scale, similar to a Visual Analogue Scale (VAS; [35]), was used to assess mental fatigue. Participants were instructed to: *"Please use the sliding scale to indicate what you feel represents your perception of your current state of MENTAL FATIGUE"* with the anchors ranging from 'None at all' on the far left to 'Maximal' on the far right. The scale was calibrated to 101 increments ranging from 0 on the far left of the line to 100 on the far right. Participants used their fingertip to move a cursor along the sliding scale to the point on the line representing their current state of mental fatigue.

**Subjective evaluation of exercise**. A 2-item measure was used to assess each of the perceived costs and perceived benefits of engaging in exercise. For perceived costs, participants were presented with: "*In general, I think exercising for 10+ minutes sometime within the next few hours has:*..." and responded on a 1-10 scale anchored at 1) "No disadvantages" and 10) "Many disadvantages". For perceived benefits, participants were presented with: "*In general, I think exercising for 10+ minutes* 

*next few hours has:...*" and responded on a 1-10 scale anchored at 1) "No advantages" and 10) "Many advantages".

To represent the perceived costs relative to perceived benefits, responses were converted into a composite measure: "benefits vs. costs", calculated by subtracting the perceived costs value from the perceived benefits value. Scores for the composite measure range from -9 to +9, with greater positive values representing greater benefit – cost valuations and greater negative values representing greater cost – benefit valuations. This measure has been previously used to examine perceived costs and benefits of engaging in MVPA [23, 24].

Accelerometer-based physical activity. Moderate-to-vigorous intensity PA was measured passively using an ActiGraph GT9X Link device on participants' nondominant wrist for seven consecutive days. Data were collected in three axes at a sampling rate of 30 Hz. Data were uploaded from each accelerometer to the ActiGraph CentrePoint platform once returned to study researchers. The CentrePoint platform was used to calculate and record wear time as well as MVPA during 180-minute time window following each EMA survey. MVPA cut points were based on the Troiano et al. [36] criteria. A 180-minute time window has been previously used in EMA research examining PA in adults [37].

### Data Analysis

Descriptive data from the baseline questionnaire were summarized as means and standard deviations for age and habitual PA and frequencies were summarized for sex.

Summary descriptive information was also computed for the EMA sampling data. Descriptive analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS (Version 28.0).

Analyses of missing data were conducted using logistic regression models (coded 0 for not missing and 1 for missing) to examine whether EMA responses differed by age, sex, habitual MVPA, time-of-day (timepoint 1 through 4), and day-of-week (Monday through Sunday).

**Multilevel Modelling**. The data collected form a three-level hierarchy with observations (Level 1) nested within day-of-week (Level 2) or time-of-day (Level 2) nested within people (Level 3). Three separate unconditional models were initially generated by entering MVPA as the dependent variable and each of the nesting variables to establish whether there was systemic variation in data recorded at Level 1, withinpeople (Level 3), within-day-of-week (Level 2), and within-time-of-day (Level 2) on MVPA engaged in within the 180-minute time window.

A multilevel mediation model was computed in STATA (Version 14.2) to assess the hypothesized relationships between (1) mental fatigue and MVPA, (2) mental fatigue and benefit vs. cost scores, (3) benefit vs. cost scores and MVPA, and (4) mental fatigue and MVPA, controlling for benefit vs. cost scores. All data were analyzed for MVPA observations with a non-zero wear time value in the 180-minute time window following the EMA survey prompt. The alpha criterion was set at 0.05.

Multilevel mediation modeling allows for the test of mediational effects at the lowest level of the multilevel hierarchy in clustered data [38]. Essentially, this analysis tests mediation of the mental fatigue – MVPA relationship by benefits vs. costs at each of

the 28 Level 1 observations (4 timepoints \* 7 days) in the dataset adjusting for the "nesting", or intercorrelation, of Level 1 observations within higher levels of the hierarchy. Bootstrap procedures utilizing 10,000 simulations were computed based on recommendations by Hayes & Scharkow [39] to determine 95% confidence intervals. Residuals were visually assessed to verify assumptions of normality.

### Results

### **Descriptive statistics**

The sample was, on average, 20.60 (SD = 2.61) years old and self-reported engaging in 290.00 (SD = 267.27) minutes of MVPA per week. On average, participants answered 72% of EMA prompts (range = 14% – 100%) and most (63%) participants wore the accelerometer for  $\geq 12$  hours/day, on 7/7 days during the EMA period and 80% wore the accelerometer for  $\geq 12$  hours/day on 5/7 days or more.

### **Missing Data**

The likelihood of answered vs. unanswered mental fatigue ratings did not vary as a function of age, sex, habitual MVPA, or day-of-week. However, mental fatigue scores were more likely to be missing for prompts later in the day (coef. = -.27, SE = .039, p < .001, 95% C.I. = -.35 to -.19). The likelihood of answered vs. unanswered benefit vs. cost scores did not vary as a function of age, habitual MVPA, or day-of-week. However, benefit vs. cost scores were more likely to be missing from male participants (coef. = .35, SE = .12, p = .003, 95% C.I. = .12 to .58) and for prompts later in the day (coef. = -.33, SE = .043, p < .001, 95% C.I. = -.42 to -.25).

Descriptive statistics and percentages of missing data for mental fatigue, benefit vs. cost score, and MVPA minutes during the 180-minute time window after each EMA survey are presented in Table 1. As shown in the table, mental fatigue scores were moderate (M = 41.00, SD = 26.47), based on a possible range of 0-100; benefit-costs scores were +2.72 (SD = 4.03) demonstrating a general bias in favour of perceived benefits over perceived costs, based on a possible range of -9 to +9; and participants spent on average 16.56 (SD = 16.49) minutes engaging in MVPA during the 180-minutes following each EMA survey.

### **Preliminary Analyses**

The likelihood ratio test comparing the unconditional model to a linear model was significant when examining nesting of Level 1 observations within-people ( $\chi 2(1) = 156.11, p < .001$ ) and within-time ( $\chi 2(1) = 31.60, p < .001$ ) indicating significant between-people and between-time-of-day variation, thus supporting use of multilevel modeling. However, there was no difference between the unconditional model examining nesting within-day-of-week and a linear model ( $\chi 2(1) < 1.00, p = 1.00$ ) indicating no significant variation based on days of the week (e.g., scores for measures taken on Monday were not statistically different from scores taken on Wednesday, etc.) deferring the use of multilevel modeling of within-day variance.

Because multilevel mediation models can only accommodate 2-level data structures [38], separate multilevel models were initially computed for the 3-level data structure (i.e., observations nested within time-of-day nested within individuals) to assess the x-y, x-m, and m-y (controlling for x) relationships. For each model, a random intercept model was first generated to fit the data and consequently compared to a random intercept, random slope model to achieve the best fit for the 3-level data structure. A random intercept, fixed slope model best fit the data assessing the x-y relationship. For the x-m and m-y relationships, random intercept, random slope models provided the best fit.

Results from each 3-level model were compared with the results of a randomintercept multilevel mediation model using only the 2-level structure (i.e., observations nested within individuals) to determine if multilevel mediation was statistically appropriate. In all cases, the 3-level multilevel models produced identical results to the 2level multilevel mediation model. Thus, given there was no observable effect associated with nesting within time-of-day, results from the 2-level multilevel mediation model including nesting of observations within individuals were considered appropriate for the primary analyses.

### **Primary Analyses**

The first multilevel model included MVPA minutes as the dependent variable and mental fatigue as the independent variable. Higher levels of mental fatigue were associated with less MVPA (coef. = -.032, SE = .016, p = .043, 95% C.I. = -.062 to -.00099, ICC = 9.5%). The multilevel model including benefit vs. cost score as the dependent variable and mental fatigue as the independent variable indicated higher levels of mental fatigue were associated with lower benefit vs. cost scores (coef. = -.013, SE = .0034, p < .001, 95% C.I. = -.019 to -.0062, ICC = 42.2%). The final multilevel model

included MVPA minutes as the dependent variable and benefit vs. cost score and mental fatigue as independent variables. Higher benefit vs. cost scores were associated with engaging in more MVPA (coef. = .40, SE = .11, p < .001, 95% C.I. = .18 to .61, ICC = 9.7%). The unadjusted model including MVPA as the dependent variable and benefit vs. cost score as the independent variable revealed a significant association (coef. = .45, SE = .10, p < .001, 95% C.I. = .24 to .65, ICC = 11.8%). See Electronic Supplemental Material 1 for model coefficients for fixed and random effects.

### **Mediation Analysis**

In the mediation analysis, (see Figure 3), MVPA minutes during the 180-minute time window was specified as the dependent variable, mental fatigue as the independent variable, and benefit vs. cost score as the mediator. The overall results revealed a non-significant indirect (mediation) effect (coef. = -.005, SE = .0026, p = .053, 95% C.I. = -.010 to .00007); however, it is noteworthy that this effect barely exceeded the conventional p = .05 level. Further, the strength of the direct effect of mental fatigue to MVPA was weakened from -.032 to -.026 when benefit vs. cost score was included in the model (coeff = -.026, SE = .016, p = .092, 95% C.I. = -.057 to .0043) showing the relationship between mental fatigue and MVPA minutes is partially mediated by benefit vs. cost scores. As recommended by Shrout and Bolger ([40], pp. 434),  $P_{M}$ : an estimate of the "effect proportion mediated", was calculated to assess the strength of the partial mediation effect attributable to benefits vs. costs using the ratio of the indirect effect over the total effect. The resulting  $P_{M}$  value indicated 16.2% of the effect between mental fatigue and MVPA was accounted for by benefits vs. costs.

### Discussion

In this study we examined associations between real-time variations in mental fatigue, perceived costs/benefits of engaging in MVPA, and MVPA using EMA and accelerometry. Building on previous lab-based research using an acute decision-making paradigm, we investigated the association between mental fatigue and MVPA and whether that association was mediated by benefit vs. cost valuations of engaging in MVPA over seven consecutive days. Results demonstrated greater mental fatigue was associated with significantly lower benefit vs. cost scores and significantly fewer minutes of MVPA, while higher benefit vs. cost scores were significantly associated with engaging in more minutes of MVPA. Results of the mediation analysis were not significant, however, an estimate of the strength of the effect indicated a partial mediation such that benefits vs. cost valuations accounted for 16.2% of the effect between mental fatigue and MVPA minutes.

The effects of mental fatigue on physical performance is a burgeoning topic of interest in the fields of sport and exercise psychology. However, existing evidence is largely based on data from controlled experimental methods which limits applicability to real-world contexts. Previous research examining the role of mental fatigue on PA decision-making has been mixed, with some studies demonstrating higher mental fatigue leads to greater likelihood of selecting a sedentary task rather than engaging in MVPA [23, 24] and other studies showing the probability of choosing to engage in an effortful hand-grip exercise task was not reduced with higher mental fatigue [22]. In this study, we set out to extend results from studies using lab-based experimental methods and examine

the mental fatigue – PA relationship using methods with stronger ecological validity. Thus, this study acts as an important step to further our understanding of the effects of mental fatigue on PA decision-making based in people's real-time lived experiences.

Study findings demonstrate greater mental fatigue is associated with engaging in fewer minutes of MVPA in naturalistic, everyday environments. While previous research has demonstrated a small-to-medium sized negative effect of mental fatigue on subsequent physical performance [18], these results do not explain the effect of mental fatigue on people's decisions to engage or not engage in PA. Previous cross-sectional studies show feeling tired/fatigued is a barrier to engaging in PA in the general population (Farah et al., 2021; Salmon et al., 2003) and lack of sleep is a barrier in firstyear university students [41]. Findings are consistent with these observations as they demonstrate people engage in less MVPA when feeling fatigued in their everyday lives. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate the negative effect of mental fatigue on physical activity in people's regular day-to-day experiences.

As predicted, higher benefit vs. cost valuations were associated with engaging in more minutes of MVPA, but are perhaps better contextualized in terms of lower benefit-cost valuations being associated with fewer minutes of MVPA. This relationship is consistent with theorizing using cost/benefit valuations to represent motivation for engaging in effortful tasks [10, 11, 25] and previous research demonstrating cost/benefit valuations predict PA decision-making between a MVPA and sedentary task in experimental settings [23, 24]. Importantly, cost/benefit valuations are constructs in some models of health behavior (e.g., Health Belief Model; [42, 43]), however, these models

have focused on the benefits and costs of the health outcomes rather than those associated with engaging in the behaviours themselves. The present study extends these ideas in a novel way by showing cost/benefit valuations predict MVPA in people's daily lives.

According to the framework proposed by Müller and Apps [10], fatigue leads to a decline in motivation to exert effort and reduced performance on subsequent physical tasks which is consistent with effects observed in the *a* and *b* mediation model pathways in this study. More specifically, this study's results suggest under conditions of higher mental fatigue there is a bias of cost/benefit valuations in favor of amplified cost perceptions, which in turn predicts engagement in fewer minutes of MVPA. This finding also extends findings from previous laboratory-based work [23, 24], being the first to demonstrate this effect outside of controlled, laboratory settings.

The indirect mediation effect of mental fatigue on MVPA through benefit vs. cost valuations was not significant; however, findings indicate partial mediation at a probability of p < .06, in which benefits vs. cost valuations accounted for 16.2% of the overall effect of mental fatigue on MVPA. Given the significant independent pathways observed, the non-significant indirect effect may be due to model misspecification as described by Shrout and Bolger [42]. Specifically, if groups exist within the data in which different mediation mechanisms apply to different groups, the mediator may mediate the relation for one group but not the other. For example, there are many potential moderators that may influence people's ability or opportunity to engage in MVPA which were not measured in this study. Contextual factors such as what participants were doing at the time of the prompt (e.g., eating, watching TV/movies, socializing, etc...), where

participants were at the time of the prompt (e.g., at home vs. at work/school; inside vs. outside), and who they were with at the time of the EMA prompt (e.g., alone, with spouse/partner, friends, etc...) have been shown to affect PA engagement [32, 33, 44]. Thus, despite low levels of mental fatigue and high motivation, people may be unable to engage in MVPA within the hours after responding to the prompt if they are not in a behavioral or social context that allows opportunities for PA (e.g., at work/school or with family/peers engaging in alternate behaviors). Therefore, future exploration using additional measures and more complex modeling parameters is needed to understand the dynamic nature of these data in real-world contexts.

In addition to their theoretical relevance, results from this study hold practical relevance towards understanding real-time correlates of PA and can inform health promotional efforts targeting PA behaviors. Specifically, since higher mental fatigue is related to engaging in fewer minutes of MVPA, more emphasis can be placed on encouraging people to engage in PA during times of the day when fatigue is likely to be lower, such as earlier in the day or prior to completing long work shifts [45]. Additionally, PA promotional efforts should target behaviors with lower perceived costs to adjust the effort cost/benefit ratio. For example, considering evidence showing important health benefits of engaging in light-intensity PA [46] and current 24-hour movement guidelines encouraging participating in light-intensity PA [3], promoting light-intensity PA as a lower effort PA option may increase the likelihood that people will choose to engage in PA when experiencing higher levels of mental fatigue.

There are several strengths and limitations of the present research that should be noted. Using real-time data capture methodologies such as EMA and accelerometry builds on previous experimental work by examining the associations and sequential relationships between mental fatigue, motivation, and MVPA in real-time, real-world settings. Notably, mental fatigue, as measured in this study was not experimentally manipulated which has stronger ecological validity than fatigue manipulated using cognitive tasks in laboratory settings. In addition, passive monitoring of MVPA using accelerometers can be seen as a strength as participants were able to engage in PA consistent with their preferences and what they would normally engage in based on parameters including type, duration, and context rather than examining limited PA options in controlled lab settings such as stationary cycling [16, 23, 24] or a hand-grip exercise task [22]. However, use of accelerometry does not distinguish between engagement in planned and purposeful PA which involves a deliberate decision-making process versus incidental bouts of MVPA. To address this, future work should use a combination of tools to assess PA including device-based and self-reported techniques consistent with recommendations by Nigg et al. [47].

The study limitations include the fact that not all contextual factors which may affect one's PA choices were accounted for in the present study. As mentioned above, evidence of partial mediation suggests a more complex statistical model including physical, social, and/or behavioral contextual information may be needed to better understand real-time associations between variables which we were unable to examine in this study. In addition, this study did not control for individual-level factors shown to be

significant covariates in other decision-making paradigms such as PA enjoyment and habitual MVPA [48].

Despite these limitations, the present study provides a strong foundation for future research exploring associations between psychological factors and real-time decisionmaking for PA to provide a holistic view of factors influencing decisions to engage in PA. By identifying psychological factors associated with real-time decisional balances and behavior, future work along these lines should be useful in the development of PA interventions. For example, mental fatigue, cost/benefit valuations, and other variables can inform optimal decision rules for digital interventions known as "just-in-time" adaptive interventions (JITAIs; [49, 50]). JITAIs are individually tailored to a person's current and unique context and can adapt based on their psychological status to address changing needs. For example, lower-intensity PA such as yoga or light walking may be promoted for someone experiencing higher mental fatigue. Future research should define other important components of JITAIs including decision points and intervention options [49, 51] to increase the efficacy of real-time interventions targeting PA.

To the best of our knowledge this study is the first to use real-time data capture methods to examine associations between mental fatigue, benefit vs. cost valuations, and MVPA to advance our understanding of conditions influencing PA decision-making in real-time. Results showed greater mental fatigue was associated with fewer MVPA minutes and lower benefit vs. cost valuations, and higher benefit vs. cost valuations were associated with more MVPA minutes. Overall, study findings provide insight into real-

time predictors of motivation and PA and highlight the complex relationships between psychological variables and behavioral outcomes in the real world.

## References

- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, et al. Physical activity and public health: Updated recommendation for adults from the American college of sports medicine and the American heart association. Circulation. 2007; 116: 1081-1093. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.185649
- 2. Piercy KL, Troiano RP, Ballard RM, et al. The physical activity guidelines for Americans. JAMA. 2018; 320: 2020-2028
- 3. Ross R, Chaput JP, Giangregorio LM, et al. Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years or older: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2020; 45: S57-S102. doi:10.1139/apnm-2020-0467.
- Clarke J, Colley R, Janssen I, Tremblay MS. Accelerometer-measured moderateto-vigorous physical activity of Canadian adults, 2007 to 2017. Health Rep. 2019; 30: 3-10. doi:10.25318/82-003-x201900800001-eng
- National Center for Health Statistics. Early release of selected estimates based on data from the National Health Interview Survey. Available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/releases/released201809.htm#7A</u>. Accessibility verified August 12, 2022.
- 6. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. CMAJ. 2006; 174, 801-809. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Ding D, Lawson KD, Kolbe-Alexander TL., et al. The economic burden of physical inactivity: A global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. Lancet. 2016; 388: 1311-1324. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30383-X.
- 8. Epstein LH. Integrating theoretical approaches to promote physical activity. Am. J. Prev.Med. 1998; 15: 257-265. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00083-X
- Kurzban R, Duckworth A, Kable JW, Myers J. An opportunity cost model of subjective effort and task performance. Behav Brain Sci, 2013; 36: 661-679. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X12003196
- Müller T, Apps MAJ. Motivational fatigue: A neurocognitive framework for the impact of effortful exertion on subsequent motivation. Neuropsychologia.2019; 123 141-151. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.04.030
- Chong TT, Bonnelle V, Husain M. Quantifying motivation with effort- based decision-making paradigms in health and disease. Prog Brain Res. 2016; 229: 71-100. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.05.002
- Fredriksson SV, Alley SJ, Rebar AL, Hayman M, Vandelanotte C, Schoeppe S. How are different levels of knowledge about physical activity associated with physical activity behaviour in Australian adults? PloS ONE. 2018; 13: e0207003. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207003
- Lovell GP, El Ansari W, Parker JK. Perceived exercise benefits and barriers of non-exercising university students in the United Kingdom. IJERPH. 2010; 7: 784-798. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7030784
- Farah BQ, do Prado WL, Malik N, et al. Barriers to physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic in adults: A cross-sectional study. Sport Sci Health. 2021; 17: 441-447. doi: 10.1007/s11332-020-00724-5

- 15. Enoka RM, Duchateau J. Translating fatigue to human performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2016; 48: 2228-2238. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000929
- Iodice P, Calluso C, Barca L, Bertollo M, Ripari P, Pezzulo G. Fatigue increases the perception of future effort during decision making. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2017; 33: 150-160. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.08.013
- Boksem MAS, Tops, M. Mental fatigue: Costs and benefits. Brain Res Rev. 2008; 59: 125-139. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.07.001
- Brown, DMY, Graham, JD, Innes, KI, Harris, S, Flemington, A, Bray SR. Effects of prior cognitive exertion on physical performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Med. 2020; 50: 497-529. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01204-8
- Van Cutsem J, Marcora, S, De Pauw K, Bailey, S, Meeusen R, Roelands, B. The effects of mental fatigue on physical performance: A systematic review. Sports Med. 2017; 47: 1569-1588. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0672-0
- 20. Brown DMY, Bray SR. Effects of mental fatigue on exercise intentions and behavior. An Behav Med. 2019; 53: 405-414. doi: 10.1093/abm/kay052
- Martin Ginis KA, Bray SR. Application of the limited strength model of selfregulation to understanding exercise effort, planning and adherence. Psychol Health. 2010; 25: 1147-1160. doi: 10.1080/08870440903111696
- 22. van As S, Beckers DGJ, Geurts SAE, et al. The impact of cognitive and physical effort exertion on physical effort decisions: A pilot experiment. Front Psychol. 2021; 12: 645037. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.645037
- 23. Harris S, Bray SR. Effects of mental fatigue on exercise decision-making. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2019; 44: 1-8. doi: 10.1016/j. psychsport.2019.04.005
- 24. Harris S, Bray SR. Mental fatigue, anticipated effort, and subjective valuations of exercising predict choice to exercise or not: A mixed-methods study. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2021; 54: 1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.101924
- 25. Pessiglione M, Vinckier F, Bouret S, Daunizeau J, Le Bouc R. Why not try harder? Computational approach to motivation deficits in neuro-psychiatric diseases. Brain. 2018; 141: 629-650. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx278
- 26. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol, 2008; 4: 1-32. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415.
- 27. Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Assessment of physical activity by self-report: Status, limitations, and future direction. Res Q Exerc Sport, 2000; 71: 1-14. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2000.11082780
- 28. Dunton GF. Ecological momentary assessment in physical activity research. Exerc Sport Sci Rev, 2017; 45: 48-54. doi: 10.1249/JES.000000000000092
- 29. Rebar AL, Dimmock JA, Rhodes RE, Jackson B. A daily diary approach to investigate the effect of ego depletion on intentions and next day behavior. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2018; 39: 38-44. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.07.010
- Inzlicht M, Berkman E. Six questions for the resource model of control (and some answers). Soc Personal Psychol Compass. 2015; 9: 511-524. doi: 10.1111/spc3.12200
- 31. Maas CJ, Hox JJ. Sufficient sample sizes for multilevel modeling. Methodology. 2005; 1: 86-92. doi: 10.1027/1614-1881.1.3.86

- 32. Dunton GF, Liao Y, Intille S, Wolch J, Pentz MA. Physical and social contextual influences on children's leisure-time physical activity: An ecological momentary assessment study. J Phys Act Health. 2011; 8: S103-S108. doi: 10.1123/jpah.8.s1.s103
- 33. Liao Y, Intille SS, Dunton GF. Using ecological momentary assessment to understand where and with whom adults' physical and sedentary activity occur. Int J Behav Med. 2015; 22: 51-61. doi: 10.1007/s12529-014-9400-z
- 34. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2003; 35: 1381-1395. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- 35. Wewers, ME, Lowe NK. A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. Res Nurs Health. 1990; 13: 227-236. doi: 10.1002/nur.4770130405
- Troiano RP, Berrigan D, Dodd KW, Mâsse LC, Tilert T, McDowell M. Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2008; 40: 181-188. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815a51b3
- 37. Maher JP, Rhodes RE, Dzubur E, Huh J, Intille S, Dunton GF. Momentary assessment of physical activity intention-behavior coupling in adults. Transl Behav Med. 2017; 7: 709-718. doi: 10.1007/s13142-017-0472-6
- Krull JL, MacKinnon DP. Multilevel modeling of individual and group level mediated effects. Multivariate Behav Res. 2001; 36: 249-277. doi: 10.1207/S15327906MBR3602\_06
- 39. Hayes AF, Scharkow M. The relative trustworthiness of inferential tests of the indirect effect in statistical mediation analysis: Does method really matter? Psychol Sci. 2013; 24: 1918-1927. doi: 10.1177/0956797613480187
- 40. Shrout PE, Bolger N. Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: New procedures and recommendations. Psychol Methods. 2002; 7: 422-445. doi: 10.1037//1082-989X.7.4.422
- 41. Gyurcsik NC, Bray SR, Brittain DR. Coping with barriers to vigorous physical activity during transition to university. Fam Community Health. 2004; 27: 130-142. doi: 10.1097/00003727-200404000-00006
- 42. Rosenstock IM. Historical origins of the health belief model. Health Educ Monogr. 1974; 2: 328-335. doi: 10.1177%2F109019817400200403
- 43. O'Connell JK, Price JH, Roberts SM, Jurs SG, McKinley R. Utilizing the health belief model to predict dieting and exercising behavior of obese and nonobese adolescents. Health Educ Q. 1985; 12: 343-351. doi: 10.1177/109019818501200401
- 44. Maher JP, Rebar AL, Dunton GF. The influence of context stability on physical activity and sedentary behaviour habit and behaviour: An ecological momentary assessment study. BR J Health Psychol. 2021; 26: 861-881. doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12509
- 45. Johnston DW, Allan JL, Powell DJH, et al. Why does work cause fatigue? A realtime investigation of fatigue, and determinants of fatigue in nurses working 12hour shifts. Ann Behav Med. 2019; 53: 551-562. doi: 10.1093/abm/kay065

- 46. Chastin SFM, De Craemer M, De Cocker K, et al. How does light-intensity physical activity associate with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 2019; 53: 370–376. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097563
- 47. Nigg CR, Fuchs R, Gerber M, et al. Assessing physical activity through questionnaires – A consensus of best practices and future directions. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2020; 50: 101715. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2020.101715
- 48. Harris S, Bray SR. Is it really worth the effort? Examining the effects of mental fatigue on physical activity effort discounting. J Sport Exerc Psychol. Forthcoming.
- 49. Nahum-Shani I, Hekler EB, Spruijt-Metz D. Building health behavior models to guide the development of just-in-time adaptive interventions: A pragmatic framework. Health Psychol. 2015; 34: 1209-1219. doi: 10.1037/hea0000306
- Spruijt-Metz D, Nilsen W. Dynamic models of behavior for just-in-time adaptive interventions. IEEE Pervasive Comput. 2014; 13: 13-17. doi: 10.1109/MPRV.2014.46
- 51. Müller AM, Blandford A, Yardley L. The conceptualization of a just-in-time adaptive intervention (JITAI) for the reduction of sedentary behavior in older adults. MHealth. 2017; 3: 37. doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.08.05

# Table 1.

Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables, EMA Measures

	M (SD)	% Missing data
Age	20.60 (2.61)	0
Habitual MVPA	290.04 (267.27)	0
Mental fatigue	41.00 (26.47)	32.48%
Benefit vs. cost score	2.72 (4.03)	25.20%
MVPA	16.56 (16.49)	0

*Note. M* = mean, *SD* = standard deviation, MVPA = moderate-to-vigorous physical

activity during 180 minutes post EMA prompt. Scores for Mental fatigue can range from 0-100; scores for Benefit vs. cost can range from -9 to +9.



Figure 1. Flow diagram of included participants.



Figure 2. Timeline of study procedures.



Figure 3. Mediation (indirect effect) analysis results. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity. Values for a, b, c, c' are model coefficients (standard error). \*p < .05, \*\* p < .001.

## Electronic Supplemental Material 1

Table A1.

Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of mental fatigue on MVPA

	Coefficient	SE	Ζ	р	95% C.I.
Mental fatigue	032	.016	-2.02	.043	062 to00099
Constant	18.29	.90	20.33	< .001	16.53 to 20.05

Table A2.

Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of mental fatigue on MVPA

	Estimate	SE	95% C.I.
Between-subject SD	4.94	.56	3.96 to 6.18
Within-subject SD	15.11	.27	14.59 to 15.64

## Table A3.

Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of mental fatigue on benefit vs. cost score

	Coefficient	SE	Ζ	р	95% C.I.
Mental fatigue	013	.0034	-3.82	<.001	019 to006
Constant	3.15	.31	10.14	<.001	2.54 to 3.76

# Table A4.

Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of mental fatigue on benefit vs. cost score

	Estimate	SE	95% C.I.
Between-subject SD	2.62	.21	2.24 to 3.07
Within-subject SD	3.06	.05	2.95 to 3.16

## Table A5.

Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of benefit vs. cost score on MVPA

	Coefficient	SE	Ζ	р	95% C.I.
Benefit vs. cost score	.45	.10	4.33	<.001	.24 to .65
Constant	15.70	.71	22.03	<.001	14.31 to 17.10

## Table A6.

Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of benefit vs. cost score on MVPA

	Estimate	SE	95% C.I.
Between-subject SD	5.44	6.01	19.91 to 44.09
Within-subject SD	14.89	7.40	207.74 to 236.79

# Table A7.

Model coefficients analyzing the fixed effects of mental fatigue and benefit vs. cost score

on MVPA

	Coefficient	SE	Z	р	95% C.I.
Benefit vs. cost score	.40	.11	3.66	<.001	.18 to .61
Mental fatigue	026	.016	-1.68	.09	057 to .0043
Constant	17.04	.96	17.69	< .001	15.15 to 18.93

# Table A8.

Model coefficients analyzing the random effects of mental fatigue and benefit vs. cost

score on MVPA

	Estimate	SE	95% C.I.
Between-subject SD	4.99	.57	4.00 to 6.23
Within-subject SD	15.05	.27	14.54 to 15.58

# CHAPTER 5:

# **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

The negative effects of mental fatigue on physical performance outcomes have been widely documented (e.g., Brown et al., 2020). However, effects of mental fatigue on people's choices to engage in PA or not has received limited attention. The overarching objective of this dissertation was to examine the associations between mental fatigue, motivation, and physical activity decision-making using experimental, hypothetical, and real-world decision-making paradigms.

Overall, results from the studies in this dissertation extend prior knowledge in several important areas. Importantly, in addition to consistent evidence demonstrating mental fatigue impairs subsequent performance on a variety of physical tasks, results show people are less likely to engage in PA when reporting higher levels of mental fatigue (Studies 1, 2, & 3). Higher mental fatigue was also shown to decrease the likelihood of engaging in MVPA indirectly through a sequential pathway consisting of psychological mediators: perceived effort and benefit vs. cost valuations (Study 1) and decreased motivation for engaging in vigorous-intensity PA (Study 2). Higher mental fatigue was also associated with fewer MVPA minutes and lower benefit vs. cost valuations assessed in real-world settings (Study 3). In addition, results show motivation measured by one's subjective valuations of perceived costs and benefits of engaging in a bout of MVPA predicts choice in acute experimental (Study 1) and real-world decisionmaking (Study 3) scenarios. Parameters frequently used to prescribe exercise such as intensity and duration were shown to influence people's subjective valuations and willingness to engage in PA (Study 2).

Qualitative results from Study 1 align with quantitative findings from the dissertation studies which demonstrates higher mental fatigue decreases motivation for engaging in PA (Studies 1, 2, & 3). Finally, qualitative results from Study 1 revealed *"increased feelings of fatigue resulting from the cognitive task"* was most frequently reported in participants who chose not to exercise after engaging in a high cognitive demand task. This finding aligns with results from Study 3 showing higher mental fatigue was associated with engaging in fewer MVPA minutes. In the following sections, the conceptual and theoretical implication of this work will be addressed along with remaining gaps and considerations for future areas of research stemming from this work.

## **5.1 Conceptual Implications**

The studies in this dissertation were conducted to examine and extend theoretical propositions and conceptual frameworks suggesting subjective perceptions of effort, costs, and benefits influence subsequent effort-based decision-making. The emerging body of research examining the role of mental fatigue on physically effortful decision-making has shown mixed findings (Abdel et al., 2021; Harris & Bray, 2019; van As et al., 2021, 2022). Study 1 was the first study to directly examine the mediating role of perceptions of effort on the relation between mental fatigue and effort-based choice between engaging in a physically effortful task or a non-effortful task. Consistent with research demonstrating mental fatigue increases perceptions of effort during a physically demanding task (Marcora, et al, 2009; Smith, et al, 2015; Zering, et al, 2017), this study provides the first evidence that mental fatigue amplifies perceived effort in anticipation of a bout of PA and these increased effort perceptions make people less likely to volitionally
engage in MVPA. These findings are consistent with conceptualizations of effort by Shenhav et al. (2017) suggesting effort mediates the relation between one's capacity and ability to successfully perform a task and task performance. According to this conceptualization, effort determines the level of performance that will be achieved based on a person's ability levels. Extending this perspective, results from Study 1 highlight perceptions of effort predict not only performance on a task but also predict one's willingness to engage in a physically effortful task such that greater perceived effort for engaging in an acute bout of MVPA will shift one's decisional balances making them less likely to choose to exercise when less-effortful alternatives are available. Further, results from Study 1 suggest mental fatigue leads to a lower capacity to exert physical effort which aligns with theorizing by Shenhav et al. (2017).

In addition to demonstrating the role of perceived effort on PA decisionmaking, Study 1 used qualitative methods to examine the conscious reasoning behind participants' subjective perceptions and choices to engage or not engage in MVPA and how their choice was affected by completion of cognitively demanding or nondemanding tasks. Much of the qualitative data mapped, conceptually, onto the hypothesized mediation pathways in Studies 1 and 3 showing increased feelings of fatigue and changes in motivation (i.e., benefits and costs) influenced choice. However, some of the qualitative insights provide perspective into alternative explanations explaining people's decision-making, which challenges the hypotheses of the studies within this dissertation. For example, following a high cognitively demanding task, some participants expressed having a "*desire to switch from mental to physical (task*)" as well

as "*increased alertness resulting from cognitive task*" as reasons justifying their choice to engage in a MVPA task. Interestingly, while the low cognitive demand task used in Study 1 has been shown to be affectively neutral (Zering et al., 2017), some participants mentioned "*increased feelings of fatigue/feeling tired*," "*aversive feelings towards the cognitive task*," and experiences of a "*deactivated state following the cognitive task*" as reasons why the low cognitive demand task led to their choice to not engage in exercise.

With these latter findings in mind, it is interesting to note that research has shown participants reported higher levels of fatigue after completing tasks designed to be cognitively boring compared to tasks requiring greater cognitive effort (Milyavskaya et al., 2019), which may help explain some of these contradictory findings. For instance, engaging in the documentary viewing task may have increased feelings of boredom in some participants, resulting in the negative changes in affect/activation mentioned in the qualitative responses. Although boredom was not measured in Study 1, it is possible that the low cognitive demand task may have increased feelings of boredom which is phenomenologically similar to feelings of fatigue (Milyavskaya et al., 2019) leading to the choice to not engage in MVPA. Future work using cognitive manipulations should be mindful of the different psychological or affective states caused by each task (i.e., fatigue, boredom, affect, etc...) and include measures to examine their potential influence on outcomes of interest such as physical performance and decision-making.

Studies 1 and 3 provide evidence supporting the utility of using cost/benefit calculations as an indirect measure of motivation (Chong et al., 2016) and measure of the subjective value of producing effort (Pessiglione, et al 2018). Results showed a positive

relation between benefit vs. cost valuations and physical activity decision-making in both laboratory and field settings such that higher benefit vs. cost valuations are associated with engaging in more minutes of MVPA and predict the choice to engage in a MVPA task versus a sedentary task. Importantly, the cost/benefit measure used in Studies 1 and 3 allowed participants to consider the perceived costs and benefits most salient to them rather than existing questionnaire measures developed to evaluate beliefs around specific factors associated with engaging in exercise (e.g., Exercise Benefits/Barriers Scale (EBBS); Sechrist, et al, 1987). For example, the EBBS contains nine items specific to physical performance benefits compared to three items related to family encouragement suggesting a disproportionate role of both factors on cost/benefit valuations. However, some people may weigh both factors similarly when considering PA decision-making which is not reflected by the EBBS. Assessing the perceived costs and benefits using an open-ended measure can account for individual differences in the subjective valuations associated with engaging in PA.

Drawing upon recommendations by Massar, et al (2018) to use insights from the field of effort-based decision-making to examine the influence of fatigue on motivation, Study 2 used an effort discounting paradigm to investigate the effects of two primary characteristics of PA: intensity and duration; on motivation to engage in PA and examine the effect of mental fatigue on PA motivation. While previous research has used effort discounting paradigms to investigate the role of cognitive fatigue on cognitively effortful decision-making (van As et al., 2021) and physical fatigue on physically effortful decision-making (Iodice et al., 2017), Study 2 is the first to examine the

crossover effects of mental fatigue on physically effortful decision-making using effort discounting.

Although the conceptual bases for the dissertation and most of the data were collected prior to publication of the theory of effort minimization in physical activity (TEMPA; Cheval & Boisgontier, 2021) evidence from all three studies provide support for the proposition that effort demands involved with engaging in PA is perceived as a cost which leads to effort minimization processes in favour of behaviors that are more cost-effective. Study 1 showed effort perceptions associated with engaging in a MVPA task was a strong predictor of MVPA and mediated the relation between mental fatigue and choice where higher effort perceptions led to a reduced likelihood of choosing to engage in MVPA. In addition, Study 2 demonstrated decreased willingness to engage in PA behaviors as a function of increased effort requirements defined as activities of higher intensities or longer durations. Taken together, results from these studies support the interpretation that effort is costly and people are less likely to engage in tasks with greater physical effort demands and more likely to choose to engage in alternate tasks with lower effort requirements as suggested by TEMPA.

#### **5.2 Practical Implications**

While current PA guidelines recommend engaging in at least 150 minutes of MVPA and two muscle-strengthening activities each week, several hours of light intensity physical activity including standing, and muscle strengthening activities at least twice a week (Ross et al., 2020), recent estimates suggest the majority of Canadian adults are not meeting these guidelines (Clarke et al., 2019). The findings from this dissertation

highlight many practical implications for contexts which involve decision-making related to physical activity and exercise behaviors and recommendations which aim to increase PA levels in adults.

Findings from this dissertation provide evidence suggesting mental fatigue is a barrier to engaging in PA in a young adult population which is consistent with previous cross-sectional data (Farah et al., 2021; Salmon et al., 2003). Based on findings demonstrating higher mental fatigue leads to decisions to avoid engaging in MVPA and is associated with engaging in fewer minutes of MVPA, people should be encouraged to engage in PA during times of the day when they are experiencing lower fatigue such as earlier in the day (Micklewright et al., 2017). Promoting PA earlier in the day and at times when people are experiencing lower levels of mental fatigue may increase the likelihood people will choose to engage in MVPA. However, there are many factors that may limit a person's ability to engage in PA earlier in the day such as school, work, or family commitments. Thus, strategies shown to attenuate the negative effects of mental fatigue on physical performance such as consuming caffeine (Azevedo et al., 2016), offering financial incentives (Brown & Bray, 2017), providing autonomy supportive instructions (Graham et al., 2014), and use of behavioral monitoring (Brown & Bray, 2019) should be investigated as potential mechanisms to overcome mental fatigue and encourage choices in favour of engaging in MVPA when experiencing high levels of mental fatigue.

Findings from Study 2 demonstrate physical activity enjoyment is a significant predictor of motivation for engaging in PA of different intensities and durations.

Specifically, participants with higher PA enjoyment reported higher motivation than those with lower PA enjoyment. While PA guidelines and exercise prescriptions provide recommendations on important parameters including the frequency, intensity, time, and type of exercise (i.e., FITT principle; Riebe et al., 2018), recent recommendations suggest including a measurement of fun or enjoyment in PA prescriptions which may be an important factor for the initiation and maintenance of PA (Burnet et al., 2019). In addition, people should be encouraged to engage in a wide variety of physical activities (e.g., competitive/recreational/leisure; weight bearing/non-weight bearing) in different environments (inside/outside; home/work/gym facility; alone/with people) and contexts (e.g., leisure/transportation/household) as performing new and challenging exercises could be one strategy to increase enjoyment and interest (Lakicevic et al., 2020). Consistent with findings from this dissertation suggesting people are more willing to engage in PA if they have higher enjoyment, personal trainers, strength and conditioning coaches, qualified exercise professionals, and other health professionals responsible for providing exercise prescriptions should present clients with a diverse range of PA options and consider their personal preferences and enjoyment levels in their recommendations.

Consistent with suggestions to consider fun and enjoyment in PA and exercise prescriptions, PA promotion should continue promoting lower-intensity PA and emphasize an "every minute counts" perspective for engaging in PA (Fan et al., 2013). A growing body of research has identified numerous health benefits of engaging in lightintensity PA (Chastin et al., 2019; Füzéki et al., 2017) demonstrating the importance of engaging in some versus no PA, even at lower intensity levels. Further, current 24-hour

movement guidelines highlight the benefits of engaging in several hours of light intensity PA such as standing and recommend trading in sedentary behavior with light-intensity PA (Ross et al., 2020). Findings from Study 2 provide additional support for encouraging people engage in PA of lower intensities as results show greater motivation for lightintensity PA than both moderate- and vigorous-intensity PA at each duration level. Importantly, there were no changes in one's willingness to engage in light-intensity PA with increased mental fatigue. Thus, engaging in lower-intensity PA may be a more realistic expectation than MVPA for people who are currently inactive of insufficiently active, or those experiencing higher levels of mental fatigue. Consequently, encouraging participation in light-intensity PA may increase PA participation and subsequent health benefits.

Based on findings demonstrating the utility of a cost/benefit ratio in predicting PA behavior, strategies which aim to increase perceived benefits and minimize perceived costs should be targeted to encourage decisions to engage in PA. One such strategy for increasing the immediate benefits associated with engaging in PA is the use of incentives. Previous research demonstrates positive effects of modest financial incentives on shortterm PA behavior in adults (Mitchell et al., 2013, 2020). Additionally, as financial incentives have been shown to mitigate the negative effects of mental fatigue on physical performance (Brown & Bray, 2019) there may be additional benefits of using incentives to encourage PA decision-making under conditions of mental fatigue. However, as there is limited evidence demonstrating the efficacy of longer-term incentive interventions (Mitchell et al., 2013), future work must continue to investigate the post-intervention

effects of incentive interventions and how to maintain PA behaviors once the incentive is no longer being provided.

Another strategy that may increase the salience of perceived benefits for cost/benefit valuations involves the use of message framing. Message framing is a technique used to present factually identical information by highlighting either the gains associated with partaking in a particular behavior or the losses associated with not partaking in the behavior (Tversky & Kahneman, 1981) and has been used for health behaviors including PA (Gallagher & Updegraff, 2012; Latimer et al., 2010). Previous research has shown gain frame messages may be more effective at increasing motivation than loss frame messages at higher levels of mental fatigue (Harris et al., 2022) suggesting gain frame messages may increase perceived benefits and be particularly useful for PA decision-making when experiencing mental fatigue.

Other strategies aiming to decrease the perceived effort/cost requirements involved with planning to engage in a bout of PA include engaging in action and coping planning (Michie et al., 2011) which have been shown to facilitate PA behavior (Carraro & Gaudreau, 2013). Evidence suggests making decisions may impair one's ability to make subsequent decisions and control future behavior through a phenomenon known as *decision fatigue* (Pignatiello et al., 2020). Thus, the effortful decision-making process involved with engaging in PA (e.g., what type of activity to engage in, where, when, for how long, etc...) may factor into one's cost valuations of engaging in PA and decrease the likelihood of choosing to exercise. Automating the process of engaging in PA by

developing action and coping plans may minimize cost perceptions involved with engaging in PA to increase the likelihood people will choose to exercise.

Finally, findings from this dissertation demonstrate people have a greater preference for engaging in PA of lower durations and people spent on average 16 minutes engaging in MVPA within a 3-hour time window in real-world settings. These results provide some support for prescribing exercise "snacks" which involve engaging in several shorter bouts of PA throughout the day rather than longer continuous bouts (Francois et al., 2014). Previous work has demonstrated positive health effects of a brief stair climbing exercise "snack" in overweight/obese adults (Rafiei et al., 2021) and modest increases in cardiorespiratory fitness in sedentary young adults over a 6-week intervention (Jenkins et al., 2019). Importantly, shorter bouts of PA may be easier to incorporate within one's day and require no specialized equipment. Thus, prescribing exercise "snacks" may be of use to encourage engagement in some PA within one's everyday life.

#### **5.3 Limitations and Future Directions**

While this dissertation addresses many gaps in the literature and extends current ways of thinking, there are several limitations which should be noted. First, participants from the current studies consisted of samples of young adults enrolled in a post-secondary institution in Southwestern Ontario. The homogeneity of study participants limits the generalizability of study findings to more diverse populations including children, middle-older adults, pregnant people, and people with chronic conditions. Along these lines, the limited demographic information collected makes it

unclear whether factors such as ethnicity, gender identity, gender expression, and disability status may uniquely affect PA decision-making. When considering physical activity in real-world contexts, different demographic groups may experience unique barriers which may influence their motivation to engage in PA such as lack of accessible equipment and programs for people with disabilities (Rimmer et al., 2004), inadequate changing rooms and showering facilities for transgender people (Jones et al., 2017) or perceived safety (Rees-Punia et al., 2018). Future work should collect more demographic data to increase generalizability and examine the effects of these barriers on motivation and decision-making.

Another important limitation from this dissertation is that the measure of perceived benefits and costs was developed specifically for these studies and lacks psychometric development and evaluations of reliability and validity. While benefit vs. cost valuations were calculated based on recommendations by Pessiglione et al. (2018), the evaluation of measurement instruments for reliability and validity is necessary to determine the consistency of a measure and the extent to which the measure accurately represents the variable they are intended to (Price et al., 2015). Future research should examine the psychometric properties of the cost/benefit measure in an adult population.

In this dissertation we examined perceived effort, costs, and benefits as potential mechanisms (mediators) to explain how mental fatigue affects physical activity decision-making. However, alternate models are also potentially viable and one possibility would be to examine the moderating effects of mental fatigue on the relation between effort, benefit vs. cost valuations, and decision-making. A moderator has been

defined as a "variable that affects the direction and/or strength of the relation between an independent or predictor variable and a dependent or criterion variable" (Baron &

Kenny, 1986, pp. 1174). Thus, an alternative perspective is that higher levels of mental fatigue may moderate the relations between perceived effort, subjective perceptions of costs and benefits, and decision-making. For example, mental fatigue may moderate the relation between perceived effort and benefit vs. cost valuations such that the association would be stronger at higher levels of mental fatigue due to amplified cost perceptions. Future work should examine the potential moderating effects of mental fatigue to explain the relation between variables shown to predict PA decision-making.

In addition to alternative theoretical perspectives that may account for people's PA decision making, there are alternate conceptualizations of perceived effort than the perspective applied in these studies, which warrant future investigation. Specifically, studies in this dissertation assume effort is aversive and costly (Kurzban, 2016) which is supported by quantitative and qualitative results from Study 1. However, in certain instances, effort can be experienced as valuable or rewarding (Inzlicht et al., 2018). Previous work has shown people assign greater value to self-made products that were completed with effort than comparable products requiring no effort to complete (Norton et al., 2011). Further, learned industriousness describes the process in which the sensation of effort is paired with a reinforcer, which over repeated exposures can lead to effort being a secondary reinforcer with its own rewarding properties (Eisenberger, 1992). Based on this theorizing, effort perceptions may increase perceived benefit valuations, leading to choices in favor of engaging in an effortful bout of PA. Future work should try

to capture and explain how the rewarding properties of effort and learned industriousness factor into decision-making for PA and exercise behaviors.

Building from the findings from Study 3 demonstrating real-time associations between psychological factors, decisional balances, and decision-making, an exciting area of future research is in the development and evaluation of real-time interventions to encourage decisions to engage in physical activity. "Just-in-time" adaptive interventions (JITAIs; Nahum-Shani et al., 2015; Spruijt-Metz & Nilsen, 2014) are a suite of digital interventions that are individually tailored to a person's current and unique context. By integrating real-time data capture techniques, JITAIs can address an individual's changing need for support to intervene in ways which encourage engagement of physical activity behaviors throughout the day. There are six elements of a JITAI: 1) the distal outcome, 2) the proximal outcomes, 3) decision points, 4) intervention options, 5) tailoring variables, and 6) decision rules (Müller et al., 2017; Nahum-Shani et al., 2015; Nahum-Shani et al., 2018). In this dissertation, the distal (i.e., MVPA) and proximal outcomes (i.e., perceived costs and benefits) have been examined, however, future research should work on operationalizing the other parameters of JITAIs aimed to increase PA in real-time.

#### **5.4 Conclusion**

This dissertation furthers current understanding of the associations between mental fatigue, motivation, and effort-based decision-making related to PA behavior using experimental, hypothetical, and real-world decision-making paradigms. Results from this dissertation demonstrate mental fatigue decreases motivation for engaging in

MVPA measured using cost/benefit evaluations (Studies 1 & 3) and vigorous-intensity PA measured using an effort discounting paradigm (Study 2). Further, changes to subjective valuations of perceived costs and benefits of engaging in MVPA in turn makes people less likely to engage in MVPA (Studies 1, 3). Quantitative results from Study 1 demonstrate the relation between mental fatigue and exercise choice is sequentially mediated by increased perceptions of anticipated effort and reductions in benefit vs. cost valuations. In addition, qualitative results from Study 1 demonstrate how completing high and low cognitively demanding tasks influences subsequent choice between engaging in an acute bout of MVPA versus a competing sedentary task. Study 2 found lower motivation for engaging in PA of longer durations and higher intensities. Finally, Study 3 is the first to demonstrate that mental fatigue experienced in everyday life may alter subjective valuations of benefits and costs, with both factors being associated with minutes of MVPA people choose to engage in. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that mental fatigue decreases people's motivation for engaging in physical activity and makes them less likely to choose to engage in exercise behaviors rather than competing sedentary alternatives.

#### References

- Abdel Hadi, S., Mojzisch, A., Parker, S. L., & Häusser, J. A. (2021). Experimental evidence for the effects of job demands and job control on physical activity after work. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied, 27,* 125–141. doi.org/10.1037/xap0000333
- Azevedo, R., Silva-Cavalcante, M. D., Gualano, B., Lima-Silva, A. E., & Bertuzzi, R.
   (2016). Effects of caffeine ingestion on endurance performance in mentally
   fatigued individuals. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *116*, 2293–2303.
   <u>doi.org/10.1007/s00421-016-3483-y</u>
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*, 1173–1182. <u>doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173</u>
- Brown, D. M., & Bray, S. R. (2017). Effects of mental fatigue on physical endurance performance and muscle activation are attenuated by monetary incentives. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 39, 385–396. doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2017-0187
- Brown, D. M., & Bray, S. R. (2019). Heartrate biofeedback attenuates effects of mental fatigue on exercise performance. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, 41, 70–79. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.12.001</u>
- Brown, D. M. Y., Graham, J. D., Innes, K. I., Harris, S., Flemington, A., & Bray, S. R. (2020). Effects of prior cognitive exertion on physical performance: A

systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, *50*, 497–529. doi.org/10.1007/s40279-019-01204-8

Burnet, K., Kelsch, E., Zieff, G., Moore, J. B., & Stoner, L. (2019). How fitting is
F.I.T.T.?: A perspective on a transition from the sole use of frequency, intensity,
time, and type in exercise prescription. *Physiology & Behavior, 199,* 33–34.
<u>doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.11.007</u>

- Carraro, N., & Gaudreau, P. (2013). Spontaneous and experimentally induced action planning and coping planning for physical activity: A meta-analysis. *Psychology* of Sport & Exercise, 14, 228–248. doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.10.004
- Chastin, S. F. M., De Craemer, M., De Cocker, K., Powell, L., Van Cauwenberg, J. V., Dall, P., ... & Stamatakis, E. (2019). How does light-intensity physical activity associate with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53, 370–376. <u>doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097563</u>
- Cheval, B., & Boisgontier, M. P. (2021). The theory of effort minimization in physical activity. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 49, 168–178. doi.org/10.1249/JES.00000000000252
- Chong, T. J., Bonnelle, V., & Husain, M. (2016). Quantifying motivation with effortbased decision-making paradigms in health and disease. In Progress in brain research (Vol. 229, pp. 71–100). Elsevier.

Clarke, J., Colley, R., Janssen, I., & Tremblay, M.S. (2019). Accelerometer-measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity of Canadian adults, 2007 to 2017. *Health Reports*, 30, 3–10. <u>doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x201900800001-eng</u>

Eisenberger, R. (1992). Learned industriousness. *Psychological Review*, 99, 248–267. doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.99.2.248

Fan, J. X., Brown, B. B., Hanson, H., Kowaleski-Jones, L., Smith, K. R., & Zick, C. D. (2013). Moderate to vigorous physical activity and weight outcomes: Does every minute count?. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28, 41–49. doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.120606-QUAL-286

Farah, B. Q., do Prado, W. L., Malik, N., Lofrano-Prado, M. C., de Melo, P. H., Botero, J. P., ... & Ritti-Dias, R. M. (2021). Barriers to physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic in adults: A cross-sectional study. *Sport Sciences for Health*, *17*, 441–447. doi.org/10.1007/s11332-020-00724-5

Francois, M. E., Baldi, J. C., Manning, P. J., Lucas, S. J. E., Hawley, J. A., Williams, M. J. A., & Cotter, J. D. (2014). 'Exercise snacks' before meals: a novel strategy to improve glycaemic control in individuals with insulin resistance. *Diabetologia*, 57, 1437–1445. doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3244-6

Füzéki, E., Engeroff, T., & Banzer, W. (2017). Health benefits of light-intensity physical activity: A systematic review of accelerometer data of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). *Sports Medicine*, 47, 1769–1793. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0724-0</u>

- Gallagher, K. M., & Updegraff, J. A. (2012). Health message framing effects on attitudes, intentions, and behavior: A meta-analytic review. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 43, 101–116. doi.org/10.1007/s12160-011-9308-7
- Graham, J. D., Bray, S. R., & Ginis, K. A. M. (2014). "Pay the piper": It helps initially, but motivation takes a toll on self-control. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 15, 89–96. doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.09.007
- Harris, S., Mardlin, J., & Bray, S. R. (2022). Effects of mental fatigue and message framing on physical activity effort discounting. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 44*, S83.
- Inzlicht, M., Shenhav, A., & Olivola, C. Y. (2018). The effort paradox: Effort is both costly and valued. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 22, 337–349. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.01.007</u>
- Iodice, P., Calluso, C., Barca, L., Bertollo, M., Ripari, P., & Pezzulo, G. (2017). Fatigue increases the perception of future effort during decision making. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 33, 150–160. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.08.013</u>
- Jenkins, E. M., Nairn, L. N., Skelly, L. E., Little, J. P., & Gibala, M. J. (2019). Do stair climbing exercise "snacks" improve cardiorespiratory fitness? *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 44*, 681–684. <u>doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0675</u>
- Jones, B. A., Arcelus, J., Bouman, W. P., & Haycraft, E. (2017). Barriers and facilitators of physical activity and sport participation among young transgender adults who

are medically transitioning. *International Journal of Transgenderism, 18,* 227–238. doi.org/10.1080/15532739.2017.1293581

Kurzban, R. (2016). The sense of effort. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 7, 67–70. doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.08.003

Lakicevic, N., Gentile, A., Mehrabi, S., Cassar, S., Parker, K., Roberto, R., ... & Drid, P. (2020). Make fitness fun: Could novelty be the key determinant for physical activity adherence? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 577522. doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577522

- Latimer, A. E., Brawley, L. R., & Bassett, R. L. (2010). A systematic review of three approaches for constructing physical activity messages: what messages work and what improvements are needed?. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *7*, 1–17. <u>doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-36</u>
- Marcora, S. M., Staiano, W., & Manning, V. (2009). Mental fatigue impairs physical performance in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 106, 857–864. <u>doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.91324.2008</u>
- Massar, S. A. A., Csathó, Á., & Van der Linden, D. (2018). Quantifying the motivational effects of cognitive fatigue through effort-based decision-making. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 843. doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00843
- Michie, S., Ashford, S., Sniehotta, F. F., Dombrowski, S. U. Bishop, A. & French, D. P. (2011). A refined taxonomy of behaviour change techniques to help people change their physical activity and healthy eating behaviours: The CALO-RE

taxonomy. Psychology and Health, 26, 1479–1498.

doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2010.540664

- Micklewright, D., St Clair Gibson, A., Gladwell, V., & Al Salman. (2017). Development and validity of the rating-of-fatigue scale. *Sports Medicine*, 47, 2375–2392. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0711-5</u>
- Milyavskaya, M., Inzlicht, M. Johnson, T., & Larson, M. J. (2019). Reward sensitivity following boredom and cognitive effort: A high-powered neurophysiological investigation. *Neuropsychologia*, *123*, 159–168. doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.03.033
- Mitchell, M. S., Goodman, J. M., Alter, D. A., John, L. J., Oh, P. I., Pakosh, M. T., & Faulkner, G. E. (2013). Financial incentives for exercise adherence in adults:
  Systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 45, 658–667. doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.06.017
- Mitchell, M. S., Orstad, S. L., Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Jay, M., Pakosh, M. T., & Faulkner, G. E. (2020). Financial incentives for physical activity in adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54, 1259–1268. <u>doi.org/10.1136/ bjsports-2019-100633</u>
- Müller, A. M., Blandford, A., & Yardley, L. (2017). The conceptualization of a just-intime adaptive intervention (JITAI) for the reduction of sedentary behavior in older adults. *mHealth, 3*, 1–12. //doi.org/10.21037/mhealth.2017.08.05
- Nahum-Shani, I., Hekler, E. B., & Spruijt-Metz, D. (2015). Building health behavior models to guide the development of just-in-time adaptive interventions: A

pragmatic framework. Health Psychology, 34, 1209–1219.

doi.org/10.1037/hea0000306

- Nahum-Shani, I., Smith, S. N., Spring, B. J., Collins, L. M., Witkiewitz, K., Tewari, A., & Murphy, S. A. (2018). Just-in-time adaptive interventions (JITAIs) in mobile health: Key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *52*, 446–462. doi.org/10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8
- Norton, M. I., Mochon, D., & Ariely, D. (2012). The IKEA effect: When labor leads to love. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 22, 453–460. doi.org/10.1016/j.jcps.2011.08.002
- Pessiglione, M., Vinckier, F., Bouret, S., Daunizeau, J., & Le Bouc, R. (2018). Why not try harder? Computational approach to motivation deficits in neuro-psychiatric diseases. *Brain*, 141, 629–650. <u>doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx278</u>
- Pignatiello, G. A., Martin, R. J., & Hickman Jr, R. L. (2020). Decision fatigue: A conceptual analysis. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 25, 123–135. <u>doi.org/10.1177/1359105318763510</u>
- Price, P. C., Jhangiani, R. S., & Chiang, I. C. A. (2015). Reliability and validity of measurement. In (Eds), *Research Methods in Psychology* Victoria, British Columbia, Canada: B.C. Open Textbook Project. Available at: <u>https://opentextbc.ca/researchmethods/chapter/reliability-and-validity-ofmeasurement/</u>

 Rafiei, H., Omidian, K., Myette-Côté, É, & Little, J. P. (2021). Metabolic effect of breaking up prolonged sitting with stair climbing exercise snacks. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 53*, 150–158. doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000002431

Rees-Punia, R., Hathaway, E. D., & Gay, J. L. (2018). Crime, perceived safety, and physical activity: A meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, 111, 307–313. doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.11.017

- Riebe, D., Ehrman, J.K., Liguori, G., & Magal, M. (Eds.). (2018). ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription (10<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer.
- Rimmer, J. H., Riley, B., Wang, E., Rauworth, A., & Jurkowski, J. (2004). Physical activity participation among persons with disabilities: Barriers and facilitators. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 26*, 419–425.

doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2004.02.002

- Ross, R., Chaput, J.P., Giangregorio, L.M., Janssen, I., Saunders, T. J., Kho, M.E., ..., & Tremblay, M.S. (2020). Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years or older: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*, S57–S102. <u>doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0467</u>.
- Salmon, J., Owen, N., Crawford, D., Bauman, A., & Sallis, J. F. (2003). Physical activity and sedentary behavior: A population-based study of barriers, enjoyment, and preference. *Health Psychology*, 22, 178–188. <u>doi.org/10.1037/0278-</u> <u>6133.22.2.178</u>

Sechrist, K. R., Walker, S. N., & Pender, N. J. (1987). Development and psychometric evaluation of the exercise benefits/barriers scale. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 10, 357–365. <u>doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770100603</u>

Shenhav, A., Musslick, S., Lieder, F., Kool, W., Griffiths, T. L., Cohen, J. D., et al. (2017). Toward a rational and mechanistic account of mental effort. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 40, 99–124. <u>doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031526</u>

- Smith, M. R., Marcora, S. M., & Coutts, A. J. (2015). Mental fatigue impairs intermittent running performance. *Medicine & science in Sports & Exercise*, 47, 1682–1690. doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000592
- Spruijt-Metz, D., & Nilsen, W. (2014). Dynamic models of behavior for just-in-time adaptive interventions. *Pervasive Computing*, 13, 13–17.

doi.org/10.1109/MPRV.2014.46

- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1981). The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. *Science*, *211*, 453–458. doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-2391-4\_2
- van As, S., Beckers, D. G. J., Geurts, S. A. E., Michiel, A. Kompier, J., Husain, M., & Veling, H. (2021). The impact of cognitive and physical effort exertion on physical effort decisions: A pilot experiment. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 645037. <u>doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.645037</u>
- van As, S., Veling, H., Beckers, D. G. J., Earle, F., McMaster, S., Kompier, M. A. J., & Geurts, S. A. E. (2022). The impact of cognitive work demands on subsequent

physical activity behavior. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*. Advanced online publication. <u>doi.org/10.1037/xap0000390</u>

Zering, J. C., Brown, D. M., Graham, J. D., & Bray, S. R. (2017). Cognitive control exertion leads to reductions in peak power output and as well as increased perceived exertion on a graded exercise test to exhaustion. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 35, 1799–1807. doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2016.1237777

#### **APPENDIX A: STUDY 1 MATERIALS**

A.1 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire

A.2 Ratings of Perceived Exertion

A.3 Ratings of Perceived Mental Exertion

A.4 Subjective Mental Fatigue Visual Analogue Scale

A.5 Perceived Effort Visual Analogue Scale

A.6 Subjective Evaluation of Exercise

A.7 International Physical Activity Questionnaire

A.8 Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale

#### A.1 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire

- 1. Do you have a medical condition that requires you to avoid strenuous exercise?
- 2. Has your doctor ever said that you have a heart condition <u>and</u> that you should only do physical activity recommended by a doctor?
- 3. Do you feel pain in your chest when you do physical activity?
- 4. In the past month, have you had chest pain when you were not doing physical activity?
- 5. Do you lose balance because of dizziness or do you lose consciousness?
- 6. Do you have a bone or joint problem (for example, back, knee or hip) that could be made worse by a change in your physical activity?
- 7. Is your doctor currently prescribing drugs (for example, water pills) for your blood pressure or heart condition?
- 8. Do you know of any other reason why you should not do physical activity?
- 9. Are you colour blind?

# A.2 Ratings of Perceived Exertion

Please report how much effort you exerted during the task.

	0	Nothing at all
	0.3	
	0.5	Extremely weak
	1	Very weak
	1.5	
	2	Weak
	2.5	
	3	Moderate
	4	
	5	Strong
	6	
	7	Very Strong
	8	
	9	
10	A۱	osolute Maximum

# A.3 Ratings of Perceived Mental Exertion

# Please report how much **mental effort** you exerted during the task.

	0	Nothing at all
	0.3	
	0.5	Extremely weak
	1	Very weak
	1.5	
	2	Weak
	2.5	
	3	Moderate
	4	
	5	Strong
	6	
	7	Very Strong
	8	
	9	
•	A 1	1

# 10 Absolute Maximum

### A.4 Subjective Mental Fatigue Visual Analogue Scale

Please mark (X) on the line the point that you feel represents your perception of your current state of **MENTAL FATIGUE**.

None at all 0 \_\_\_\_\_ 100 Maximal

#### A.5 Perceived Effort Visual Analogue Scale

#### Effort Scale

Effort can be thought of as the "*subjective intensification of either mental or physical activity in the service of meeting some goal.*" Effort is related to, but different from, task demand or task difficulty. We want you to think about effort as representing how hard you will have to work throughout the task.

In thinking about the <u>exercise task</u>, please mark on the 0-100 line, how much effort you feel it would take for you to complete the task.

No effort at all	0	100	Maximal effort

## A.6 Subjective Evaluation of Exercise

Please answer each of the following items as they apply to you by circling the number that best represents your <u>opinions at this moment</u>. Please be honest, there is no right or wrong answer.

1. For t	he <u>exer</u>	<u>cise</u> optio	n, there a	are:					
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
no									many
advanta	ages							а	dvantages
2. For t	he <u>exer</u>	<u>cise</u> optio	n, there a	are:					
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
no									many
disadva	antages							disa	dvantages

## A.7 International Physical Activity Questionnaire

How active are you usually? Please consider your usual activity level during a typical 7 day period in the past 6 months and answer the following about moderate and vigorous activity participation.

MODERATE Physical Activity Definition Moderate physical activity or exercise includes activities such as brisk walking swimming, dancing, biking, gardening, and yardwork. You should be able to c conversation when doing moderate activities. Please consider a TYPICAL we and answer the following questions about moderate activities.	, light earry on a ek for you
1. How many days per week are you moderately physically active or do you exercise moderately?	days per week
2. Approximately how many minutes are you moderately physically active or do you exercise moderately each day?	minutes per day
VIGOROUS Physical Activity Definition: Vigorous physical activity or exercise includes hard activities such as jogging, swimming, and fast biking. You may have a hard time carrying on a conversat doing vigorous activities. Please consider a TYPICAL week for you and answe following questions about vigorous activities.	aerobics, ion when er the

1. How many days per week are you vigorously active or do you exercise	
vigorously?	days per week
2. Approximately how many minutes are you vigorously active or do you	
exercise vigorously each day?	minutes per day

# A.8 Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale

# Please rate how you feel *while* engaging in your preferred type of physical activity.

*1 I enjoy it	2	3	4	5	6	7 I hate it
1 I feel bored	2	3	4	5	6	7 I feel interested
1 I dislike it	2	3	4	5	6	7 I like it
*1 I find it pleas	2 surable	3	4	5	6 unj	7 I find it bleasurable
*1 I am very ab this activity activity	2 sorbed in	3	4	5	6 I ar absor	7 n not at all bed in this
1 It's no fun at	2 t all	3	4	5	6 It's	7 a lot of fun
*1 I find it ener	2 gizing	3	4	5	6 I f	7 ind it tiring
1 It makes me	2 depressed	3	4	5	6 It makes	7 5 me happy
*1 It's very plea	2 asant	3	4	5	6 It's very	7 unpleasant
*1 I feel good p while doing	2 hysically it	3	4	5	6 I feel bad wh	7 physically ile doing it
*1 It's very invi	2 igorating	3	4	5	6 It ii	7 's not at all ivigorating

2 I am very frustrated by it	3	4	5	6	7 I am not at all frustrated by it
*1 2 It's very gratifying	3	4	5	6 It's not a	7 t all gratifying
*1 2 It's very exhilarating	3	4	5	6	7 It's not at all exhilarating
1 2 It's not at all stimulating	3	4	5	6 It's ve	7 ery stimulating
*1 2 It gives me a strong sense of accomplishment at all	3	4	5	6 It do ac	7 bes not give me any sense of ecomplishment
*1 2 It's very refreshing	3	4	5	6 It's not a	7 t all refreshing
1 2 I felt as though I wou rather be doing something else	3 ld	4	5	6 I felt a wa: would r	7 s though there s nothing else I rather be doing

\*Item is reversed scored (i.e., 1=7, 2=6, ... 6=2, 7=1).

#### **APPENDIX B: STUDY 2 MATERIALS**

- B.1 Ratings of Perceived Exertion
- B.2 Subjective Mental Fatigue
- B.3 International Physical Activity Questionnaire
- B.4 Daily Physical Activity Questionnaire
- B.5 Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale

## **B.1. Ratings of Perceived Exertion**

Please report how much effort you exerted during the task.

	0	Nothing at all
	0.3	
	0.5	Extremely weak
	1	Very weak
	1.5	
	2	Weak
	2.5	
	3	Moderate
	4	
	5	Strong
	6	
	7	Very Strong
	8	
	9	
10	Ał	osolute Maximum

### **B.2 Subjective Mental Fatigue**

On a scale of 0 (*energetic/no fatigue*) to 10 (*worst possible fatigue*), please indicate the point that you feel represents your perception of your current state of <u>mental fatigue</u>.

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
energetic	/	mild			moderate			seve	re	worst
no fatigue	e	fatigue			fatigue			fatig	ıe	possible
										fatigue
# **B.3 International Physical Activity Questionnaire**

How active are you usually? Please consider your usual activity level during a typical 7 day period in the past 6 months and answer the following about moderate and vigorous activity participation.

MODERATE Physical Activity Definition	
Moderate physical activity or exercise includes activities such as brisk walking	ng, light
swimming, dancing, biking, gardening, and vardwork. You should be able to	carry on a
conversation when doing moderate activities. Please consider a TYPICAL w	veek for you
and answer the following questions about moderate activities.	,
1. How many days per week are you moderately physically active or do	
you exercise moderately?	days per week
2. Approximately how many minutes are you moderately physically	
active or do you exercise moderately each day?	minutes per day
VIGOROUS Physical Activity Definition: Vigorous physical activity or exercise includes hard activities such as jogging swimming, and fast biking. You may have a hard time carrying on a convers doing vigorous activities. Please consider a TYPICAL week for you and ans following questions about vigorous activities.	g, aerobics, ation when wer the
1. How mony days non weak are you vice nously estive on de you evenerate	
1. How many days per week are you vigorously active or do you exercise	days por wook
vigorously?	uays per week
2. Approximately how many minutes are you vigorously active or do you	
avancies visconously each day?	minutes per day
exercise vigorously each day?	

### **B.4 Daily Physical Activity Questionnaire**

Please think about any physical activity that you have done today that was planned and purposeful.

Moderate physical activity or exercise includes activities such as brisk walking, light swimming, dancing, biking, gardening, and yardwork. You should be able to carry on a conversation when doing moderate activities.

Approximately how many minutes of planned and purposeful moderate physical activity have you engaged in today? \_\_\_\_\_ minutes

Vigorous physical activity or exercise includes hard activities such as jogging, aerobics, swimming, and fast biking. You may have a hard time carrying on a conversation when doing vigorous activities.

Approximately how many minutes of planned and purposeful vigorous	
physical activity have you engaged in today?	<u> </u>

# **B.5** Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale

# Please rate how you feel *while* engaging in your preferred type of physical activity.

*1 I enjoy it	2	3	4	5	6	7 I hate it
1 I feel bored	2	3	4	5	6	7 I feel interested
1 I dislike it	2	3	4	5	6	7 I like it
*1 I find it pleas	2 surable	3	4	5	6 unj	7 I find it pleasurable
*1 I am very ab this activity activity	2 sorbed in	3	4	5	6 I ar abso	7 m not at all rbed in this
1 It's no fun at	2 t all	3	4	5	6 It's	7 a lot of fun
*1 I find it ener	2 gizing	3	4	5	6 I f	7 ind it tiring
1 It makes me	2 depressed	3	4	5	6 It makes	7 s me happy
*1 It's very plea	2 asant	3	4	5	6 It's very	7 unpleasant
*1 I feel good p while doing	2 hysically it	3	4	5	6 I feel bad wh	7 physically ile doing it
*1 It's very invi	2 igorating	3	4	5	6 It ii	7 's not at all nvigorating

1 I am very frus by it	2 strated	3	4	5	6	7 I am not at all frustrated by it
*1 It's very grati	2 fying	3	4	5	6 It's not a	7 t all gratifying
*1 It's very exhi	2 larating	3	4	5	6	7 It's not at all exhilarating
l It's not at all stimulating	2	3	4	5	6 It's ve	7 ery stimulating
*1 It gives me a sense of accomplishm at all	2 strong ent	3	4	5	6 It do ac	7 bes not give me any sense of complishment
*1 It's very refre	2 eshing	3	4	5	6 It's not a	7 t all refreshing
1 I felt as thoug rather be doir something els	2 ch I would ng se	3	4	5	6 I felt a was would r	7 s though there s nothing else I rather be doing

\*Item is reversed scored (i.e., 1=7, 2=6, ... 6=2, 7=1).

## **APPENDIX C: STUDY 3 MATERIALS**

- C.1 International Physical Activity Questionnaire
- C.2 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire
- C.3 Subjective Mental Fatigue
- C.4 Subjective Evaluation of Exercise

### C.1 International Physical Activity Questionnaire

How active are you usually? Please consider your usual activity level during a typical 7 day period in the past 6 months and answer the following about moderate and vigorous activity participation.

M	OD	ER	AT]	E P	hy	sical	l Activity	Def	ini	tio	n	
3.6	1		1	•	1	· •	• ,	•	•	1	1	,• •,•

Moderate physical activity or exercise includes activities such as brisk walking, light swimming, dancing, biking, gardening, and yardwork. You should be able to carry on a conversation when doing moderate activities. Please consider a TYPICAL week for you and answer the following questions about moderate activities.

1. How many days per week are you moderately physically active or do

you exercise moderately?

2. Approximately how many minutes are you moderately physically

active or do you exercise moderately each day?

VIGOROUS Physical Activity Definition:

Vigorous physical activity or exercise includes hard activities such as jogging, aerobics, swimming, and fast biking. You may have a hard time carrying on a conversation when doing vigorous activities. Please consider a TYPICAL week for you and answer the following questions about vigorous activities.

vigorously?

2. Approximately how many minutes are you vigorously active or do you

exercise vigorously each day?

minutes per day

days per week

\_\_\_ days per week

minutes per day

### C.2 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire

- 1. Do you have a medical condition that requires you to avoid strenuous exercise?
- 2. Has your doctor ever said that you have a heart condition <u>and</u> that you should only do physical activity recommended by a doctor?
- 3. Do you feel pain in your chest when you do physical activity?
- 4. In the past month, have you had chest pain when you were not doing physical activity?
- 5. Do you lose balance because of dizziness or do you lose consciousness?
- 6. Do you have a bone or joint problem (for example, back, knee or hip) that could be made worse by a change in your physical activity?
- 7. Is your doctor currently prescribing drugs (for example, water pills) for your blood pressure or heart condition?
- 8. Do you know of any other reason why you should not do physical activity?

## C.3 Subjective Mental Fatigue

*Please use the sliding scale to indicate what you feel represents your perception of your current state of MENTAL FATIGUE* 

None at all 0 \_\_\_\_\_ 100 Maximal

## C.4 Subjective Evaluation of Exercise

Please answer each of the following items as they apply to you by circling the number that best represents your opinions at this moment. Please be honest, there is no right or wrong answer.

1. In general, I think that exercising for 10+ minutes sometime within the next few hours has:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
no									many
advantag	ges							6	advantages

2. In general, I think that exercising for 10+ minutes sometime within the next few hours has:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
no									many
disadvar	ntages							disa	dvantages

## **APPENDIX D: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS**

D.1. Permission from Elsevier Ltd (Chapter 2)

D.2 Permission from Human Kinetics (Chapter 3)

### Appendix D.1. Permission from Elsevier Ltd (Chapter 2)

### **RIGHTS & ACCESS**

Corresponding author: E-mail address: Journal: Journal: Our reference PII: DOI:

Elsevier Ltd Effects of mental fatigue on exercise decision-making Mas Shearean Harris Parrist&Bomcmaster.cs Psychology of Sport & Exercise PSYSP01515 51469-0292(18)30712-X 10.1016/j.psychsport.2019.04.005

YOUR STATUS

I am one author signing on behalf of all co-authors of the manuscript

### ASSIGNMENT OF COPYRIGHT

I hereby assign to Elsevier Ltd the copyright in the manuscript identified above (where Crown Copyright is asserted, authors agree to grant an exclusive publishing and distribution licence) and any tables, illustrations or other material submitted for publication as part of the manuscript (the "Article"). This assignment of rights masses that I have granted to Elsevier Ltd. the exclusive right to publish and reproduce the Article, or any part of the Article, in print, electronic and all other media (whether now innown of later developed), in any form, in all inguispes, throughout the world, for the huit Error of copyright, and the right to licence others to do the same, effective when the Article is accepted for publication. This includes the right to enforce the rights granted hereunder against third parties.

#### SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

"Supplemental Materials" shall mean materials published as a supplemental part of the Article, including but not limited to graphical, Illustrative, video and audio material.

With respect to any Supplemental Materials that I submit, Elsevier Ltd shall have a perpetual worldwide, non-exclusive right and license to publish, extract, reformat, adapt, build upon, index, redistribute, link to and otherwise use all or any part of the Supplemental Naterials in all forms and media (whether now known or later developed), and to permit others to do so.

### RESEARCH DATA

\*Research Data\* shall mean the result of observations or experimentation that validate research findings and that are publish separate to the Article, which can include but are not limited to raw data, processed data, software, algorithms, protocols, an methods.

With respect to any Research Data that I wish to make accessible on a site or through a service of Elsevier Ltd, Elsevier Ltd, shall have a perpetual worldwide, non-exclusive right and license to publish, extract, reformat, adapt, build upon, index, redistribute, link to and otherwise use all or any part of the Research Data in all forms and media (whether now known or later developed) and to permit other to do so. Where I have selected a specific end user license under which the Research Data is to be made available on a site or through a service, the publisher shall apply that end user license to the Research Data on that site or service.

#### **REVERSION OF RIGHTS**

Articles may sometimes be accepted for publication but later rejected in the publication process, even in some cases after public posting in "Articles in Press" form, in which case all rights will revert to the author (see <a href="https://www.elsevier.com/about/our-busicessites/com/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/about/

#### REVISIONS AND ADDENDA

I understand that no revisions, additional terms or addenda to this Journal Publishing Agreement can be accepted without Elsevier Ltd's express written consert. I understand that this Journal Hublishing Agreement supersedes any previous agreements I have entered into with Elsevier Ltd in relation to the Article from the date hereof.

### AUTHOR RIGHTS FOR SCHOLARLY PURPOSES

I understand that I retain or am hereby granted (without the need to obtain further permission) the Author Rights (see description below), and that no rights in patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights are transferred to Elsevier Ltd.

The Author Rights include the right to use the <u>Presents</u>, <u>Accepted Heauscrist</u> and the <u>Eublished Journal Acticle</u> for <u>Personal</u> <u>Use and Internal Institutional Use</u>. They also include the right to use these different versions of the Article for <u>Scholarly Sharino</u> purposes, which include sharing:

the Preprint on any website or repository at any time; the Accepted Manuscript on certain websites and usually after an embargo period;

the Published Journal Article only privately on certain websites, unless otherwise agreed by Elsevier Ltd.

In the case of the Accepted Manuscript and the Published Journal Article the Author Rights exclude Commercial Use (unless expressly agreed in writing by Elsevier Ltd), other than use by the author in a subsequent compliation of the author's works or to extend the Article to book length form or re-use by the author of portions or excerpts in other works (with full acknowledgment of the original publication of the Article).

#### AUTHOR REPRESENTATIONS / ETHICS AND DISCLOSURE / SANCTIONS

I affirm the Auther Representations noted below, and confirm that I have reviewed and complied with the relevant Instructions to Authors, Ethics in Publishing policy, Declarations of Interest disclosure and Information for authors from countries afflicted by sanctions (Iran, Cuba, Sudan, Burma, Syria, or Chima). Please note that some journais may require that all co-authors from countries afflicted by sanctions (Iran, Cuba, Sudan, Burma, Syria, or Chima). Please note that some journais may require that all co-authors sign and submit Declarations of Interest disclosure forms. I am also aware of the publisher's policies with respect to retractions and withdrawal (Intes://www.slasvier.com/about/sur-business/notices/intick-withdicwal). For further information see the publishing entities page at https://www.slasvier.com/about/our-business/policies/nublishing-etbics and the journal home page. For further information on sanctions, see https://www.slasvier.com/about/our-business/policies/trade-sanctions

or representations The Article I have submitted to the journal for review is original, has been written by the stated authors and has not been previously published. The Article was not submitted for review to another journal while under review by bits journal and will not be submitted to any other journal. The Article and the Supplemental Naterials do not infringe any copyright, violate any other intellectual property, privacy or other rights of any person or entity, or contain any lit where the any other rights of any person or entity, or contain any lit

The Article and the Suppermental Planemas on the terms of the term of the Article or the Supplementation of the Article or the Article or the Supplementation of the Article or the Arti

If I and/or any of my co-subtrop reside in Tran, Cuba, Sudan, Burma, Syria, or Crimea, the Article has been prepared in a personal, academic or research capacity and not as an or otherwise on behalf of the relaxant government or institution. If I am using any personal details or images of patients, research subjects or other individuals, I have obtained all consents required by applicable law and complete with the purrelating to the use of such images or personal information. Any software contained in the Supplemental Materials is free from viruses, contaminants or worms.

If the Article or any of the Supplemental Materials were prepared jointly with other authors, I have informed the co-author(s) of the terms of this Journal Publishing Agreement on their behalf as their agent, and I am authorized to do so.

#### GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the country or state of Elsevier Ltd ("the Gov State"), without regard to conflict of law principles, and the parties irrevocably consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the cour Governing State.

For information on the publisher's copyright and access policies, please see http://www.elsevier.com/copyright. For more information about the definitions relating to this agreement click here.

I have read and agree to the terms of the Journal Publishing Agree

13th April 2019

T-copyright-v22/2017

### **Appendix D.2 Permission from Human Kinetics (Chapter 3)**

# Transfer of Copyright: Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology

Human Kinetics, Inc., P.O. Box 5076, Champaign, IL 61825-5076.

### To be completed by the Corresponding Author

Author names (in order of authorship): Sheereen Harris, Paul Stratford, Steven R. Bray

Is it really worth the allos? Examining the allosts of mental tailgue on ghypical activity allost discounting. Manuscript Title:

Manuscript Number:

[To be completed by the editorial office]

Copyright is hereby transferred to Human Kinetics effective if and when the article is accepted for publication in the Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology; if the manuscript is not accepted, the copyright reverts to the author(s). This transfer of copyright gives Human Kinetics the exclusive right to place the article in various electronic forms in addition to any printed journal. Those forms include, but are not limited to, publication in the journal's "in press" and final online versions on the journal's Web site and in various online databases.

These rights encompass the article in its entirety, including original tables, figures, and any supplementary material that may be part of the final published article. For authors who are employees of the U.S. Government, the transfer of copyright is understood to be effective only to the extent that such copyright is transferable.

The authors explicitly reserve the following rights:

- All proprietary rights other than copyright, such as patent rights.
- The right to use all or part of this article in future works of their own, such as dissertations, lectures, reviews, or textbooks.
- The right to make copies for their own teaching use.
- The right to use original figures and tables in future publications, provided explicit acknowledgment is made of their initial
  appearance in this journal.
- The right to post an electronic version of the final manuscript, as accepted for publication, on the authors' own Web site or Web site(s) or other electronic repositories controlled by the authors' institution, provided that the electronic version is in PDF or other image-capturing format. The posted version must contain the words "As accepted for publication in *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, ©Human Kinetics" and include the DOI link to the article or, if no DOI is available, a URL link to the article's abstract page.

Through signature below, the undersigned author (a) signifies acceptance of the terms and conditions listed above; (b) affirms that written permission has been obtained for all previously published and/or copyrighted material contained in this manuscript and any supplemental materials for print and online publication, as well as any other requisite permissions or releases, and that all such material has been clearly identified in the manuscript; (c) affirms that the manuscript is an original work of authorship that has not has not been previously published, does not infringe any third party's intellectual property rights, and does not contain any material that is defamatory or libelous; and (d) affirms that he/she is authorized to sign this form on behalf of all authors. (In the case of a work made for hire, the below may be signed by the employer.)

Ahuran Karrie	December 15th
Signature	Date

### FOR U.S. GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES ONLY:

In lieu of the author signature above, author(s) whose work was performed within the scope of their employment with the U.S. Government must provide the signature of an authorized representative, certifying that the work is in the public domain. (If the work was performed under Government contract but the author is not a Government employee, no signature is required in this section.)

I certify that the majority of the authors or the primary authors of the manuscript cited above are employees of the U.S. Government and performed this work as part of their employment and that the paper is therefore not subject to U.S. copyright protection.

Signa	ture	and	Titl	e
100 100 100	~ *** **	*******		۲

Date